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. . . although I am most anxious that the views of the people of Broaduiew 
should be met, stillfiom my position as Indian Agent I am bound in the inter- 
ests of the Indians to point out the dz$culties in the way, which are tersely 
these. If these lands are surrendered by the Indians, no reasonable monq value 
can recompense them, as their Hay lands would be completely gone, and this 
would necessitate nohrther increase of stock, which would of course be fatal 
to their further quick advancement, and would be deploable. . . . 

- Indian Agent Alan McDonald, March 1 0 ,  1 8 9 1  
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PART I 

INTRODUCTION 

On August 20, 1881, the Government of Canada completed the survey of 
Indian Reserves 72 and 72A for the Kahkewistahaw Band1 under the terms of 
Treaty 4. As originally drawn, these reserves were located some 130 kilome- 
tres east of Regina on the southern escarpment of the Qu'AppeUe Valley and 
the adjoining uplands. The two reserves consisted of 46,816 acres, or suffi- 
cient land for 365 people under the terms of the treaty. 

Twenty-two years later, on January 28, 1907, the Government of Canada 
procured a surrender of 33,281 acres from those reserves, effectively depriv- 
ing the Kahkewistahaw Band of close to three-quarters of the land that it had 
accepted in 1881.2 That surrender resulted in the disposition of most of 
Kahkewistahaw's arable land, with the remaining land being almost com- 
pletely unsuited for cultivation. In effect, the Kahkewistahaw First Nation was 
left to sunive on the steep escarpment and lower benches of the Qu'AppeUe 
valley. 

In 1908 and 1910, the surrendered lands were sold at public auction to 
the non-Indian farmers who had long coveted them, and the few remaining 
unsold parcels were later distributed as part of the soldier settlement scheme 
following the First World War. It is unclear, although doubtful, whether the 
full amount of the proceeds from these sales was ever paid to the First 
Nation.3 

At issue in this inquiry is the propriety of that 1907 surrender. By neces- 
sity, th~s  claim has taken our Commission back to the overzealous imple- 
mentation of the federal government's surrender policy of that time. The 
application of that policy in this case was intended to pry from the Kahkewis- 

1 Alternatively referred la as "Kzhkewistahaw: the "Pint Nauan; or the "Band," depending on the historical 
"A",-"# ."..,.".. 

2 Surrender No. 548, KahkMswhsw India Reserve (IR) No. 72, Januuy 28, 1907, National Archives of Canada 
[hereinafter MI, RG 2, Series 1, March 4, 1907 (ICC DocumenD, pp. 269.73): 

3 k should be nmed 1h5 the adminianeon d the sale proceeds b not at Issue m these proceedings. 
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tahaw people the valuable farming lands accepted by them under the terms of 
Treaty 4, and in our view it surely marked the moral low ebb in the relation- 
ship between aboriginal and non-aboriginal Canadians on the western 
prairies. For all Canadians, there can be only shame in those events and in 
the application of that policy to the Kahkewistahaw First Nation. This Com- 
mission's report provides the Canadian government with an opportunity to 
accept responsibility for these events and, it is hoped, to bring a just and fair 
resolution to this historical grievance of the Kabkewistahaw people. 

On March 2, 1989, the Kahkewistahaw First Nation submitted a claim 
under the federal Specific Claims Policy seeking "recognition of [its] claims 
and compensation for the losses and damage sustained as a result of the 
1907 su r re~der .~  In response to this submission, the Specific Claims Branch 
of Indian Affairs undertook a review of the claim, which was completed in 
January 1992.' That research was presented to Kahkewistahaw in a meeting 
on April 14, 1992, following which the First Nation submitted an update to its 
position! 

Two years later, on receiving advice that Canada's preliminary position 
was that the 1907 surrender did not give rise to a lawful obligation to 
Kahkewistahaw, the First Nation formally requested that the Commission con- 
duct an inquiry into this claim. Although Kahkewistahaw provided Canada 
with a further supplemental submission in response to the preliminary rejec- 
tion of the claim,' Canada reiterated that it had breached no duties to the 
First Nation? Ultimately, on August 31, 1994, the Commission decided to 
conduct this inquiry? 

1 WiUlam J. Wipow, Barrister & Solicitor, to P. Cadieux, Minister. Deparanent a1 Indim m r s ,  March 2, 1989 
(ICC Documents, p. 465). 

5 Department of Indian M d n ,  "Specific Cldms Bnnch Review of Kahkeulstahaw Band's Cldm Concernrng the 
1907 Surrender: January 1992 (ICC Documents, pp. 649~752). 

6 William J. Fillipow, Fillipow & Company, toJeannie J e f f e ~ ,  S p e d c  Claims Branch WesVesl. Apd 28. 1992, enclos- 
ing "Summa~y of Legd Position o Band; undated (ICC Documenrs, pp. 754-72). 

7 Stephen Wpow,  PiJlipow & Campany, to Jack Hughes, SpecSc Cl- West, June 30, 1994, endosing Wipow 
&Company, "Supplemenld Submission to the Minister of Indian Al%m and Nonhem Development, Kahkeais- 
tahaw First Nation SpeclGc Claim - laod Surrender of 1907; June 1994 (ICC Documents. pp. 776801). 

8 Jack Hughe* Senior Cliums Advhor, S p e d c  Claims WesC to Chief Lout Taypalat and Council, Kahkeaistahaw 
Fin1 Nation. Augur! 10, 1994 (ICC Documents, pp. 858~59); Stephen Fillipow, Fillipow & Company, to Jack 
Hughes, Senior Claims Advhor, Spedic ClWs We*, August 11, 1994 (ICC Documenn. p. 860); Jack Hughes, 
Senior Claims Advisor. Speufic Cl- West, to Stephen Pillipow. W p o w  & Company. August 25. 1995 (ICC 
Docwnenrr, p. 861). The dae on this last document would appear to be in error, with August 25. 1994, being 
-Ar. libn,.. ,,.".. ,,".,. 

1 Dm BeCwrlr  a n l J a t ~ ~ ~ \  I'rr.nctcc. (.. ( : h ~ h ,  l n d m  CIUDI ( . > . I I O I I ~ I  ,I!. I ,  U L C ~  an0 t:du~>al Kahk~a~<uo3u 
Fmt Yauon. Scptembl.r ?, I.??+. Dm UtU,:ar<ic md lame\ Prenlcr.. ( ' _ - ~ l d n n ,  1t.ltan l l u l , ,  Can>mls~on. I ,  
Ron l w n  U~natpr I Inthin and vonhern Nhn and 4lhn Hock %t101st~r ~f IIIYICC 2nd I IUCRO G C I I P ~ .  
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Kahkewistahaw has alleged that the surrender obtained by Canada in 1907 
was not valid because of the presence of duress, undue influence, and negli- 
gent misrepresentation, and because the surrender bargain was unconsciona- 
ble. The First Nation has also alleged that the surrender was invalid because 
Canada failed to comply strictly with the requirements of the Indian Act, 
breached its fiduciary obligation to the First Nation by the manner in which it 
obtained the surrender, and violated a requirement of Treaty 4 by failing to 
obtain the consent of all Kahkewistahaw members interested in the reserve. 

In reply, Canada has denied that the legal doctrines of duress, undue i d u -  
ence, unconscionable bargain, or negligent misrepresentation are applicable 
to Indian Act surrenders. Alternatively, even if those doctrines are generally 
applicable in the surrender context, Canada has denied that the necessary 
facts exist to support a finding that duress, undue inhence, unconscionabil- 
ity, or negligent misrepresentation occurred in this case. Canada has further 
asserted that the Indian Act surrender requirements were essentially com- 
plied with; there was no pre-surrender fiduciary obligation under the circum- 
stances of this surrender; even if such a fiduciary obligation existed, it was 
complied with in any event; and the Indian Act surrender requirements were 
a reasonable expression of the Treaty 4 provision concerning band consent 
to disposition of reserve lands. 

For the reasons that foUow, we agree with the Kahkewistahaw First Nation 
that the Government of Canada breached fiduciary obligations owed to these 
aboriginal people. The government not only failed in its obligation to protect 
the Kahkewistahaw Band but served in fact as a cunning intermediary in pro- 
curing a surrender that can only be described as unconscionable and tainted 
in its concept, passage, and implementation. 

MANDATE OF lTlE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

The mandate of this Commission is set out in federal Orders in Council pro- 
viding the Commissioners with the authority to conduct public inquiries into 
specilk claims and to issue reports on "whether a claimant has a valid claim 
for negotiation under the [Speci6c Claims] Policy where that claim has 
already been rejected by the Minister. . . ."lo The role of the Commission in 
this inquiry is to determine whether the claim of the Kahkewistahaw First 
Nation should be accepted by Canada for negotiation under the Speci£ic 

l a  C a r n u a n  issued Se tember 1, 1992, p m n t  to Order in Council PC 1992-1730, July 27, 1992, amending 
the Commission issue8 to Chief Commissioner "any S. L*orme oo hugust 12, 1991, punumt to Order in 
Councfi PC 1991-1329. July 15. 1991 
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Claims Policy. This policy, o u h e d  in the 1982 booklet entitled Outstanding 
Business: A Native Chims Policy - Specific Claims, states that Canada will 
accept claims for negotiation where they disclose an outstanding "lawful obli- 
gation" on the part of the federal government. A "lawful obligation" specifi- 
cally includes claims based on "[a] breach of an obligation arising out of the 
Indian Act or other statutes pertaining to Indians and the regulations 
thereunder."" 

Our task in the present inquiry is to assess the validity of Kahkewistahaw's 
c h m  in light of the Specific Claims Policy. In short, the issue is to determine 
whether Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to the First Nation 
arising out of the circumstances of the 1907 surrender. We have concluded 
that it does. 

I I D t p m s n l  d lnd~an BIln and T, nhcm l)crrl~pmen! [htwr~nuier DlA\ll) Ourrlanding Hutnrrr .4 Wat8ze 
Chmm lbltry - .ipepe~/ic lhtmr Onaw Mlw,ar LI Supph 2nd S?rnre~ 1982,. 10 rrpmled in II%I 
I ICCP 1.1 85 Iheretnm<r 1hrrsLlndtng ntrsmesrl 





INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  PROCEEDINGS 

PART I1 

THE INQUIRY 

We begin with an examination of the historical evidence relevant to 
Kahkewistahaw's c h m ,  including the documentary record and the testimony 
of the Crooked Lake elders during the community session conducted on May 
3, 1995, on the Kahkewistahaw reserve. At that session, the Commission 
received evidence from seven members of the First Nation, including Mervin 
Bob, Joseph Crowe, Steven Wasacase, George Wasacase, Charles Buffalocalf 
Sr, Margaret Bear, and Ernest Bob. The Commission also heard from David 
Hoffman, a professional agrologist, appraiser, and land management consult- 
ant, who presented a report comparing the soil quality of the surrendered 
lands with that of the lands retained by the First Nation.12 

The parties each submitted written arguments to the Commission on Janu- 
ary 26, 1996, before making oral submissions at the final session in Saska- 
toon on February 1, 1996. The written submissions, documentary evidence, 
transcripts, and the balance of the record of this inquiry are referenced in 
Appendix A of this report. 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

Canadian Indian Policy 
The surrender of 33,281 acres of reserve land by the Kahkewistahaw Band in 
1907 did not occur in an historical vacuum. Kahkewistahaw and Canada had 
already established a relationship through a treaty signed 33 years before the 
specsc events of concern in this inquiry. 

Prior to the establishment of formal treaty relations between the Crown 
and Kahkewistahaw in 1874, Canada had already adopted clear Indian poli- 
cies that were applied to the Indians of the West as they had been to their 

12 Hafhnan & Assodates Ltd, "Cornpanson of S o h  bemeween Surrendered and Non-Surrendered Areas of Kahkewis- 
tlhaw," undated (ICC Documents pp. 802-57). 



K A H K E W I S T A H A W  FIRST N A T I O N  1907 S U R R E N D E R  I N Q U I R Y  R E P O R T  

counterparts in eastern Canada, notwithstanding that special policies had 
been proposed to deal with the unique conditions on the prairies.13 The 
immediate goal of the government was to place Indians under federal protec- 
tion and inlluence in order to "civilize" them through education, Christian 
instruction, and agricultural training. The longer-term goal was to assimilate 
them into the general population once they no longer needed the shelter and 
guidance of the dominion government. This policy of the "Bible and the 
plough" was explicitly modelled on the approach taken in Upper and Lower 
Canada in the years before Confederation, and was based on the creation of 
federally protected reserves of sufficient sue and adequate quality for eco- 
nomically viable agricultural production.14 

As white settlement encroached on traditional Indian lands and buffalo 
became scarce, it became apparent that the traditional hunting way of life of 
the Plains Indians could not long sunive. Treaties initiated by Canada and 
consummated with the Plains Indians required the Indians to cede their 
aboriginal rights over huge tracts of land in exchange for, among other 
things, promises of reserve lands, agricultural implements, and farming 
instruction. Tne goal of these treaty promises by Canada was to provide Indi- 
ans with an alternative economic base and to situate them in areas where 
they might sell their agricultural produce to nearby non-Indian communities. 
At the same time, it was decided that, until the Indians had become more 
sophisticated in matters of commerce, they should be protected by imple- 
menting safeguards for the disposal of their reserve lands. 

To this end, the Indian Act was introduced to continue statutorily the 
policy of the Royal Proclamation of 1763 that no Indian reserve land could 
be sold or leased to third parties until it had first been surrendered by the 
band to the federal Crown. Treaty Commissioner Alexander Morris (who was 
also the Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba, the North-West Territories, and 
Keewatin) reflected this view as follows: 

13 Sarah Carter, Losf Hmsls:  h i d e  Indim Re- Pmm81srmd Govemnent Policy (Montreal and Kingston: 
McGill-Queen's University Press, 1%0), 52-54, desctibes those policies as calling for the introduction of mule 
before anempting lo leach agricultural techniques; credit a stores where lndim could obllio necessities; 
I er reserves located fanher from non-Indian seulemens; greater annuities; preferential hiring poli"es for 
1 % ~  in the police and mililary; a border patrol, among other things, lo protect the remaining bulMo herds; 
and the creation of a special fond for Indim w e h  fmm the sale of dominion lands. In bindsight, these policy 
prop0~ah seem eminenliy sensible, especially in k h l  of whet vtuayi tmpi red  on the prairies. 

14 See John L. Tobias, "Protection, Civilization, h i d s t i o n :  An Outline Hkto~y of C d a ' s  Indian Policy," and 
John S. Milloy, 'The Earb Indian Am: Developmental Stpdlegy and Coostitutianal Change," in J.R. Miller, ed., 
S w t  P m m h :  A R& a indirm-mite ReInrions in  Gnu& (Toronto: University of Tomato Press, 
1%1), 127, 145, and 323. See llsa John k l i e  and Ron Maguire, eds., Tbe Hisln'col asUebpment of tbe 
Indian Act, Zd ed. (On-: DUND, Treaties and Hislotical R e m h  Bmch,  1978). 
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I regard the system as of great value. It at once secures to the Indian tribes tracts of 
land, which cannot be interfered with, by the rush of immigration, and dords the 
means of inducing them to establish homes and learn the arts of agriculture. I regard 
the Canadian system of allotting reserves to one or more bands together, in the locali- 
ties in which they have had the habit of living, as far preferable to the American 
system of placing whole tribes, in large reserves, which eventually become the object 
of cupidity to the whites, and the breaking up of which, has so often led to Indian 
wars and great discontent even if warfare did not result. The Indians have a strong 
attachment to the localities in which they and their fathers have been accustomed to 
dwell, and it is desirable to cultivate this home feeling of attachment to the soil. . . . 
Besides. the fact of the reserves beine scattered throuehout the territories. will enable 
the ~ndkns to obtain markets among the white settle;, for any surplus iroduce they 
may eventually have to dispose of, . . . Any premature edranchisement of the Indians, 
or power given to them to part with their lands, would inevitably lead to the speedy 
breaking up of the reserves and the return of the Indians to their wandering mode of 
life, and thereby to the re-creation of a &culty which the assignment of reserves was 
calculated to obviate. There is no parallel between the condition of the No&-Western 
Indians and that of the Indians who have so long been under the fostering care of the 
Government in the older Provinces of Ontario and Quebec.Ii 

The notion of Crown protection of Indian reserve land, as referred to in the 
comments of Commissioner Morris, was not new: it had been a central fea- 
ture of imperial and later colonial policy and had been explicitly adopted by 
the new dominion government.16 Thus, at Confederation, the Secretary of 
State of the new Dominion of Canada became the Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs and almost immediately took legal and administrative control 
of Indian lands through Canada's first national Indian land legislation.l7 Addi- 
tional legislation in 1868 reflected the civilization and assimilation policy 
mentioned above, the goal of which was to facilitate the enfranchisement of 
individual male Indians who from the degree of "civiliiation" they had 
attained were worthy of this privilege of being released from Indian status in 
exchange for full citizenship and voting rights. With enfranchisement, a por- 
tion of the reserve lands could be freed from government protection, and 

15 Alexander Morris, Tbe Tmlier of Co& wifb tbe hdians of Manifoh and lbe Norlb-Wesf Tmilonks, 
lnduding lbe Negotinlions a Wbicb They W m  &usd (Tomnto: Bellords, Clarke and Co., 1880, facsimile 
reprint, Saskatoon: Filth House Publishers, 19911, 287-88. 

16 See the following te@iation: An A d h r  lbe Pmrscrion of tbe Ian& of lbe Cmwn in This Pmt#ncefmm 
Trespard and Injuy, RSUC 1792-1840 (1839, c. 15); An Acf for Ibe Beller Pmteclion of fbe Iands and 
P m p w  of the Indians of L w  C o d ,  Pmvlnce of Canada, Statutes 1850, c. 42; An Act for Ibe Pmrection 
a t h  Indians in Upper CaMdafirn Impposition, and 16s Pmprly Occupied or Enjoyed by Tlmnfmm 
Trespass andlnjuy, Pmvince of Canada. Statuter 1850, c. 74; An Act respecting fbe Ma~ge-1 of Indian 
Unds and Roperby, X 1860. c 151. 

17 An Act Pmvidin for Ibe Orpanimtiotion of I& D e p l r t m t  oftbe SemIary ofState ofCaMdn mtdfor tbe 
M a w m e n 1  &/ndiian and Onlmnce Unds, SSC 1868. c. 42. 
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could eventually become fee simple land.lg In 1868, a separate department 
responsible for Indian Affairs (the Department) was established, first as a 
branch under the Secretary of State and later under the Minister of the Inte- 
rior before becoming a full-fledged department in its own right in 1880. 
Local Indian agents, vested with many of the new powers of the Superinten- 
dent General, were appointed to ensure the uniform and effective application 
of Canadian Indian poli~y.~9 

Treaty 4 (1874) 
The historical context for the sigtnng of Treaty 4 has been dealt with by the 
Commission in its March 1996 report into the treaty land entitlement claim of 
the Kawacatoose First Nation and in the more recent report into Kahkewis- 
tahaw's treaty land entitlement claim.20 The context for the negotiations and 
excerpts from the actual discussions are set out as follows in the Kawa- 
catoose report: 

The early 1870s represent a period of great transition among the Indian nations that 
resided within the 75,000 square mile area of Trealy 4. The disappearance of the 
buffalo had been foreseen, white settlers were moving into the area, and some bands 
were taking steps to convelt from the life of "plains buffalo hunters to resetve agricul- 
turalists." Other bands were becoming more nomadic, moving freely back and forth 
across the U.S. border in pursuit of b&o - a staple of the aboriginal diet and way 
of life. However, the increasing scarcity of bulblo led to periods of hardship and 
starvation, as well as greater competition and, ultimately, intertribal warfare over the 
remaining animals. As noted in the report prepared for this inquiry by the OTC [Office 
of the Trealy Commissioner]: 

Conflict betwen Assiniboine, Blac!&ot, Gros Ventre, Crow and Sioux was com- 
mon in the nineteenth century as weU as conflict behveen Indians and non-Indi- 
ans. The white settlers were not sympathetic to the plight of the Indians and oflen 
ignored their rights. The Indian practice of horse stealing, which was common 
between tribes, angered whites. The illicit whisky trade in which traders sold 
whisky to the Indians in exchange for buffalo robes or other commodities further 
exacerbated the violence. The Cypress Ws massacre was an example of the type 
of violence that occurred in this period. 

18 An Adhr I& Gmdun( Enzh isemm! l  of l d i a m ,  tfbs Better M a w p e n t  of Indian Aff~irs, #ad la 
E~tend Ibe Pmvisions oft Act 31sl VKIOM, chapter 42. SC 1869. c. 6, ss. 13-16. 

I9 SC 1880, e. 28, ss. 4-9. 
20 See Indian Claims Commission, ffiwacatme Pin1 Nation Repar1 on Tmly Iad E n l i l h l  lyuiry  

(OtWw March 19%). now repatted at (19%) 5 ICCP 73; Indian Claims Commission, ffibhislabmu Pin1 
Ndion Repatl on Tmly I n d  E n l i t h l  Inquiry (Ottawa, November 1996). 
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Moreover, the survey operations of the Boundary Commission and the steps associ- 
ated with erecting a proposed telegraph line west of Fort Carry were starting to affect 
this territory, "all which proceedings are calculated to further unsettle and excite the 
Indian mind, already in a disturbed condition. . . ." 

Alexander Morris was Lieutenant Governor of the area which then comprised Man- 
itoba and the North-West Territories, including present-day Saskatchewan. Together 
with David Laird, the federal Minister of the Interior, and W.J. Christie, a retired factor 
with the Hudson's Bay Company, Morris was commissioned by the Government of 
Canada to make treaties with Indian nations in the southern "Feaile Belt." 

At lake Qu'Appelle in September 1874, the three Commissioners negotiated with 
the assembled Chiefs for six days to encourage the initially reluctant Indian leaders to 
accept the benefits of treaty in exchange for ceding Indian rights in the lands encom- 
passed by Treaty 4. Morris reported the concerns expressed by the Chiefs at these 
meetings, paaicularly over what was perceived by the Indians to be the unfairly 
advantageous position of the Hudson's Bay Company at that time, but also over the 
rights of preen1 and future generations of h e  aboriginal peoples. On September 11, 
1874, the third day of the conference, Morris gave the Chiefs the following 
assurances: 

The Queen cares for you and for your children, and she cares for the children that 
are yet to be born. She would like to take you by the hand and do as I did for her 
at b e  Iake of the Woods last year. We promised them and we are ready to prom- 
ise now to give five dollars to every man, woman and child, as long as the sun 
shines and water flows. We are ready to promise to give $1,000 every year, for 
twenty years, to buy powder and shot and M e ,  by the end of which time I hope 
you will have your little farms. If you will settle down we would lay off land for 
you, a square mile for every family of h e .  . . . 

The next day Morris stated: 

[. . . The Queen thinks of the children yet unborn. I know there are some red men 
as weU as white men who only think of to-day and never of to-morrow.] The 
Queen has to think of what will come long afler to-day. Therefore, the promises 
we have to make to you are not for to-day only but for to-morrow, not only for you 
but for your children born and unborn, and the promises we make will be carried 
out as long as the sun shines above and the water flows in the oceans. When you 
are ready to plant seed the Queen's men will lay off Reserves so as to give a square 
mile to every family of five persons . . . [, and on commencing to farm the Queen 
will give to every family cultivating the soil hvu hoes, one spade, one scythe for 
cutting the grain, one axe and plough, enough seed wheat, barley, oats and pota- 
toes to plant the land they get ready. The Queen wishes her red children to learn 
the cunning of the white man and when they are ready for it she will send school- 
masters on every Reserve and pay them. We have come through the country for 
many days and we have seen hills and but little wood and in many places little 
water, and it may be a long time before there are many white men settled upon 
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this land, and you will have the right of hunting and fishing just as you have until 
now until the land is actually taken up. . . . I think I have told you all that the 
Queen is willing to do for you.]" 

On September 15, 1874, the final day of the conferences, Morris convinced 
Chief Kahkewistahaw, or "He Who Flies Around," and 12 other chiefs and 
headmen of Cree and Saulteaux bands in the area to sign Treaty 4. 

The "reserve clause" in Treaty 4 set forth Canada's obligation to provide 
reserve land to Indian bands: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissioners, to 
assign reserves for said Indians, such reserves to be selected by officers of Her Maj- 
estfs Government of the Dominion of Canada appointed for that purpose, after con- 
ference with each band of the Indians, and to be of su5cient area to allow one square 
mile for each family of five, or in that proportion for larger or smaller families. . . ." 

With respect to the alienability of reserve land, Treaty 4 continued: 

. . . provided, however, that it be understood that, if at the time of the selection of any 
reserves, as aforesaid, there are any settlers within the bounds of the lands reserved 
for any band, Her Majesty retains the right to deal with such settlers as She shall deem 
just, so as not to diminish the extent of land allolted to the indians; and provided, 
further, that the aforesaid reserves of land, or any part thereof, or any interest or right 
therein, or appurtenant thereto, may be sold, leased or otherwise disposed of by the 
said Government for the use and benefit of the said indians, with the consent of the 
Indians entitled thereto &st had and obtained, hut in no wise shall the said Indians, 
or any of them, be entitled to sell or otherwise alienate any of the lands allotted to 
them as rese~es.~3 

Treaty 4 also provided that members of signatoty bands would be entitled to 
receive cash annuities, material aid in the form of farm implements and live- 
stock, and agricultural instruction, among other things. As the Commission 
noted in the Kawacatoose report, "[tlhe farm implements and livestock, 
together with a band's allocation of reserve land, were important to enable 
the band to develop a new economy based on agric~lture."~~ 

21 See ICC, h c a l w s  Firsf Nation Rep& on Treaty Iand Gntitkmml Inquiry (Oltaaa, March 1996), 5 
ICCP 73 11 96-99. Pomm relerences omiued. 

!! r-alj .Yo ? &luwn Her .Wapsy I& yueen dnd t k  (iep and Si?JIeuu Tnkr o j lndmr  ul @ilppl& 
ond P w l  EUw r0eawa Qurcn'r Pmter. 1%61, 6 tICC Dorumens. p 1 )  

13 Twdr So 4 &meen ller Umerlv I& hrpen and l k  Ctpe ond .buUaau Tmbes ' f  lndmw a Ou Acmlk - .. 
and irM EUice (Omawl: Qu/en';~rint~. 19661, 6 (IW: Documents, p. 2).  

24 ICC, h a r l o a r e  Pimt N'km R e j m  on h f y k n d B ~ t i t ~ I y u i ' y  (Onam, Much 1996). 5 ICCP 73 
at 100. 



INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  PROCEEDINGS 

That the Indians in this area of Saskatchewan were serious about farming 
is shown clearly by the fact that, one year following the signing, some of the 
bands from the Qu'Appelle area sent a message to Lieutenant Governor Mor- 
ris in Winnipeg requesting the agricultural implements promised in the 
treaty.25 For several years thereafter, usually at the time of the annual treaty 
annuity payments, the Treaty 4 bands continued their original demands, even 
to the point of collectively voicing their concerns to the Governor General, 
the Marquis of Lorne, on the occasion of his 1881 visit to the North-West 
Territories. At that time they complained about the hardship they were exper- 
iencing as a result of hunger and privation, assured him of their commitment 
to farming, and implored him to arrange for more work oxen, tools, and 
equipment to be provided to them under their treaty.I6 

Twenty-six years after signing Treaty 4 at Lake Qu'Appelle, Chief Kahkewis- 
tahaw would have occasion, when approached by Indian Commissioner 
David Laird in 1902 about the possibility of the Band surrendering part of its 
reserve, to remind the Crown of its treaty promises. Kahkewistahaw admon- 
ished Commissioner Laird: "We were told to take this land and we are going 
to keep it."27 

'Ibe Kahkewistahaw Reserve 
At the time of signing Treaty 4, the nomadic existence of the Kahkewistahaw 
Band was centred in southwestern Saskatchewan near the Cypress Hills. The 
Band's members apparently had no experience whatsoever with agriculture. 
Made up primarily of Plains Cree with some Saulteaux members, the Band 
depended more on the buffalo than did the other bands that settled on 
reserves at Crooked Lake. 

Chief Kahkewistahaw was from a prominent and well-respected family. His 
father, Le Somant, had signed the Selkirk Treaty of 1817 in Manitoba, and 
his brother, Tne Fox, was a well-known Cree leader in his own right.2s As the 
years passed, the esteem with which Chief Kahkewistahaw's own people 

!i Trlc&rm c fJrE I0 In'( lrun. Lrulmanl I;< >irn,r 4 l e l ~ n e r  \om% 10 S~~punntcnlcnl .;r.nrnl U m i  lurd 
2nd rrph ,f Julv I?. In';. fmm 1ur.l tn Yarn,, hA Rti  IU SLI <"!A, ill< jW- Tnc ilnn of iangl.1, 
r r ~ ~ u t w  lo thev PUIV T<.III~\L) O r  .&>.>w~Lc IS 1011 b\ hrdt  Ianrr. losl ilane>rr / fume InJwn !ies.nr 
~a-s and ~ o v s r n ~ e n i t b l i q  (Montreal and i(mgsion: MCGU-~ueen's Universily Prw, 1990). 63-65, 

26 Address of the Qu'AppeUe Chiefs to the Governor General, NA. RG 10, v o l  3768. file 33.642 
27 Davld h r d ,  Indian Commissioner, to J.D. McLean, Secretmy, Deparunent of hdian Hairs, May 6, 1902, NA, 

RG 10. val. 3732. file 26623 (ICC Documents. pp. 175.77). 
28 The Kahkewistahaa Baod is described in S m h  Carter, Losf Hamsfs: Pmirie Indian Resove F a n  and 

G o m r n m l  l'oliq ( M o n s d  and Kigston: McCiU-Queen's University Press. 1 9 0 ) .  47. 
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regarded him was repeatedly demonstrated, and Department officials also 
viewed him as being of particularly sound judgment. Kahkewistahaw healed 
the early divisions in the Band over the government's reserve policy and per- 
suaded his people to stay out of the 1885 Riel Rebellion, even to the point of 
leaving the reserve to retrieve a number of young warriors who had joined 
rebellious Chiefs. In recognition of his leadership role, Kahkewistahaw was 
invited to Ottawa after the conclusion of hostilities and was well received 
there.29 

Between 1874 and 1880, the Kahkewistahaw Band returned to the 
Qu'Appelle Valley each year to receive treaty annuity payments. William Wag- 
ner surveyed an area of 41,414 acres for Kahkewistahaw in 1876, but the 
evidence shows that the Band never lived on or used this land, and thus 
never accepted it as a reserve. Instead, Kahkewistahaw and his people chose 
to pursue what was left of their traditional buffalo hunting economy in the 
Cypress Hills. 

Subsequently, Man Poyntz Patrick and his assistant, Wdbam Johnson, 
were commissioned in 1880 to survey the reserves of those bands desiring 
them, and Kahkewistahaw was one such band. In our recent report dealing 
with Kahkewistahaw's treaty land entitlement claim, we concluded that Pat- 
rick and Johnson started, but likely did not complete, the survey of Kahkewis- 
tahaw's reserve in 1880. The following year, in 1881, John C. Nelson sur- 
veyed Kahkewistahaw Indian Reserve (IR) 72 and provided the Band with a 
fishing station, which was later replaced with the 96-acre IR 72A in 1884. 
These two reserves were eventually codrmed by Order in Council on May 
17, 1889. In total, Kahkewistahaw received 46,816 acres of land, sufficient 
for 365 people under the Treaty 4 formula of 128 acres per person. In the 
ensuing years, reports by the Indian agents confirmed the overall quality of 
the Band's lands, noting in particular the timber stands in the gulches and 
the relatively high calibre of the hay fields on the southern portion of the 
reserve which was later ~urrendered.3~ 

29 The story of Kahkewistahaw's role m the Riel Rebellion is related in Ken Tyler, "The Government of Canada and 
ihhkeuisiahaw Band; undated, pp, 17-20 (ICC Exhibit 18). 

30 For hslance, in the 1899AnnunlReporl the went described ihe Kahkewistahaw reserve as "undulaung prairie 
at fair qualiv interspersed with ponds and ha sloughs, dotted here and there uith bluffs of poplar. There are 
some vely good hay lands an the prairie in X e  southern pan": Canada, Parliament. Sessional Papers, 1899. 
No. 14,  p. 140. 
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Farming on the Kahkewistahaw Reserve 
Following the survey of IR 72 in 1881, Kahkewistahaw's economy slowly 
evolved from almost complete dependence on government rations and assis- 
tance to a relatively self-sustaining mixed Farming operation. This evolution 
occurred notwithstanding several hurdles - some natural, others man-made 
- that obstructed the Band. 

Hayter Reed, in his role as Indian Commissioner and then as Deputy 
Superintendent General, was one of the primary architects and administrators 
of prairie Indian policy during the period under review in this report.31 
Reed's farm policies are of particular interest in this inquiry. 

Although not as well known for farming as their neighbours on the Cowes- 
sess reserve, members of the Kahkewistahaw Band were generally willing to 
embrace agriculture as the means by which they would make the necessary 
adjustment to the new conditions of life confronting them. Thus, when faced 
in 1883 with the pending closure of the Department's home farm instruction 
program that had begun only a few years before, Band members specifically 
asked the visiting Inspector of Indian Agencies for a teacher for their chil- 
dren, as weU as a resident farm instructor, who would be designated solely 
for their instructi0n.3~ As a result of this and sirmlar requests from other 
bands across the prairies, the farm instruction program was renewed in 
1885 and more and better equipment was supplied by the Department. Even- 
tually, a farming instructor was assigned to the four reserves making up the 
Crooked Lake Agency - Kahkewistahaw, Cowessess, Ochapawace, and Sakimay. 

Although it appears from the early reports that some of Kahkewistahaw's 
members were slow to abandon their buffalo-hunting traditions and to 
embrace farming, later reports indicate that, in relatively short order, farming 
became the main economic.activity at Kahkewistahaw, as on the other 
Crooked Jake reserves33 Departmental statistics indicate that, as early as 

D;& ~ o ~ d b e l l  Smlt and tbe Adtninisharion of lndian ~ f i i r s  in GaMda (vkiower: UBC Press. 
I , I i h c  Qrn-#nn?r ui Induo h n  !+&me pnnord alfixd of l h ~  hhvt Bmn:h dllrr lhr 
Ucpanmtr~l of lnlgan .Am) on dl? Prdln+s I ndrr hh ~uldancc the pruvr5.nnr of ihr irraoh r e r t  ILII.NI 
t m A  It? ,m.n.,.,d i lw w w e \ m ~  . I  resvm,\ md ds sc~dcntrnt of lnthanr on ~hcm .I antnler o~naucran c f  ... ~~ =--.- ~.. .-~ ~,~~.o ~~~~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~ ~ 

Indian acwu and aeencv insnectors uos created to c m  out his instmctions the far-8un~ comers of'his 
1~mun;~hr bmnn;stonzr.'tn turn, rzp.n~d to headgumen uf thc lndlan brdnch in OI&" 

cl Repon lo he SupennunJmt ( icned nf lndlan &Jan. Jd$ 0,  ld83, m Canada. PlrLan.rnt. ';P1wtd Pupri 
n, .. 'hnnual Reyon ni  the D~pznm~nt i i  lndrr~tr Bur,, IMj  11- Id 

33 See, for example, the qriculturdacreage graphs compiled by Sarah Oner in "%a Acres and a Cow: 'Peasan? 
F m i n g  for he Indim of the Northwest, 188P1897," in J.R. Miier, ed., Sweet Pmmires A R d r  on 
Indian-mite Rektions h G a d  (Toronto: University of Toronto Ress, 1991), 371-72. 
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1884, for instance, 12 of the 49 families on the Kahkewistahaw reserve were 
farming a total of 5 5  a ~ r e s . 3 ~  Nor were Band members lacking ambition 
when it came to learning how to farm. Indian Agent Alan McDonald reported 
in 1889, for example - after almost the entire wheat crop had been 
destroyed by drought - that Band members, although discouraged, were not 
ready to give up and were alreddy turning the soil over in anticipation of a 
better season the following ~ e a r . 3 ~  In 1901 Indian Agent Magnus Begg made 
similar comments, reporting that Kahkewistahaw's members were neither 
lazy nor unwilling to learn and apply agricultural te~hniques.3~ 

Despite the effort Kahkewistahaw's people may have brought to this new 
enterprise, farming on the prairies was a difticult undertaking. This was as 
true for the settlers as it was for the apprentice Indian farmers. Unlike the 
lands in eastern Canada, those in the West were extremely dry and, because 
of the harsh climate, the growing season was relatively short. In addition, as 
Sarah Carter describes, there were other problems that were unique to the 
fledgling Indian farmers: 

Some of these problems were those experienced by a l l  early settlers - drought, frost, 
hail, and prairie fire, an absence of markets, and uncertainties about what to sow, 
when to sow, and how to sow. There were other problems hat were not unique to the 
Indians hut were likely magrufed in their case. For example, reserve land often 
proved to be unsuitable for agriculture. Indian farmers also had limited numbers of 
oxen, implements, and seed: he treaty provisions for these items were immediately 
found to be inadequate. Indians were greatly hampered in their work because they 
lacked appml, partiahly footwear. They were undernourished, resulting in poor 
physical stamina and vulnerability to infectious diseases?' 

Until the introduction of Marquis wheat, with its shorter maturation 
period, in 1911, the longer growing season required by Red River Settlement 
wheat and Red Fife wheat meant that wheat crops were susceptible to the 
severe and unpredictable weather conditions. Drought, host, and hail, for 

34 This acreage compares favourably with he Cowessess Reserve, where 16 01 70 farmlies farmed a told of 86 
acres, and with Ochapamce, where 18 of 69 families farmed 74 acres of reserve luld: Sarah Carter, &st 
Harwsls: Prairie lndkm Reserce F a m s  and Gm~mmm6 Policy (Manweal and mgston: McCiU~Queen's 
University Press, 1990), Appendur 2; Cmada, Parliament, Sessiod Papn, 1884, vol. 18, no. 3, "Annual 
Repan 01 the Department of lndiaa Main," 1884, 192-205. 

35 Report from A h  McDanald lo Indian Commisioner. July 27, 1889, NA, RG 10, vol. 3761. 6le 33282. 
36 Reoan from Mamus Been lo Suoe~tendenl General. lulv 31. 1901. in Deoamnenl of Indian Main. Annual . . , ~ .  . . 

~ejorl, 1901, GI-45. - . 
37 Sarah Caner, " h o  Acres and a Cow 'Peasan? Fmning for he I n d i a  of the Nanbwest. 1889-1897; in J.R. 

Miller, ed., Sumel tkmks: A R A  on lndianU%its Rebtions in Camda (Toronto. UniversiQ of Toronto 
Press, 1991), 354. 
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instance, damaged crops at the Crooked lake Agency regularly throughout 
the 1880s and 1890s and into the 20th century. So difficult were the condi- 
tions that many farmers, including non-Indians, gave up during this time and 
abandoned farming ~ompletely.~~ 

Despite the recurrent problems, wheat became and remained Kahkewis- 
tahaw's staple crop throughout the period leading up to the surrender in 
1907, accounting for half the recorded acreage under cultivation on the 
reserve. From 12 acres of wheat in 1882, the cultivated area grew to 90 acres 
by 1887 and to 100 acres in 1891, remaining at nearly that level until 1895. 
Exceptionally, in 1892, more than 150 acres of wheat were seeded, while in 
1899 the figure was approximately I15 acres.39 Other crops were also 
planted, including oats, barley, and rye, as well as garden vegetables, such as 
potatoes and turnips.4o Although their farms were usually small, "[tlhe great 
majority of the men on the Kahkewistahaw Reserve engaged in some form of 
farming; in the typical year between 1886 and 1895, two-thirds of the adult 
males had a farm of some sort, and this was a sigdcantly greater propor- 
tion than on the more successful Cowessess Rese~e."~'  For reasons that will 
be set out below, the acreage under cultivation on the Kahkewistahaw 
reserve, as on others, began to decline in the late 1890s and never recovered 
to former levels. 

It must be recalled that, because of the effects of disease (primarily tuber- 
clllosis), band populations in the West at that time were in decline. Between 
1883 and 1886, the Kahkewistahaw population fell from 274 to 183 (and 
continued to fall thereafter, albeit less dramatically), something departmental 
officials attributed primarily to di~ease.4~ In 1886, Kahkewistahaw had 20 
men farming, and in 1895 there were 23.43 By 1906, however, Indian Agent 
Matthew Millar reported that only five members of the Band could be called 
grain farmers. By the same token, however, he also observed that other 

38 On the basis of his review of de~artmenlalAnnua/Rmrts and Sesrioml rams. Ken Tyler concluded lhal "on 
lhc Cm~kcd lake, Agenq, crop were damaged nv d;aughr in 1%. I@', (889, 1891 1894. 1897 1898, run 
1911) In 18% 1890. 1811, 1895, 1898. IhYY, and 1%. thcr quRzced from lmq And m I W  uld IYw. 
*her< uas 0amq.P due lo h& Ken M , r ,  Thc Cnvemmcnt uf Ldnzlll md Kahkwslahae Llmd." undawd 
p. 30 (ICC Exhibil 18). 

39 Ken Tyler, 'The Government of Canada and Eahkewistahaw Band: undared. DO. 33-34 (ICC W b i t  18) 
.$, Kna Ncr ,  The Go~emntcnl of Linx l l l  lad Kahkcwmhaw BanJ ~mdaad, b 3, IIU: t x h t n t ~  18, 
1 1  Ken Tvlcr l h ?  Gavrrnmenl of (.mdJa anl  lWlkrwrlahau Bmd," unduld, p j ,  tICC Lxhbs Id, 
a ?  LII Tdcr. The L~vernmen! uf Camdl m d  i (ahkcwhh~r Ranb" bn<hled. n 16 I ICL Frl$thtl I$. U'llh ~-~ ~~, -~ . -~ 

resped t i m e  raMgis of di&se, s.ik~anhCanc<~'+wo-ACres and; COW .~easan~. fanning 10% i h o f  
the Nonhwesr. 1889-1897." in J.R. Miller. ed., S m l  PMmises A Reader on Indian-Wbile Relations in 
Canah (Toronto: Uniwrsiw of Toronlo Press, 1991). 354. 

43 Ken Tyler, 'The Government of Canada and Kahkmistlhaw Band: undated, p. 34 (ICC Exhibit 18). 



members kept cattle and that "[mlost of these Indians put up a good supply 
of hay."44 

These were not the only obstacles facing prairie Indian farmers. At the 
beginning of the home farm instruction program in the late 1870s, the farm 
instructors themselves, recruited primarily from eastern Canada, were largely 
ignorant of the conditions on the prairies.45 Local settlers also opposed the 
instruction program because they thought it gave Indian farmers false expec- 
tations and an unfair commercial advantage over their non-Indian competi- 
tors. For instance, in his annual report in 1888, Indian Commissioner Reed 
noted that "serious complaint has been made by some settlers of the effect of 
this competition upon them."" At that time, prairie newspapers often carried 
stories condemning the government for unfairly assisting Indians to the detri- 
ment of white farmers.47 This was particularly unwelcome publicity in the 
years immediately after the Riel Rebellion and at a time when the government 
was attempting to attract more settlers to populate the prairies. 

In light of the actual conditions, the perception that Indian farmers were 
in competition with the settlers hardly seems sustainable. At the outset, the 
Indians were not only unskilled, but received instruction and implements that 
were often substandard. The Canadian-manufactured ploughs provided in the 
late 1870s and early 1880s, for example, were clearly inferior to models 
produced in the United States, and they tended to break easily in the tough 
prairie soil. Nonetheless, the Department rehsed to request tenders on supe- 
rior American-made ploughs until after 1882.48 Similarly, the oxen provided 
for ploughing and related purposes were often unsuitable, being either 
freight animals that had never been used for ploughing or completely unbro- 
ken animals. The Department simply did not provide enough farming equip- 
ment or a d s  for practical farming operations. Commissioner Edgar 
Dewdney admitted as much in 1884, noting that "the want of more teams and 
implements is found from one end of the territory to another" and that the 
Treaty 4 area was particularly deficient in this respect.49 

44 Repon of June 30, 1906, from Indian Agent M. MUar to Superintendent General, in Depament of Indian 
Main Annual Repaf, 1106, 125-26. 

45 Inspector Wadworth to Superintendent G e n e 4  December 9, 1882, in Canada, Pdrbamenl, Sessioul Papers, 
1883, No. 5. Depanment of &dim Affairs, AnnualReporl, 1882. 190. 

46 Reed to Superintendent General, October 31. 1888, in Canada, Parliament, S e u i o ~ l  Papers 1889, No. 16, 
Depanment of Indian Main, Annul  Report, 1888, 127. 

47 See the examples given by Sarah Carter in h l  Hamsls PmiM Indian R8sem Fanners and Government 
Policy (Montreal and Kingston: M&a-Queen's Universlv Press, 1990), 187-88. 

as Sarah Carter, Lost Humsls' &iris Indinn Resem Farmsts and Gouernment Policy (Montreal and Kingston: 
McGfl-Queen's Universily Press. 1990). 95. 

49 Dewdnq to Superintendent General Januaq I, 1882. in Depanmenl of Indian Mais. Annual Repon. 
1881, 41. 



Although many of these problems were reduced or overcome through 
improvements in the farm instruction program and advances in farming tech- 
niques, there were others that required considerable local effort and ingenu- 
ity. For example, a major hindrance to Kahkewistahaw's success was the 
absence of a natural market for wheat and other farm produce of the 
Crooked Lake Agency - something Reed readily admitted." Crooked Lake 
farmers, in addition, had difficulty getting their wheat ground into flour, so 
any wheat harvested was almost useless to them for food or commercial pur- 
poses until they could get it ground. At the beginning of Kahkewistahaw's 
farming efforts in the 1880s, all grain had to he shipped to a mill 80 miles 
away. Owing to the efforts of Indian Agent McDonald, a grist mill was finally 
constructed in 1891 and located on the Cowessess reserve. Department funds 
were used to buy the equipment and materials required, with Indian labour 
accounting for a considerable portion of the actual construction. Grinding 
began in 1892 and, within a short period of time, the Crooked Lake Bands 
were able not only to cut their own grinding costs in half but to offer milling 
services to nearby nou-Indian farmers." 

Beginning in the late 1880s, the farmers on the Kahkewistahaw reserve 
were s&ciently confident in their enterprise that they began purchasing 
equipment out of the proceeds of their own grain sales. In 1888, the Band 
bought a binder. Over the years, the Crooked Lake Bands purchased addi- 
tional equipment of all sorts from their own funds, assisted by McDonald, 
who had obtained a concession from the Massey-Ferguson farm equipment 
company and scrupulously applied the profits exclusively for the benefit of 
the agency's farming operations. Between 1889 and 1896, the Kahkewistahaw 
Band alone bought a binder, four mowers, three rakes, and seven wagons, as 
well as smaller equipment and tools.52 

Raising livestock was another vocation that Kahkewistabaw's members 
undertook with enthusiasm shortly after the Band moved onto its Crooked 
Lake reserve. The oxen called for in Treaty 4 began arriving in the early 
1880s, and soon both dairy and beef cattle herds became a prominent aspect 
of the Band's overall agricultural efforts. By 1896, the Band had a herd of 
157 animals, more than half of them beef cattle and the rest either work 
oxen or dairy cows. Unlike grain, beef found a ready market in nearby 
Broadview, and the Department also purchased beef for rations. The Crooked 

50 Hayter Reed to Superintendent Cenenl, February 27, 1884, Nh RG LO, vol. 3666, file 10181. 
51 Ken Tyler, 'The Government of Canada and KahkPrislahaw Band," undated, p. 37 (ICC Exbibit 18). 
52 The ourchases of !he KahkPrislahaw Band are described in Ken Tvler. "The Government of Canada and 

Kahk&istahaw Band," undated, pp 39, 40, and 43 (ICC Exhibit 18): 
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Lake Bands made serious efforts at that time both to increase their prodnc- 
tion of beef cattle and to improve the stock. To this end, the agency acquired 
pedigreed bulls in 1890 and in 1893, and Kahkewistahaw obtained another 
bull for its own use in 1902.53 Official reports from the time show that Band 
members were interested in cattle production and were motivated to keep 
their animals in good shape.i4 

Raising livestock required good hay lands, something that Kahkewistahaw 
had in abundance on the southern part of its reserve - the part surrendered 
in 1907. The sloughs at the south end of the reserve were not only sufficient 
for the Band's hay needs but yielded even in dry years an excess that could 
be sold on the Broadview market for a small profit. Such enterprise, how- 
ever, prompted Indian Agent Begg to deny the Band a permit to sell its hay 
and wood, because he and other officials were determined to satisfy their 
own needs at prices they could set. The amount of hay cut by the Band rose 
steadily over the years - from 85 tons in 1882 to 350 tons by 1895 - provid- 
ing a welcome source of income to Band members who still relied, to some 
extent at least, on rations and other forms of government assistance." 

The Changing Relationship between the Crown and the Band 
To ensure that Indians were not without civihzed guidance, Indian agents 
were appointed in every treaty area on the prairies. Their broad administra- 
tive and quasi-judicial powers made them figures of considerable local power 
and intlnence and highhghted the waning autonomy of First Nations under 
Canadian Indian policy. Helen Bnckley describes the agency system as 
foUows: 

A network of agents had charge at the local level, each responsible for one or more 
reserves, and they were powerful figures in their own right, given the primitive com- 
munications of the day. These were the men who saw the farm programs imple- 
mented, enforced school attendance, allocated housing, and dealt with domestic dis- 
putes and a great many other matters. They wrote full r e p &  to Othwa on both the 
progress and the problems of their charges. Some agents were dedicated men who 
did the best they could within the limits of the system; some were political appointees, 

53 Ken Tyler, 'The Government of Canada and KahkewVrrahaw Band," undated, pp. 47-48 (ICC Exhibit 18) 
54 SeeDeparmeol of hdim AffABa,AnnualReporl, 1888,67; 1889, 64; 1892. 158-59; 1898, 134-35; 1901, 142; 

1902. 139 1903, 158 1105, 123; and 1907. 123. 
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poorly educated and unsuited for the job; a few were rogues, intent on profiting from 
heir po~ition.'~ 

In their testimony before this Commission, elders from the Crooked Lake 
area recalled the power and inlluence of the Indian agents over a wide spec- 
trum of band life weU into the 20th century: ". . . the Indian agent was a 
policeman, sometimes a doctor, he was a guardian, and he was - he was 
eve~ytlung."~~ 

After the 1885 Riel Rebellion, the Department decided that stricter super- 
vision needed to be exercised over prairie Indians, particularly the Cree of 
Saskatchewan. The territories for which individual agents were responsible 
were reduced in size - the two Indian agencies in Saskatchewan were 
increased to 10 - and an Indian agent was designated specifically to the 
Crooked Lake reserves, with his agency office located at C~wessess.~~ The 
first Crooked Lake Indian Agent was Alan McDonald, a former soldier who 
had been present at the signing of Treaty 4 and who served as Indian agent 
until his retirement from the Department. He was succeeded in 1896 by J.P. 
Wright, who served a few years until being replaced by Magnus Beg. Beg's 
death in 1904 led to the appointment of Matthew Millar, who was the Indian 
Agent at the time of the 1907 surrender at issue in this inquiry. 

Departmental regulations required Indians in the Prairie Provinces to 
obtain permits from the Indian Agent to sell their own agricultural produce?9 
an authority sometimes exploited by the agents for reasons unconnected to 
the official rationale of protecting unsophisticated Indians from unscrupulous 
buyers. For instance, in 1903, Begg refused to give a permit to the 
neighbouring Cowessess Band; in so doing, he forced its members to sell hay 
and timber to agency officials at relatively low prices, rather than selhng on 
the open market where better prices could have been obtained.@ 

Since the Crooked Lake Bands were still dependent on rations and other 
forms of assistance from Canada for their sunival, rations soon became 
another means of enforcing compliance with departmental wishes. As Deputy 

-~ 

56 Helen Buckley, Pmm Wwdsn P(arg6s lo WeIfom: !%y I d h n  Pdicy F&d in f68 h i d e  W n # s  (Moo- 
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57 IIX Transcript, May 3, 1995, p. 71 (Margaret Bear). 
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Superintendent General Hayter Reed observed: "To compel obedience when 
moral suasion failed, the only means of coercion was to stop their 
rations. . . ."6' There was much suffering from hunger and exposure during 
the early period, and protests over rations erupted at Cowessess, Sakimay, 
and Kahkewistahaw. A departmental inspection of the Crooked Lake reserves 
in 1886 confirmed the problems, noting that "[alt that time one could 
scarcely stir without being besieged by Indians asking for help in the way of 
food."62 According to the elders, the Crooked Lake Bands were never free of 
the need for ntions."3 

Similarly, the prairie pass system was implemented to control the move- 
ment of prairie Indians and to prevent them from leaving their reserves with- 
out permission. It was also used to discourage parents from visiting their 
children in off-reserve residential schools and to prevent attendance at tradi- 
tional ceremonies or dances off the reserves.64 The recollections of the elders 
confirm this contro1,bi as do the reports of agents like McDonald, who noted 
in 1894 that "[tlhe practice of visiting other reserves I have firmly 
repressed. . . ."66 

Under a departmental cattle loan program, Indian farmers could borrow a 
cow or an ox on condition that the animal or its offspring be returned to the 
Department. Although the farmer could retain either the borrowed animal or 
its offspring, he could neither seU nor slaughter it without official permission. 
Moreover, although many Indian farmers also owned cattle privately outside 
the cattle loan program, the agents also insisted on controlling the Indians' 
privately owned cattle by having the animals marked with the departmental 
brand and by levying fines on anyone who sold or slaughtered his own ani- 
mals without official permi~sion.~' 

Contemporary observers were often shocked at the restrictions and coer- 
cive rntmures applied by the agents-to prairie Indians: 

61 McCi UniuersiN. McCord Museum. Rawer Reed Moen. "Address on the Aims of the Government in It? Deal- . , . . 
ings with the indians," n d ,  p. 25. 

62 Alexander Mcl(rbbon, "Repan to the Superintendent-Gened of Indim Alfdrslairs." in Canada, P h e n t ,  as .  
sional Pqpers. 1897, No. 14, "Annual Repan of the D e p m e n t  of lndian Main," 1897, 214 
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I A MUer, "Owen Glendower, Hatspur, and Canadtao lndian Policy; in J.R. Miller, ed.  Sweet Nornises: A 
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He cannot go visit a friend on a neighbouring reserve without a permit. He cannot go 
to the nearest market town unless provided with a permit. In what was his own coun- 
try and on his own land he cannot travel in peace. He cannot buy and seU without a 
permit. He may raise cattle but he cannot seU them unless the government official 
dows. He may cultivate the soil but he is not the owner of his own produce. He 
cannot sell firewood or hay from the land that is his by Divine and citizen right, and 
thus reap the result of his own industry unless subject to the caprice or whim of one 
who often becomes an autocrat. Said an Indian to me a few dap since "I raise cattle, 
they are not mine, my wood I cannot seU - my own hay I cannot do what I would 
with - I cannot even do as I like with the Ikh I may catch. How can I become a 
man?"" 

Despite these dificulties, Indian farmers made slow but steady progress until 
the introduction of two new policies - severalty and peasant farming - begin- 
ning in 1889. These policies, when coupled with strict supervision by the 
Indian agents, contributed significantly to the decline in farming activity 
among Indian farmers on the Crooked Lake reserves. 

Indian Commissioner Edgar Dewdney noted that the severalty policy of 
subdividing reserves into small plots of land to be allocated to individual 
Indians "has been recognized as the only true one for the development of a 
sense of individual responsibility, as opposed to the system of communism 
among the Indians. . . ."@ Hayter Reed agreed and, on his appointment as 
Indian Commissioner, he moved to implement the subdivision of reserves. In 
his 1888 Annual Report he announced that severalty would hasten individual- 
ism among Indians, break down the tribal system, and ultimately make 
Indian farmers self-sufficient and free of the need for government 
assistance.70 

Under the severalty policy, reserves were to be surveyed and subdivided 
into 40-acre plots for distribution to individual band members, on the ratio- 
nale that this would allow the best lands to be divided more equitably. By the 
same token, however, it also led to large tracts of "unused reserve lands 
that could then be sold, a goal which local settlers and newspapers 

68 John MeDougall, 'The Future of the hdians,' n.d., pp. 6-7. Glenbow-Alberta InstiUte, McDougd Family 
Papen. Me 1 I .  

69 Dmdney to Deputy Superintendent General Vankoughnet, February 9. 1887. N& RG 10, uol. 3774, me 370M). 
70 Reed to Supetintendenl General, October 31, 1888, m Depment  of Indian &IS. AnnualReporf, 1887. 128. 
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endorsed7' and which Reed envisaged as the logical outcome of the policy.7Z 
The Crooked Lake reserves were among the earliest to be subdivided, with 
Kahkewistahaw going first, followed by Cowessess and Sakimay. Ocbapawace 
refused. However, not all reserves in the Treaty 4 area were subject to the 
severalty policy, nor did Indian farmers necessarily get the best land on those 
reserves that were subdivided: 

In the Treaty Four District, subdivision proceeded only on those reserves that were 
close to the railway and were attractive for agriculhlral purposes. The forty acre lots 
were located on the northern half of these reserves, near the river, on land that was 
cut by deep ravines in places and was regarded by few as the best for agriculture. . . . 
In most places, the southern portion that remained undivided had the superior farm- 
land and hay gr~unds.'~ 

The related peasant farming policy reflected the notion that an Indian 
farming family should possess only the amount of land it could cultivate using 
the most primitive of hand tools, most of which were to be manufactured by 
the family itself. The official goal was to free Indians from "communistic" 
tribal culture by converting them into European peasant-style subsistence 
h e r s .  The thinking was that an Indian farming family ought to need no 
more than an acre or less of wheat, another acre or so of root crops and 
vegetables, and a couple of cows. Instead of groups of farmers working 
cooperatively to purchase, share, and maintain farming machinery to be used 
in common fields, individual peasant farmers would plant and harvest 
smaller subsistence crops using simple implements. Their wives and children 
would assist them in the fields, thereby ensuring that there would be no place 
for idleness in Indian communities. Although there is evidence that Hayter 
Reed, the primary architect of this policy, had strong beliefs that social evolu- 
tion could proceed only in defined~stages,7* an incident involving settlers 

-I *i.o 9 . d  Cmrr, ?an Acre and Cou 'Ptuant' Funl~ng for the InJlm a[ the Konhurst. 1869-1897.' m 1 R 
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Preu.  19911 356.5'. far a revlor ol the fav~utablz p~hncal and publrc op!.llon 

-1 In ,eiponrc (6 0 b t w O 0 ~  b ~ n ~  th* Inpenor of Lnep in the Il~panmmt uf h e  Lnt~nur Kerd asened 11.11 
the rub&ws~on ucorhnp, to h e  Da!n$n!on Landr Swv ws be~ng ouse tn anuclpauun o f  IP olne uhco. lr a 
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10, vo~ .  3811. Me 55i5z-I. 
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around Battleford in 1888 also lent credence to the view that Reed wished to 
prevent Indian farmers From being able to compete with the local 

To enforce the policy, Indian agents were ordered to cancel any pending 
purchases of farm equipment or machinery and not to order any more. At 
Kahkewistahaw, where Indian farmers had already purchased tools and 
machinery themselves using their own money, they were to be denied per- 
mission to use them. Reserves across the prairies were med with anger, 
disappointment, and confusion, and official reports From this period often 
contain accounts of Indian farmers who, demoralized by the struggle or 
exhausted by the extra labour involved in bringing in their crops, simply gave 
up on farming.76 

The severalty and peasant farming policies were in effect From 1889 to 
1896. These policies curtailed and reversed the development of prairie 
Indian economies until Reed and his policies were ousted following the elec- 
tion of the Laurier government in 1896. By that point, however, the subdivi- 
sions that had been accomplished were useful to departmental officials, who 
were able to restrict Indians to the divided portions where agents could con- 
centrate them in smaller settlements and more effectively monitor reserve 
activities. In addition, Indians could also be prevented From using undivided 
reserve land in ways that the agents did not like.77 

Local Pressure to Surrender Crooked Lake Reserves 
The 1896 election saw Clifford Sifton appointed as Minister of the Interior 
and Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, the latter position equivalent to 
the current Minister of Indian Affairs. The Departments of the Interior and 
Indian Affairs were temporarily placed under a single deputy, and prairie 
Indian agencies were reorganized and downsi~ed.~~ Central control was 
increased and, because of S&n's lack of background in Indian Affairs and 
his "perspective that Indian assimilation in 'white' society took second place 

7 5  Seuler a~paat ion to Indian farmha reached such a pitch around Blttlefard hat s petition wu delivered to the 
lord ~ G b e r  of Rrl~amenl ln I@ Hayi~r Reed l s k p o f l ~ d  la haw p m d  lhil the Depurment 'Would do 
vhvhaleser u reasonaoly could la prornl ~ h c  inbm fmm erurmg lntu compeuuoo ulh h e  senlerr dunng lhc 
nr?<mt hard ume" . b h I c h a n  Her& October H. 1888 
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to rapid economic de~elopment,"'~ the primary focus of the combined 
department was to attract new settlers and to develop western Canada 
economically. 

As a result of Sifton's policies, so many immigrants flocked to western 
Canada that, in the 10 years from 1896 to 1905, the population grew by 
nearly one million. 

The Surrender Request of 1885 
Local pressure to open up the Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapawace 
reserves for settlement began as early as 1885, just a few years after these 
Bands had moved onto their lands on or near Crooked Lake. In a letter to 
Prime Minister Wilfrid Laurier and the Minister of the Interior, Thomas 
Evans, the local Justice of the Peace in nearby Broadview complained that 
"the Indian Reserve ought to be removed as soon and as speedily as the 
government can affect [sic] i t .  . . and so open up a large and fine tract of 
country for settlement, that is all, presently, worse than useless." Indian 
Commissioner Edgar Dewdney was asked to report on the matter, hut no 
immediate action was taken. 

The Request of I886 
Following a visit of the Minister of the Interior to the area in early 1886, the 
Deputy Minister of Interior wrote to the Deputy Superintendant General of 
Indian Affairs, Lawrence Vankoughnet, on March 4, 1886, stating that 

the settlers in the neighborhood of Moosomin brought to the Minister's attention the 
fact that the Indian Reserve in question lies immediately alongside of the Canadian 
Pacific Railway; that it would be desirable in the public interest and in the interest of 
the Indians themselves that they should be moved back six miles from the railway: 
that this object can be accomplished by giving to the Indians a greater frontage along 
the river, and that out of available land in that vicinity, which could be given them in a 
block, they could have this readjusunent of their reseme made so as to give to each 
member of the band an area not less man 160 acres. To this proposition, it was 
represented to the Minister, the Indians would be perfectly willing to agree, and as he 
is contldent that the public interest and the advantage of the Indians would be equally 
[unreadablel by some such arrangement 

79 John Leslie and Ron Maguire, eds., Th Hisioncal Ik~lopopmenr of tbs Indian Ad, Zd ed. (Otlama: Dm, 
Treaties and Historical Research Branch, 1978), 104. 
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1 am lo ask whether you do not agree with him in thinhg it expedient lo open 
negotiations with the Indians for the purpose of ascertaining their views.81 

In his reply, Indian Agent McDonald did not favour the proposal for an 
exchange and stressed the importance of the southern portion of the 
Crooked Lake reserves for haying purposes. Even if the Bands were given 
alternative lands farther north along the Qu'Appelle River to obtain their hay, 
"the Indians will be giving up far more valuable lands than they will be 
re~eiving."~~ Following a round of internal correspondence between Indian 
Affairs and Department of the Interior officials, Evans's proposal was ulti- 
mately rejected.83 

When the surrender proposal fell through, local residents sought road 
allowances through the reserves to provide access to the rapidly increasing 
settlements to the north. On August 13, 1889, the residents of Broadview and 
Whtewood signed a "Memorandum of acceptance of a conditional surrender 
of lands for road purposes by the Crooked Lake Indians," which apparently 
reflected an informal agreement between the local residents and the Indians 
for the construction of four roads through the re~erves.8~ In 1890, the 
Crooked Lake Bands, including Kahkewistahaw, surrendered the road 
allowances described in the Memorandum of Acceptance. The roads were 
ultimately transferred to the province, but it is not clear whether any com- 
pensation was paid for the surrendered lands?i 

The 1891 Petition 
Despite these surrenders of reserve lands to allow for the construction of 
roads, local interests were not appeased. In 1891, G .  Thorburn and a local 
committee presented a petition to the visiting Minister of the Interior on 
behalf of the residents of Broadview, Whitewood, and the surrounding area. 
The committee asked that the whole of Township 17 (in which the larger 
part of the Crooked Lake Agency was located) be opened up "in the interest 

hl $ M  Ru tu U?pun Hmw~l?~. l>rp~nn.nr  d ihe l~llcnar. 10 tdrar Utuonq, ionmtwnner. iJ,plnncni 1.1 
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of the Town, of the Canadian Pacific Railway, the settlement of the country 
and its general in tere~t ."~~ Again called upon to respond, McDonald repeated 
his earlier concern that the southern lands were needed for hay by the Indian 
farmers of Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapawace: 

The same objection to the relinquishment of part of Township 17 sW1 applies, viz. that 
the chief and best part of the Hay lands belonging to Bands Nos. 71,  72 & 73 are in 
the land referred to, and although I am most anrious that the views of the people 
of Broadvim should be met, still fmm my position as Indian Agent I am bound 
in the interests of the Indians to point out the dcfimlties in the way, which are 
terse& these. .these lands are sumndered by the Indians, no reasonable money 
value can recompense them, as their Hay lands would be completely gone, and 
this would necessitate no further inmase of stock, which would of course be 
fatal to theirfurther quick advancement, and wouM be dephmble, and tbe only 
alternative that I can see is to give than Hay lands of equal quantily and value 
immeaZ&& adjacent to the Resaves interested, which I do not think isposslhle 
now. . . . 

I f  it was contemplated by the Cornminee that waited upon you on the 26& ultimo to 
have the whole of Township 17 in Ranges 3, 4, 5 & part of 6 surrendered, I would 
beg to point out hat very little of the whole Reserve remains?' 

Once again, McDonald's views prevailed and the resolution was rejected by 
the De~artment.~ 

The 1899 Request 
It was not long, however, before yet another effort was made by the local 
settlers to have the Crooked Lake reserves reduced in size for the benefit of 
the adjacent non-Indian communjties. R.S. Lake, a member of the North-West 
Territories Legislative Assembly, made a direct appeal to Clifford S ion  in 
1899 on the grounds that Kahkewistahaw and the other Crooked lake Bands 
bad a large surplus of land according to the treaty formula of 1 square mile 
per family of five.89 S i o n  agreed to have the Department look into it so long 

86 Resolution presented by h e  ResldenLs of Broad*iew lo the Mlnisler d che interior, February 2, 1891, Nk 
RG 10, "01. 3732, fie 26623 (ICC Exhibit 14). 

87 A. McDonald. Indian Agent, to Superintendent Genenl 01 Indian LWn, March 10. 1891, M, RG 10, vol. 3732, 
Ne 26623 (ICC Documents, pp. 118.20). Emphasis added. 

88 [unknoml Omm la G. Thorburn. Braddew, April 16, 1891. N 4  RG 10. vol. 3732. 61e 26623 (ICC Dacu- 
menls. pp. 122-25). 

89 h a handwritten memorandum. US. Like stated chat Kahkewistahaw was entitled to 26 square miles, based on 
the Band's papulation. Mer the surrender of a proposed 25% square mile stnp, he r e m e d  thar the Band 
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as Lake understood "that it depended altogether on the consent of the 
Indians."W 

A.W. Ponton, a departmental surveyor, prepared a memorandum in 
response in which he recommended that the Indian Agent be instructed to try 
to obtain a surrender: 

Referring to Mr. bke's memorandum, re: the excess of land held by the Indians of 
reserves in the Crooked lake agency. . . l would say that Mr. lake's figures are cot- 
rect according to the census of 1898 and the excesses explained by the decrease in 
the numbers of the Indians of these reserves since the allotment was Erst made. When 
Agent A. McDonald reported (Annual Report 1882) "The area of each reserve has 
been dotted to each band in proportion to the pay sheets of 1879, the year in which 
the largest number of Indians were paid their annuity." 

I would strongly advocate the adoption of Mr. lake's suggestion, for the reason 
that the Indians are not benefited by the land, and while it remains tied up, settlement 
of the large agricultural district lying South of the Railway is prevented owing to the 
lack of market towns between Whitewood and Grenfell. . ?' 

However, the new Crooked Lake Indian Agent, J.P. Wright, saw things in 
much the same way as his predecessor. He is reported to have disagreed 
strongly with Ponton's suggestion because the lands in question were still 
being productively used as hay grounds by the Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, 
and Ochapawace Bands. He cautioned that "it would be unwise to ask them 
to make a surrender at this ti1ne."9~ S i o n  concurred and forwarded these 
views to Lake, who did not press the matter. 

Tbe 1902 Proposal and Petition 
Nonetheless, just three years later, in the winter of 1902, the new Indian 
agent, Magnus Begg, apparently did not share Wright's views and proposed 
that a much smaller portion of the reserves be removed, with the proceeds 
applied to debts incurred by the Indian farmers for machinery and equip- 
ment. Judging from what transpired later, it would appear that Begg had been 
discussing this matter with local settlers. His suggestion that a 3-mile strip 
along the southern boundary of the agency be surrendered was rejected by 
Indian Commissioner Laird, however, who reminded Begg that these were 

9a Clifford Slnon, Superintendent General of Indian Main, to J.A.J. McKenna. Department of Indian Main, Janu- 
ary 19, 1899, W RG LO, "01. 3732, We 26623 (ICC Documenu, p. 133). 

91 A.W. Ponton, Sumeyor, to J.A.J McKenna, Depamnent of Indian Aftairs, February 17, 1899, NA, RG 10, vol. 
3712. We 26623 (LCC Documenls. on. 136381. . . ~ ~  ~ ~ ~ , = =  

92 Dand Laird, Indian Commissioner, to &o;d sifton, Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, A p d  2, 1899. 
NA. RG 10, "01. 3732, file 26623 (ICC Documenu, pp. 142-43). 
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good hay lands and that " [w] here there are so many cattle (and the number 
ought to be increased) it would never do to have the Indians short of hay."gJ 

Shortly afterwards, in the spring of that same year, the residents of Broad- 
view, mtewood, and the surrounding district forwarded yet another petition 
to Clifford Sifton seeking the surrender of the same 3-mile strip to which 
Begg had referred. The petition contained a large number of signatures - 
more than 180 - from a broad spectrum of the community, including mem- 
bers of the Legislative Assembly, ministers, doctors, tradespeople, merchants, 
railway employees, teachers, postmasters, and several farmers. Given this 
political pressure, Sifton requested that the matter be looked into and that 
the petitioners be assured "that the Department will do its best to procure 
the consent of the Indians; and that an officer will be detailed for that 
purp0se."9~ 

Indian Commissioner Laird met with the Cowessess and Kahkewistahaw 
Bands on April 16 that year to discuss the matter with them. His subsequent 
report to headquarters noted that he "found the Indians strongly opposed to 
surrendering any portion of their reserves" and contained a verbatim extract 
of the speeches of some of the chiefs and headmen. Chief Kahkewistahaw 
himself, aging, blind, and in poor health, spoke in opposition to the pro- 
posed surrender, reminding Laird (who had signed Treaty 4 on behalf of the 
Crown) of the original treaty promises: 

I will teU you what 1 think. I was glad when I heard that you were coming to see us. 
When we made the treaty at Qu'AppeUe you told me to choose out hndjbr myself 
and now you come to speak to me here. We mre told to take this [and and we 
are going to keep it. Did I not tellyou a long time ago that you would come some 
time, that you would come and ask me to sellyou this [and back again, but I told 
you at that time, 

Laird's subsequent report to J.D. McLean, Secretary of the Department, 
aclcnowledged the force of the arguments advanced by the Indian speakers. 
Laird noted that "the best of their land is the part asked to be surrendered 

93 Dand Lard, Indian Camm~sslaner, lo lndtan Agent. Crooked Lake Agency. January 22, 1902, NA, RC 10, vol 
3561, 6le 8W4 (ICC Documents, pp 163-64) 
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RC 10, vol. 3732, file 26623 (ICC Dacumenrs, pp. 175-77). Chief Kahkeulslahaw's headman, Wahsacase, made 
a similar appeal lo Laird, stating, "I find thar my resewe is small enough." Emphasis added. 



and that the land farther north nearest the river "is gravelly and not well 
adapted for farming."% Pollowing this report, the question of a surrender was 
dropped. 

Tbe 1904 Request 
The respite was a brief one, however. Many residents of the area, apparently 
undeterred, individually wrote to Sifton to have the Crooked Lake reserves 
opened up for purchase by settlers. Bnally, in early 1904, Sifton responded 
by directing Assistant Indian Commissioner J.k McKema to look into the 
matter, but from the vantage point of "whether it would he desirable from 
an Indian standpoint and whether the Indians are Likely to agree to it."g7 
McKema subsequently reported that such a surrender would not be in the 
Indians' best interests, and he reiterated the points made both in 1902 and in 
previous years: 

I would point out that the Commissioner in his report of the 6th of May 1902 stated 
hat here was a good deal of force in the remarks of some of h e  Indians; that the 
best of the land in Reserves 71 & 72 was conlained in the part asked to be surren- 
dered; and that the best wood was also on the South of the Reserves. This being so it 
would not be advisable from an Indian standpoint, to dispose of the land." 

Noting that Commissioner Laird had relatively recently convened the Cowes- 
sess and Kahkewistahaw Bands for the purpose of discussing the proposed 
surrender, McKenna also advised against calling them together once more for 
this purpose, "for it might create the impression that the Department is act- 
ing for the settlers in the matter." He counselled caution and suggested that 
the local agent instead "inquire quietly a. to the mind of the Indians and 
report."" 

Mandated to make such an inquiry, Indian Agent Begg died before being 
able to carry it out. At the treaty annuity payments that year, the departmental 
officer in charge of the payments, Mr Lash, is reported to have explained to 
the assembled members of the Crooked Lake Bands "the benefit they would 
derive by surrendering a strip of the reserve and a portion of the proceeds 

96 David Laird. Indian Gommissiooer, to J.D. Mdean, Secretlty, Depawent of Indian Maim, May 6, 1902, NA, 
RG 10, val. 3732. Me 26623 (ICC Documents, pp. 175-77). 

97 CIiEord Sillon, Superintendent General of lndian Anain, to Frank Pedlqi, Uepuy Superintendent General of 
Indian Main, March 8, 1904, NA, RG 10, vol. 3732, file 26623 (ICC Documents, p. 197). Emphasis added 

98 J.A. McKenn% A s i ~ l m t  Indim Cormnnsimer, lo Secretary Department of Indian Main, March 19. 1904. NA, 
RG 10. vol. 3712. 6le 26621 (ICC Documents. o 200). 

99 JA. ~ c ~ e n n a ,  .&ism lndi&'bmrmssioner. i d j . ~ .  ~ c ~ e a n ,  Secremq, De~epartmenl of lndivl &n, March 
19, 1904. NA, RG 10, 701. 3732, Me 26623 (ICC Documents, pp. 199-201). 
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received from the sale being used to fence the reserve." According to Com- 
missioner Laird, "[tlhe hdians appeared to appreciate the suggestion, but 
wanted time to think it over." Laird also suggested that, once Begg's replace- 
ment had been appointed, it might be opportune to make another approach 
to the Crooked Lake Bands armed with the authority to promise them "say 
10% of the proceeds of sale to be expended for their benefit in farming 
outfits and in a per capita payment in cash or for liquidation of debts." In the 
meantime, Laird advised "it would not be well to push the matter too 
hastily, as it is one that requires very careful 

Prelude to the Surrender: A New Attitude in the Department 
Nothing further was done that year or the next to follow up on Laird's sugges- 
tion. By I*, W i a m  Grahamto' had been promoted to Inspector of Indian 
Agencies in southern Saskatchewan, and Clifford Sifton had been replaced as 
Minister of the Interior and Superintendent General of Indian Affairs by Frank 
Oliver, a former editorial writer for the Edmonton BuUetin who had long 
campaigned to free up reserve land for settlement. 

Oliver's appointment in 1905 brought wholesale changes in the oEcial 
attitude of the Department towards the reserve land question. In response to 
an inquiry in the House of Commons by R.S. Laketoz about the proposed 
Crooked Lake surrenders, Oliver replied that "[tlhe case of the Broadview 
reserve is only one of many in the west, and it is no doubt a hardship to the 
surrounding country and to large business enterprises." He noted that "of 
course the interests of the people must come first and if it becomes a 
qtlestion between the Indians and the whites, the interests of the whites 
will have to be provided for."103 

Lao David Laird, indian Commissioner, to J.D. McLean, Secreiary, Depmnent of Indian Main, March 19, 1904, 
NA. RG 10, vol. 3732. Ue 26623 (ICC Documenls, pp. 207-081, 
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career and mentioned his accomphhmenLs in Parlrvnent on a number of occasions: Brian Titley. A N a m  
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103 Canada, House of Commons, Debates (March 30, 1906), 947-50. Emphasis added. 
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This attitude quickly pervaded the Department. In his annual report to the 
Minister for 1908, Deputy Superintendent General Frank Pedley conveyed a 
sirmlar philosophy: 

The large influx of settlement of recent years into the younger provinces has dictated a 
certain modi6cation of the department's policy with relation to the sale of Indians' 
lands. 

So long as no particular harm nor inconvenience accrued from the Indians' hold- 
ing vacant lands out of proportion to their requirements, and no profitable disposition 
thereof was possible, the department firmly opposed any attempt to induce them to 
divest themselves of any part of their reserves. 

Conditions, however, have changed and it is now recognized that where Indians 
are holding tracts of farming or timber lands beyond theit possible requirements and 
by so doing seriously impeding the growth of settlement, and there is such demand as 
to ensure profitable sale, the product of which can be invested for the benefit of the 
Indians and relieve pro tanto the country of the burden of their maintenance, it is in 
the best interests of all concerned to encourage such sales.'" 

In keeping with these sentiments, one year after his appointment Oliver 
sponsored an amendment to the Indian Act allowing up to 50 per cent of the 
proceeds of a surrender and sale to be distributed immediately to band 
memhers.105 Previously, the Indian Act had limited such cash distributions to 
10 per cent of the sale price, with the rest to be held in trust in a capital 
account for the band in question. Oliver was quite candid in explaining to the 
House of Commons his motivations for seeking the amendment: 

This 110 per cent cash distribution] we find in practice, is very little inducement to 
them to deal for their lands and we find that there is very considerable f iculiy in 
securing their assent to any surrender. Some week ago, when the House was consid- 
ering the estimates of the Indian Department, it was brought to the atlention of the 
House by several members, especially from the Northwes~ th there was a great and 
pressing need of effort being made to secure the utihtion of the large areas of land 
held by Indians in their reserves without these reserves being of any value to the 

104 Canada, Parliamenl, Sessional Pam.  1908, no. 27, "Annual Repon of Deputy Superintendent Geoed to 
Superintenden1 Gened. September 1, 1908." m. 

105 SC 1906, c. 20, s.  1 (amending s. 70 of tbe Ad). Royal Assent was given on July 13, 1906. This his not the only 
lndinn Ad amendment promoted by Oliver lo reduce in size or e l i m i i e  indim reserves. In 1911, ruo others 
were passed, together referred to by Iodians as the "Oliver An." The kt allowed public authorities to expro- 
priate reserve laod without the need of a surrender, Any com any, munidplliry, or other authority with s m -  
lory expropriation power w embled lo erpropriate resem !and$ %thou1 Governor io Council authorization 
so long as it was for he purpose of public works. The second dowed a judge to make a eoun order that a 
reserve Mlhin or adjoining a municipalility of a c e m h  size be mwed P I was "expedient' lo do so. There was 
no need for band consent or surrender before the entire reserve could be moved. $2 1911, c. 14, s. 1 and 2, 
respecli~eiy. 
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Indians and being a detriment to the settlers and to the prosperity and progress of the 
surrounding country'" 

The new provision proved its usefulness almost immediately, for the next 
year the Department was able to dispose of the longstanding and trouble- 
some issues associated with the St Peter's reserve in Manitoba. A series of 
doubtful land transactions involving settlers at St Peters since the 1870s 
culminated in several investigations and inquiries between 1878 and 1900, 
none of which resolved the competing claims to lands within the reserve 
boundaries. Finally, in September 1907, Deputy Superintendent General 
Pedley came to the reserve in person, reportedly carrying a briefcase con- 
taining $5000 in cash, and managed to get the desired surrender.'" The 
surrender document called for disbursement to the Band of 50 per cent of 
the proceeds of sale one year following the surrender.lOs Indian discontent 
surfaced later, however, and ultimately the surrender was attacked in Parlia- 
ment on the basis that "the methods employed by the government agent had 
been anything but creditable to the government."'" 

Inspector Graham seems to have been imbued with much the same spirit 
as Oliver, for he made it his business to follow up on laird's earlier sugges- 
tion that the possibility of a surrender at Crooked Lake be quietly investi- 
gated. In June 1906, he wrote directly to the Minister reporting on his recent 
visit to the agency, indicating the possibility of obtaining the desired 
surrenders: 

I am satisfied rhaf if this matter were handled promptly and on about the same lines 
as the Payuah's surrender was obtained, these Indians would consent to seU. In fact, 
I feel sure that if I had the papers and money with me when I was there I could have 
obtained the surrender. . . . 

. . . The trouble in lhepust has been due lo the fact that too many people have 
been hbbling in the matter The people in the adjacent towns are keen for the 
surrender, and as a result, the Town Council, the Board of Trade and individuals have 
been ralldng to the leading Indians, and they now have all kinds of ideas of their 
needs. In my opinion, the matter should be handhd by our own people, m'lhout 
the knowledge of the outsiak public, as was done at Pasquah's. . . . 

lffi Frank O k r ,  House of Comaom, dsbdfes Uune IS. 1906). 5422. 
107 Brim Title,. A No- Vision: Duncan Cnm~bsll Scoll ond lbs Adminislmtia oflndion Affain m C a d  

(~aneouvk: UBC Press. 1986). 22. 
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. . .As his is a large deal it would be necessary to have the maner thoroughly 
decided upon before the proposition is put to the Indians, because it would have a 
bad effect if the Department had to go back to them with a second proposition. 
Outsiders would interfeere in the i n t d  as in the past. I f  a little latitude were 
given to the Officer taking the surrender, he could perhaps meet any smatl requst, 
that would come from the Indians at the meeting.'I0 

Moreover, Graham thought it could be done with an inducement of one-tenth 
of the proceeds of sale. 

In response, Oliver ordered the Deputy Superintendent General to have "a 
proper basis for the surrender" prepared.ll1 and Secretarv McLean asked 
~rabam how much land ought to be surrendered.llz ~ r aham '~ ro~osed  a total 
of 90.240 acres - including 32.640 acres from Kahkewistahaw, 36.480 acres 
frok~owessess, and 21,lio acres from Ochapowace - and iecdmmended 
the following course of action: 

The Department are [sic] aware that several futile attempts have been made to get this 
surrender. 1 am of the opinion however, that it can be obtained if handled judiciously. 
The money for h e  Erst payment should be on hand the day the meeting asking for the 
surrender is held, and the whole matter should be handled with dispatch.") 

The necessary authority was then provided to Graham and the surrender 
forms and a cheque for the required cash were forwarded to him in early 
October 1906.114 According to the surrender documents, Graham was to seek 
a surrender of 33,281 acres of Kahkewistahaw's reserve. This amount was 
apparently calculated to leave the Band with almost exactly 160 acres per 
person for each of its 84 members.115 Disease, deprivation, and starvation 
had contributed to reducing the size of the Band from the population of 
approximately 365 for which 128 acres per person had been surveyed at the 
time the reserves were created. Graham advised that he would proceed to 

1 1 "  U'M Gmhdm. Impenor lndlan y+nrnpr, Dep~ntn~nl ,rl Inban .lhn. IJ F ~ n d  Okrr. Supznn~rnd~a Gen- 
rnl of lodlan Mars. June 19, 19%. NI. RI; I0 !ol 3'32. file 264~21 IIU: DxumznL<, pp 2 3 1 - i i .  Vole lhrl 
the lndwn Acl h2J not sn hem xacnded lo allow (11 ,  i u  urr :<nt ca<h bsmot~uor incnuot~ctl abrsr O n p l ~ ~ .  
ris added. 
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cies, Deprmenl of Indian Main, October 3, 1906, NA, RG LO, 701. 3732. He 26623 (ICC Documen&, p. 252). 

I t 5  Submissiom on Behalf of the Government of Canada, Janulry 26. 1996, p. 12. 
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Crooked Lake as soon as he had dealt with the remaining obligations related 
to the surrender at the Pasqua reserve. "[Iln the meantime," he added, "I do 
not consider that a delay wiU have any prejudicial effect on the proposition, 
in fact, I think it will have a contrary effect."l16 

As later events demonstrated, Graham's assessment was an accurate one. 
He did not visit the Crooked Lake Agency until January 1907, in the middle of 
the winter when illness and the need for rations would be intensitled among 
the Crooked Lake Bands. The testimony of many of the elders from Crooked 
Lake seemed to bear this assessment 

Graham's mission was no doubt materially assisted as well by the deaths of 
Chief Kahkewistahaw and headmen Wasacase and Louison before the annuity 
payments in 1906. It was not uncommon in the years following the Riel 
Rebellion in 1885 for Canada to remove "unprogressive" Indian leaders or to 
fail to replace deceased Chiefs, so that Cree bands would be kept leaderless 
and incapable of hostile action against Canada. This policy was maintained 
for some time to ensure that only candidates acceptable to the Department 
became leaders, and thereby to assure the smooth implementation of govern- 
ment policies. Although Kahkewistahaw's support of Canada during the rebel- 
lion was considered exemplary, he and his headmen were also an impedi- 
ment to obtaining a surrender of the reserve. Despite requests by Band 
members, Kahkewistahaw and his headmen were not replaced until 1911. As 
a result, the Band faced the prospect of a surrender vote without the Chief 
who had so forcefully refused to surrender any part of IR 72 in previous 
years and without the benefit of a new Chief to succeed him. It is worth 
noting that, subsequent to the 1907 surrender, Joe Louison (one of the men 
who opposed the surrender) was elected Chief of the Kahkewistahaw Band. 

The 1907 Surrender Meetings 
The law governing reserve land surrenders at that time was set out in the 
1906 version of the Indian Act, which stated that no surrender was valid 
unless "assented to by a majority of the male members of the band of the full 
age of twenty-one years, at a meeting or council therefor summoned for that 
purpose." In addition, any surrender assented to in this manner had to be 
placed before a judge to be "certified on oath by the Superintendent General, 

116 W.M. Graham, mpeeor, Indian hgencies, D e p m e n l  of Indian Ahin, to Secremy, Department of indian 
Hairs, October 3, 1906, N& RG 10, MI. 3732. file 26623 (ICC Donunenls, pp. 253.54). 

117 ICC Tmxrip t ,  May 3, 1995, pp. 34, 36-37, and 58 (Joseph Crowel; ICC Transcript, M y  3. 1995, p. 76 
(Ernest Bob), regarding the suffering of h e  peaple due lo illnes and hunger. 
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or by the officer authorized by him to attend such council or meeting, and by 
some of the chiefs or principal men present thereat and entitled to vote.""8 

In early December 1906 before going to the Crooked Lake Agency, Gra- 
ham took the precaution of writing to headquarters to ensure that the second 
payment called for in the Pasqua surrender agreement would be paid out to 
the Band members. His reasoning was that the Crooked Lake Bands might he 
more willing to make the surrenders requested if they knew that their 
neighbours on the Pasqua reserve bad received the full 10 per cent of the 
proceeds of sale promised to thern.I19 

On January 21, 1907, Graham set out to obtain surrenders from the three 
Crooked Lake Bands. Before going to the Kahkewistahaw reserve, Graham 
visited Cowessess to discuss a surrender proposal. The next day, be travelled 
to Ochapawace, where he tried to obtain a surrender on the spot, but he was 
rebusfed by a vote of 16 against and only 4 in favour.1z0 From Ochapawace he 
went on to Kahkewistahaw, arriving on January 23, 1907. 

Departmental statistics prepared in anticipation of the Kahkewistahaw sur- 
render meeting indicated that the Band had a population of 84 persons, only 
19 of whom were men over 21 years of age.'" An analysis of the paylist 
information from 1906 and 1907, however, suggests that there were as many 
as 25 to 28 members of the Band who were eligible to vote.lZz As it turned 
out, 19 eligible male voters assembled for the January 23 surrender meeting 
at McKay's Mission Church on the reserve. Si other persons were present, 
including Graham, Indian Agent Matthew Millar, interpreter Peter Hourie, 
and three others - Mr Sworder, Mr Nichols, and Mr Sutherland. 

There is no written record of the meeting other than the Minutes drawn 
up by MiUar. They state that "Mr. Inspector Graham. . . very fully and at 
length explained the terms of the proposed surrender pointing out its mean- 
ing to the Indians asking them as intelligent men to very carefully consider 
the proposal and to act by their vote according to the decision which each 
one may come to."lz3 The vote was then taken, and the proposed surrender 
was rejected by a vote of 14 to 5.  

118 id ton  Art RFT 19M r R I  s do ~~ ~ . , ., 
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What happened next is not entirely clear. In a reporting letter to head- 
quarters written several weeks later, Graham stated that "[als soon as this 
meeting was over, the Indians held meetings among themselves and a deputa- 
tion came to see me asking for another regular meeting."lZ4 Miir ' s  version 
was similar, noting that "some of them had not fully understood the condi- 
tions and now wished to reverse their vote."125 

There is no other documentary evidence indicating why the voting mem- 
bers of the Kahkewistahaw Band suddenly indicated a willingness to reverse 
their position after an already lengthy meeting at which the surrender had 
been discussed for at least two hours and following several years of petitions 
during which talk of a proposed surrender had been in the air. The accounts 
offered by Graham and Millar are evidently incomplete. Moreover, Millar's 
report one week later that the assembled members did not "fully understand 
the conditions," realizing this only after the actual vote had been taken, con- 
tradicts his earlier account in the Minutes of January 23 that Graham had 
"very fully and at length explained the terms of the proposed surrender." 

The elders interviewed during the course of our inquiry related what they 
had heard from their parents and others who knew of those events. In keep- 
ing with the more general history outlined earlier in this report, they spoke 
of the Band's total lack of leadership,lZ6 with the result that "they had total 
control over us at all times,"127 to such an extent that departmental officals 
"made our people surrender"lzs and "forced us to sell our land."129 They 
described the view at the time that the Band had little real choice because of 
the privation and suffering being experienced due to disease and hunger.130 
Regarding the actual surrender meeting, M e ~ n  Bob recounted that "they 
were told if they disagreed with anythmg that they would get no more help, so 
this is what my dad used to tell me."I3l 

I24  W.M. Graham, Inspector, Indian Agencies, D e p m e n t  of Indian &n, to Secretav, Department of hdian 
Hain, PebmaI-9 12, 1907, Nh, RG 10, ml. 3732, Uile 26623 (ICC Documents, pp. 277.80). 

I25 Matthew MUar, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Agenq, Minutes of Surrender Meeting, January 28, 1907 (ICC 
Documents, pp. 267-68). 
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128 lCC Transcript, May 3, 1995, p. 23 (Mervin Bob). 
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these h h s  were having a hard time to make a living, eh. . /. ICC Transcrip~, May 3. 1995, p 76. 

131 ICC Transcript. May 3, 1995, p, z l (Men in  Bob). 
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A second vote was held the following week on January 28 at the same 
location. TRis time, 17 voting members of the Band were present along with 
Graham, Milla, and most of the other witnesses who had been present the 
week earlier.l3% the only Minutes on record of this second meeting, Millar 
stated that the meeting was "in response to a letter signed by a number of the 
voting members of the Band and addressed to Mr. Inspector Graham asking 
him to hold another meeting."l33 The letter to which Millar referred has 
never been found. Millar also recorded that "Mr. Inspector Graham again 
fully explained the terms of the proposed surrender after which they replied 
that they were ready to vote."lS4 

This time Graham prevaded: the surrender proposal was accepted by a 
vote of 11 to 6.L35 m a r ' s  Minutes do not indicate how long Graham spoke 
or whether the meeting was a lengthy one, hut they give the general impres- 
sion that the 17 Band members arrived with their minds more or less made 
up. Graham's later report paints a different picture, however, noting that it 
was only "after a great deal of talk [that] they Enally agreed to ~urrender."l3~ 

The surrender document was in the standard form for the period, stating 
that the moneys were to be paid in the usual way "after deducting the usual 
proportion for expenses and management." Further stipulations provided that 
payment of one-twentieth of the estimated purchase price was to made imme- 
diately, with a further one-twentieth to be paid upon sale; the owners of 
improvements and buildings were to he compensated for them; the shares of 
minors between 12 and 18 were to be protected; and the land was to be sold 
at public auction. AU 17 of the voters in attendance or &ed their marks to 
the surrender doc~ment.'3~ 

Following these formalities, Graham remained for several hours distribut- 
ing the promised one-twentieth of the estimated purchase price - $94.00 per 
person, a considerable sum of money at that time. The next day, January 29, 
Graham returned to Cowessess, where he obtained a surrender on terms 

132 A comparison of the wkrs from the tmo meetings shows that two of those who had onginally voted in fmur of 
the h l  surrender did not attend the second meeting. Peter Hautie, the original translator, was absen(, rephced 
h" Hlrm rgmpmn -, ..-.> 

133 Manhw M k ,  Indian Agent, Crooked llke Agency, Minules of Surrender Meeting, January 28. 1907 (ICC 
Documens. pp. 267-68) 

134 Manhew M k ,  lndian &ent. Crooked Lake kenw. Minules of Surrender Meem, Ianum 28. 1907 (IU: " .. , . . . 
Documents. pp: 267-68)." 

131 Malhew M k ,  Indian Agent, Crooked Llke Agency, Minules of Surrender Meeting, January 28, 1907 (102 
Dootmenn. nn 267.68) - ~ . r s  

136 W.M. Graham, Inspeaor, lndiao Agencies, Depamenl of Indian Atbin, la Secretary, D e p m e n r  of indian 
Main, February 12, 1907, Nh, RG LO, val. 3732, Ole 26623 (ICC Docmenu, pp. 277-80). 

137 Surrender of the Kahkemstahm Bvld to the Crow, January 28, 1907. Order in Cound PC No. 410, March 4. 
1907 (ICC Documens, pp. 270-72). 
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similar to those offered at Kahkewistahaw (except that the initial payout was 
one-tenth of the estimated purchase price, or twice the rate paid at Kahkewis- 
tahaw).'M The surrender vote at Cowessess was close - 15 for and 14 against 
- although Graham managed to get 22 to sign or attach their marks to the 
actual surrender document. As at Kahkewistahaw, Graham distributed the 
promised cash before leaving.'39 

After concluding this part of his business at Crooked lake, Graham went 
on to Moosomin on February 2, 1907, accompanied by representatives of the 
two surrendering bands for the purpose of swearing the certificates required 
under the Indian Act. Cowessess Chief Joe LeRat refused for some reason to 
attend, so Graham brought Alex Gaddie, the Band member who had acted as 
interpreter during the Cowessess surrender meeting.14" Since Kahkewistahaw 
was without the "chiefs or principal men" required by the Indian Act to 
swear an affidavit certlfylng the surrender, Graham brought an ordinary Band 
member, Kahkanowenapew, one of those who had voted for the surrender. 
The certificate in the form of an affidavit was sworn before Mr Justice E.L. 
Wetmore of the Supreme Court of the North-West Territories. However, since 
Kahkanowenapew was neither a Chief nor a principal man, it was necessary 
to cross out the pre-printed word "Chief" in two places on the standard form 
&davit and write in its place the word "Indian." Alex Gaddie translated the 
affidavit for Kahkan~wenapew.~~~ 

Graham then returned to Ochapawace, where he once again attempted to 
obtain a surrender, this time offering "inducements . . . nearly three times as 
great as those offered Cowessess Band."14' Nevertheless, Ochapawace 
rejected the proposal by a vote of 19 to 5. Undaunted, Graham revised the 
proposal, seeking a lesser amount of land but offering a larger cash payout 
on surrender. This time the rejection was unanim0us.~~3 At this point, Gra- 
ham finally gave up and left. Despite these setbacks, he was confident that 
once Ochapawace was able to assess what Cowessess and Kahkewistahaw 

138 The surrender meeting is described in Ken Tyler. "A History of !he Cowessess Band." raearch paper prepared 
for !he Fededon o f  S a s k a t c h m  Indians. 1975, p p  108.15, Tyler's conclusion is that this surrender was . . 
questionable owing lo a number of irregularities. 

139 W.M. Graham, Inspector, Indian Agencies, Depament of lndian A8drs. to Secrelary, Depvrmenl of lndian 
Mdm, F e b m q  12, 1907, Nh, RG 10, vol. 3732, me 26623 (ICC Documents, pp. 277-80). 

140 Ken Tvler. "A Historv of lhe Cowasess Band." research oaper prepared for the Federatton of Saskatchewt . .  . . 
lndians, 1975, p, li6. 

141 Afidavit of Kahkanowenapew, February 2, 1907, Order in Council PC No. 410, March 4, 1907 (1CC Documents, 
p. 273). 

142 W.M. Graham, Inspector, lndian Agencies, Depament of lndian Maim, la Secrelary, Depvrment of Indian 
Hairs, Feb ruq  12, 1907, NA, RG 10, val. 3732, file 26623 (ICC Documents. pp. 277-80). 

143 The surrender meetings are described in John L. Tobias, 'The Ochapawace Band: research paper prepared lor 
the Federation of Saskatchewan Indians. 1974, pp. 22-23. 
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were able to do with their money, "they d fall into he."144 Graham 
returned to Ochapawace in June 1919 when the Band had no leadership and 
managed to obtain the long-sought surrender in exchange for a cash payment 
of $110 to each Band member, in accordance with Oliver's 1906 Indinn Act 
amendment.145 

The two 1907 surrenders made a total of 53,985 acres of land available 
for sale.ld From nearly 50,000 acres of reserve land, Cowessess was left with 
fewer than 30,000 acres. With the surrender of 33,281 acres of land, the 
46,720 acres possessed by Kahkewistahaw in IR 72 fell to little more than 
13,000 acres. Years later, after the Ochapawace surrender in 1919, its over- 
all holdings fell from over 50,000 to fewer than 35,000 acres. In terms of 
percentages, Ocbapawace lost nearly 35 per cent and Cowessess lost almost 
42 per cent of their respective original reserve acreages. Kahkewistahaw's 
proportionate loss was much higher - more than 70 per cent.I4' In all three 
cases, it was the southern portions of the reserves, with their more valuable 
hay lands and woodlots, that were lost. 

Once all the details of the Cowessess and Kahkewistahaw surrenders had 
been dealt with, Graham wrote a long reporting letter to Secretary McLean, 
enclosing the surrender documents with the expressed hope "that you will be 
pleased with what has been done." There is no indication in any of the offi- 
cial correspondence that any attempt was made to ascertain whether, as 
Sion had earlier put it, "it would be desirable from an Indian standpoint" to 
make a surrender. The focus seemed to be entirely on the advantages to the 
settlers in the area: 

I may add in conclusion that the people of Broadview, Grenfel [sic] and adjacent 
county are delighted with the prospect of having this country thrown on the market. 
As you are aware this land lying idle has been a great drawback to these towns and 
they have been tying for years to bring about a surrender.lm 

1 .. 9 cl Grdhun, ImpPrtnr In t ~ n  qtnc.~, ,  I J ~ p l r u n ~ l l l  .f lntitm UTanun, tc. irrrctan.. Orplrul.vnl .f blam 
I h r , ,  hbrunm I ? ,  1%'. \.< HC 10 tvl 1-i?, ~IIP  26623 t lCC Docunxna, pp 2" 811, 

I .c John I Tobus ' 7 h p  drhapauaw Hand.' rcr.lr:h paper p r v y l r c l  i.r ihc lcdcnlmn bf .I(r\karilru.ln inbmr. 
,.I-> ,, !< . , , . , p  ",. 

146 W.M. Graham, Inspeclor, lndian Agencies, Depamenr of Indim Hain, to Secretary, D e p m e n t  of lndlan 
Hain, Febmvy 12, 1907, NA, RG LO, vol. 3732, f ie  26623 (ICC Documen&, pp. 277-80). 

147 These calculations are based an he original and 1928 acreage figures provided in Sarah Caner, h s l  HamsIs: 
Pmirie lndian Resem F a m s  and Government P o l e  (Montreal znd Kingston: McGU-Queen's University 
Press, 1990), 263. 

146 W.M. Graham, Inspector, lndian Agencies. Depament of Indian &n, la Secretary, Depament of lndian 
AEain, February 12, 1907, NA, RG 10, vol. 3732, Tie 26623 (ICC Documents, pp. 277-80). 



After the Surrender 
One week after Graham's reporting letter to Secretary McLean, the President 
and the Secretary of the Broadview Board of Trade wrote directly to Minister 
Oliver to convey their appreciation for what "has been accomplished by the 
unceasing efforts of the Indian Department under your able direction," and 
to praise Indian Agent Millar and Inspector Graham for their senices in 
bringing about the surrenders.149 The surrender was submitted to the Gover- 
nor in Council on February 26 that year and approved on March 4.L50 Just 
over a year later Oliver recommended to the Governor in Council that Gra- 
ham receive a substantial raise in pay because, aside from managing his 
inspectorate, he "so satisfactorily furthered the wishes of the Department in 
connection with land matters" by obtaining these (and other) surrender~.~5l 

The Crooked Lake lands were sold in two stages. The first sale occurred 
on November 25, 1908, under Graham's direction. The conditions of sale 
required that one-tenth of the amount bid and accepted be paid in cash at 
the time, with the rest to be paid in nine equal annual instalments, and inter- 
est on any outstanding balance to be payable at the rate of 5 per cent inter- 
est. Out of 322 parcels of land offered, 199 were sold at an average price of 
$7.15 per acre. Kahkewistahaw land accounted for $120,039.37 of the over- 
all amount of $229,177.20 bid. Both Millar and Harry Cameron, the trans- 
lator at the January 28 surrender meeting, purchased land. From these pro- 
ceeds, a second payment of $94.00 was made to each member of the 
Kahkewistahaw Band in February 1/09, and Millar was encouraged to induce 
Band members "to pay their debts with this m0ney."l5~ 

The second sale took place nearly two years later on June 15, 1910, and 
all but three quarter sections offered were sold. This time the land sold for 
an average price of $9.93 per acre. The few parcels that remained unsold or 
on which the purchasers defaulted were disposed of following the end of the 
First World War through the Soldier Settlement Board.ll3 No evidence was 
brought before the Commission to suggest that any further payments on 
account of principal were made to members of the Band beyond the two 

I49 Broadview Board of Tnde to Frank Oliver, Minister of the interior, February 19, 1907, NA, RG LO, val. 3732, 
Gle 26623 (ICC Documents, p. 281). 

I50 Order in Council PC No. 410, March 4, I907 (ICC Documen&. p. 286). 
151 Submvzjon lo rhe Governor h Council by Frank Oliver. Superintendenl General of Indian AEdrs, April 8, 1908. 

NA, RG 10, vol. 1127, Me 639 (1% Documents, pp. 327-28). 
I t 2  Secreta~, Depament of Indian AU&, to M. Miar, l n h  Agent, February 19, 1909, Nh RG 10, vol. 3732, 

Gle 26623.1 (ICC Documen&, p. 388). 
I53 The sales are dexribed in Ken Wer. "Government of C d a  and Kahkewistahav Band," u n h d ,  pp. 89-91 

(ICC Exhibit 18). 



one-twentieth instalments of $94.00 per person. However, it does appear that 
the balance was initially invested on behalf of the Band and that interest 
payments were made to the Band for at least those few years following the 
surrender for which the reports of the Indian Agent are before us. In 1910, 
the interest payment was forwarded to Millar with these instructions: 

Enclosed also is a cheque no. 5449 for $1 176.00 for distribution to Kakewisrahaw's 
Band on account of Interest Funds at their credit. Care should be taken that the 
Indians spend this money judiciously in paying their dehts and in purchasing neces- 
sary supplies, seed, etc. Where there are old people dependent on the Dept. their 
money should be retained by you and expended monthly as required in supplies such 
as food, clothing, comfotts, etc. This is not the Eull amount of interest at the credit of 
this Band hut it is a substantial payment on account thereof and all that it is consid- 
ered in the interests of the Indians to pay them at present The balance will remain at 
their credit & be available to meet other requirements of the Band.'i4 

In the Annual Reports submitted by Indian Agent Millar from 1909 to 1913, 
the apparent benefits of the these annual distributions of interest were 
described in glowing terms. In 1910, Millar stated: 

The conditions under which this band live in regard to dwellings, food and clothing, 
have steadily improved. In my opinion this is largely the result of the use made of 
their income from interest accruing fmm surrendered land. Especially useful is this 
income to old people who have no means of making their own living. . . . 

In March payment of interest money fmm land fund was made to Cowessess and 
Xahkewistahaw bands. These payments came most opportunely at a season of the year 
when most needed., these payments enable the Indians to settle their dehts and pro- 
vide many useful supplies; they are especially useful in assisting b e  old pe~ple.'~' 

The following year, Millar reported: 

The interest acctuing ftom surrendered land pmvides for the old people many luxu- 
ries that they could not athehenvise oblain. . . . 

Three out of the four bands in this agency have a land h d  ftom which interest 
payments were made in March. These payments came very useful after so severe a 
winter, enabling the Indians to provide much of the necessary supplies for spring 
work. While some of this money is foolishly expended, still on the whole it does much 

- ~p 

I54 Secretary, Depament of Indian Maim, to M. Mfiu, Indim Agent, February 10, 1910, NA, RC 10, vol. 3732, 
fde 26623-1 (IS Documents, p. 406). 

155 Marthew Mill=, Indian Agenf to Frank Pedlqi. Deputy Superintendent General of Indim Maim. May 18, 1910, 
Canada. FWLament, SsssionrJ Papers, 1911, ''Annual Repon of the Department of Indian AtIairs." 1910, 127 
(ICC Documens, p. 410). 
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good, especially for the old and helpless people, and (he system of holding the capital 
intact and distributing the interest is a good one.Is6 

The reports from the following two years were in much the same vein.lj7 
In his report entitled "The Government of Canada and Kahkewistahaw 

Band," Ken Tyler balanced Millar's comments with some of the drawbacks of 
the surrender: 

Indian Agent Manhew W a r  repeatedly stressed the benefits of these interest pay- 
ments, recounting how they helped the Band members pay off their debts in the 
spring, or how they helped the old people purchase a few necessities, or even luxu- 
ries, now and again. He did not pay the same attention to the hardships which the 
surrender [had] brought about. Early [in] 1908, he did acknowledge that, "most of 
the Indians who farm on this reserve (Kahkewislahaw's) were required to establish 
new places this year, their old holdings being within the surrendered area." Two 
years later he made passing reference to another hardship which the surrender had 
imposed upon the Mewisfahaw Band, when he noted that because of the scarcity of 
hay, the canle herds had had to he reduced.Is8 

By 1914, the new Indian Agent for the Crooked Lake Agency, E. Taylor, 
reported that many of the Indians within the agency appeared to have lost 
their interest and ambition: 

Cattle. - . . . Very few of the Indians have my desire to increase their small herds 
of cattle, and this is most regrettable, as cattle-raising would he far more profitable 
and satisfactory with many of them than grain-growing. 

Characteristics and Progress. - Owing to tribal customs, the progress in his 
agency is slow. The younger generation of the Kahkewislahaw band are disappointing 
and appear to rely to a great extent on interest money from surrendered land as a 
chief support, and they dislike to take advi~e.''~ 

Within the same time frame, Indian discontent surfaced in the form of a 
treaty revival movement, which culminated in the creation of treaty discussion 

156 M. Mdlar. Indian Agent, to Frank Pedley, Deputy Supeatendent General 01 hdian &Tails, May 18, 1911, 
Canada, P a r h e n t ,  Sessional Papaw, 1912, "Annual Repan of the Depament of lndlan Main," 1911, 137 
(ICC Documents, p. 423), 

157 W. lsicl M&, Indian Agent, to Frank Pedley, Depury Superintendent General of Indian AEain, May 26, 1912, 
Canada, PK!iament, Sessiod Papm, 1913, "Annual Report of the Depanment of Indian AK2irs.'' 1912. 141 
(ICC Documents, p. 428); M. Millar, hdim Agent, to Frank Pedley, Deputy Superintendent General of Indian 
AEairs, June 3. 1913, Canada, Parliament, SessiomIPapers. 1914, "Annual Repon of the Depanmenl of Indian 
Mairs; 1913, 137 (ICC Documents. p. 423). 

I58 Ken Tyfer, 'Cowmment of Canada and Xlhk&haw Band," undated, p. 92 (ICC Exhibit 18). 
159 E. Taylor, Indian Agent, undated, Canada. Parliament, Sessional Papers. 1915, "i\nnual Repon of the Depan- 

men1 of Indian &rs,'' 1914, 58 (ICC Documenu. p. 437). 



K A H K E W I S T A H A W  F I R S T  NATION 1907 S U R R E N D E R  INQUIRY R E P O R T  

groups among the Crooked Lake Bands. This movement, which originated at 
a meeting in June 1910 on the Cowessess reserve, had the twin goals of 
restoring Crooked Lake treaty rights and rechijxng the various problems that 
had arisen over the years, including those associated with the surrenders. 
Louis O'Soup, formerly a prominent farmer on the Cowessess reserve, had by 
then returned from Manitoba and soon became one of the movement's most 
intluential leaders. Isaac and Kahkanowenapew were the initial Kahkewis- 
tahaw representatives. The meetings continued into the winter and spring of 
1911, and only the older men who could remember the treaty promises were 
allowed to take part. By then, Alec and Mesahcamapeness (and possibly 
others) bad also become active participants on behalf of the Kahkewistahaw 
Band. Before long, the participating members of the Crooked Lake Bands 
were joined by representatives of other reserves in the region. 

Ultimately, messengers were sent to the Moose Mountain, Pelly, 
Qu'AppeUe, and Touchwood agencies to invite further representation, with 
the goal of sending a delegation to Ottawa. Money was donated by Band 
members, with those who could not afford to make the trip composing letters 
to be taken by those who could. Kahkanowenapew was chosen to represent 
the Kahkewistahaw Band. 

Early in 1911, nine men representing seven different bands journeyed to 
Ottawa, where they had a number of meetings with department officials, 
including Frank Oliver, between January 24 and 28. One of Kahka- 
nowenapew's primary demands on behalf of Kahkewistahaw was that the 
Band be permitted to conduct elections for a chief and counciUors. Another 
was that the Indian Agent no longer be allowed to withhold moneys due to 
the Band and to apply them to whatever debts may have been owed by mem- 
bers to creditors. Kahkanowenapew also raised the promises, which had 
been made by Graham at the time of taking the surrender in 1907, that the 
Kahkewistahaw Band would be able to make a living from the proceeds of 
the sale. Although it is unclear whether he challenged the surrender or 
reproved Graham or the Department for taking it, Kahkanowenapew did 
stress that life was still very hard for Band members, and urged that all the 
interest moneys due to them from the sale of their lands be paid as soon as 
possible. At the end of this round of meetings, Oliver promised that 
Kahkewistahaw would be allowed a chief and one councillor, that the annual 
interest payments due to Band members would be doubled, and that the 
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Agent would not in Future be permitted to withhold their money and apply it 
to their debts.'" 

Nevertheless, the federal government's policy of seeking surrenders con- 
tinued. During the Eirst World War, Indian lands remained targeted, although 
less for new settlement than for increased production to sustain the war 
effort. Following the war, the "greater production" program was retained and 
made even more comprehensive, with former Inspector W i a m  Graham ele- 
vated to the position of Indian Commissioner to oversee its implementation. 
Graham was evidently enthusiastic in his approach, and, in 1920, Saskatche- 
wan Bishop J.A. Newnham complained to D.C. Scott, the Deputy Superinten- 
dent General of Indian Affairs: 

You will remember that I am in correspondence with you, & with the Sask Prov. 
Government about a scheme for the Sioux Band on the Round Lake Reserve. Now they 
have come to me in distress as they say that your Commissioner at Regina, Wm. 
Graham, who has "greater production" on the brain, is intending & hoping to transfer 
them to some Sioux Reserve near Dundurn & hand their Reserve over to Soldier 
Settlement, or some such thing. 1 beg to endorse their protest most heartily, &to urge 
that nothing of the sort be done. They are, though left alone by us & still pagans, a 
very respectable band: steady and industrious. They have been on that Reserve, or in 
that district for about 50 years, most of them, perhaps, have been born there, & they 
love their home. The I.D. [Indian Depanmentl is supposed to be anxious to have the 
Indians take greater interest in fanning, & to complain that they do not farm more. 
Surely to seize all the best of the farming land in one reserve after another is not the 
way to encourage them to be fanners? But this seems to be Mr. Graham's method 
lately; & I fear he has somehow gained the ear & the favour of the I.D. at Ottawa. He 
would not be in such high favour if you could hear bow the Indians &the best Indian 
Agenu speak of him. It is easy to make a reputation for success in one particular h e  
of work, if you determine to sacrifice a l l  other lines for that one. Mr. Graham may get 
the praise for "greater production", but it is the poor Indians who make the sacrifice. 
Greater production is good & to be sought - in a just & honest way - but it is not the 
whole of statesmanship. Nearly all our Indian work is s u E e ~ g  here because he 
seems to have eyes & ears & enthusiasm only for greater production. 1 trust you will 
be able to comfort these Sioux, & allay their fears, & also to see that Mr. Graham 
realises that his Grst job is that of "Indian Commissioner.""' 

In later years, at least one of Canada's own officials came to question the 
wisdom of the Crown's earlier surrender policy. J.C. CaldweU, Chief of the 

160 The discussions in Otrawa are described m "Notes of Representations Made by a Delegat~on of lndlans from he 
WesS" Januiuy 24, 1911, NA, RG 10, vol. 4053, Gle 379203.2. 

161 ]A. Nwmham, Bishop of Saskarchewan, to D.C. Scott. Deputy Superintendent Generai of Indian Maim, Febmiuy 
lo. 1920 (ICC Documem, pp 445-46). 
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Reserves Division, commented in 1939 that "[iln the past I believe we have 
rather unwisely given consent to the surrender of Indian lands, when as a 
matter of fact, having in mind future development and requirements, such 
lands should have been rerained for Indian 

The record before the Commission in this inquiry is virtually bare for 
almost 70 years from the end of the First World War until the First Nation's 
claim was submitted to Canada in 1989. We have no indication whether the 
annual payments of accrued interest on the proceeds from the surrendered 
land continued after 1914, or whether some or all of the principal amount 
was eventually paid out or remained invested for the First Nation's benefit. 
We understand, based on the submissions of counsel for the First Nation, that 
some of these questions may be researched further if it is determined that 
Canada owes a lawful obligation to Kahkewistahaw as a result of the circum- 
stances surrounding the surrender. 

We will turn to the question of Canada's lawful obligation, after we review 
briefly the effects of the surrender on Kahkewistahaw's land base in IR 72. 

Impact of the Surrender on IR 72 
The difference in the quantity and quality of the land base of the Kahkewis- 
tahaw First Nation before and after the 1907 surrender can only be described 
as shocking. That discrepancy is a material consideration in our finding that 
the surrender transaction was tainted. Following the survey by John Nelson in 
1881, Kahkewistahaw's IR 72 comprised an area of 46,720 acres on the 
south shore of the Qu'Appelle River between Round Lake and Crooked Iake. 
The 1907 surrender resulted in the Band's interest in 33,281 acres of this 
land being disposed of to the Crown for sale, leaving the Band with a residual 
land base of only 13,439 acres. 

The diierences between thk surrendered lands and the residual lands 
formed the subject matter of a report and oral testimony by David H n h a n  of 
H o h a n  &Associates Ltd. Mr Hoffman is a fully accredited appraiser with the 
Appraisal Institute of Canada, in addition to being a professional agrolngist 
and a farmer in his own right. Before he established his consulting business, 
he was employed by the Department for almost eight years as Head of Land 
Administration and Superintendent of Lands, Revenues and Trusts, during 
which time he was actively engaged in managing Indian lands and training 
Indian farmers. 

162 J.C. Caldwell, Chief, Reserves Division, lo H.W. MeCdl, Director, Indian AEia Branch, Depament of Mines 
and Resources, April 6, 1939 (ICC Documenls, pp. 452-53). 
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Mr Hoffman's report, entitled "Comparison of Soils between Surrendered 
and Non-Surrendered Areas of Kahkewi~tahaw,"~~' was commissioned by the 
First Nation to compare, first, the quantitative differences between the surren- 
dered lands and the residual reserve lands in terms of the percentages of 
arable and non-arable land that each area contains, and, second, the qualita- 
tive differences in the arable land contained in each of the two areas. Other 
than inconsequential diierences in approach required by the absence of 
standardized road allowances on the reserve and the non-categorization of 
off-reserve grazing lands into soil types, the report applied the Saskatchewan 
Assessment Management Agency's usual methods of assessing farmland to the 
assessment of reserve lands within IR 72, being lands that are not normally 
subject to municipal assessment. The report also used rounded figures for 
the areas of IR 72 before the surrender (47,000 acres), the surrendered 
lands (33,000 acres), and the residual reserve lands (14,000 acres). 

According to Mr Hoffman, arable land means soils which are fit for culti- 
vation and which can be used for crop production, forage production, or 
grazing land, and includes both cultivatable arable land (currently cultivated 
or easily converted to cultivation) and unimproved arable land (currently 
best used as pasture, but including "bush arable soils" that should eventually 
be improved into cultivatable land). Non-arable soils are limited to haying or 
grazing purposes because of severe negative characteristics - such as 
extreme topography, salini!y, stones, or sand - that make cultivation 
impossible. 

The quantitative differences identified in the H o h a n  report between the 
surrendered lands and the residual reserve lands are striking, particularly 
when considered in light of the map prepared by H o h a n  & Associates Ltd 
which has been included at page 21 of this report. These differences are set 
forth in Table 1, which has been derived from the table entitled "Summary of 
Salient Facts" and from other data in the report. It can be seen from Table 1 
and from the map that almost 90 per cent of the surrendered lands are 
arable, as compared with only 26 per cent of the residual reserve lands. 
Conversely, while 70 per cent of the reserve lands are non-arable, only 
10 per cent of the surrendered lands fall into this category. When the com- 
bined acreages of the surrendered lands and the residual reserve lands are 
considered, the surrender left Kahkewistahaw with only 11 per cent of the 

163 Halhnan & Assomates ~14 "Cornpanson of Soh beween Surrendered and Non-Surrendered Areas of -5- 
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TABLE 1 

Kahkewistahaw Soil Analysis 

Amble v. Non-arable sails 

I Pield croo eroducti~n 

I I Qu'AppeUe Valley hillsides 
Sails wilh numerous 

Arable or 
culli~wtabk 
S o h  

Original Reserve Surrendered Residual Reserve 
(acres) Area (acres) A m  (acres) 

. . 
Olher cultimtable land 
Cultimted grass 
Improved hayland 
Unjmpraved hayland 
Crazing land and bush 

arable land 
Sublorals (rounded) 

I (100%) (100%) (100%) 

arable land, but 75 per cent of the non-arable land, originally set apart for 
the Band in 1881. 

The second phase of Mr Hoffman's analysis was to compare the quality of 
the arable areas in the surrendered lands with that in the residue of IR 72. 
Mr Hoffman noted that, since only 26 per cent of the residual reserve land is 
arable, bener-quality soils make up only 18 per cent of the reserve's total 
acreage. By way of comparison, the surrendered lands have a higher average 
soil quality than the residual reserve lands. Perhaps more significant is the 
fact tltat better-quality lands make up roughly 82 per cent of the arable land 
in the surrendered area and 72 per cent of the overall surrendered land 
base. 

In summary, it is clear, in Mr Hoffman's view, that the residual reserve 
lands are sigdcantly inferior to the kands which were surrendered by the 

Non-arable 
or Non- 
cullicwtrlbk 
SO& 

suriace stooer 
Sods subject to Booding 

and saliniry problems 
Waste slough 

(low-lying areas) 
Subtotals (rounded) 

6,500 6,500 

1,050 1.050 

3,700 3.200 iW 
13,150 3,200 9,950 
(28%) (10%) (70%) 

Residential S,t:iles and Road 
Ahumces 

1,300 750 550 
(3%) (2%) (4%) 

TOTAS (rounded) 47,000 33,M)O 14.000 
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Kahkewistahaw Band in 1907, in terms of both the percentage and the qqual- 
ity of arable land that each contains. It should also be noted, however, that 
these differences are not apparent simply as a result of the advantages of 
modern technical soils analysis. In the course of the community session, the 
Commission had the opportunity to view the reserve and was immediately 
struck by the remarkable and obvious differences between the residual 
reserve lands and the surrendered lands. As Mr Hoffman testified: 

Q. So given these features, the steep valley sides, the poorly drained soils and the 
rocks, would a person require any special training of any soa in soil analysis or 
whatever to have known that most of the existing reserve was of poor quality in 
1907? 

k 1 don't believe so. I guess the thing that comes to my mind, beimg I'm a fanner as 
well and I was raised on a farm, that people in the turn of the century, one of the 
things they looked for was something that was readily able to be tilled, and gener- 
ally that is with horse and plough, and the one thing is - the one thing they for 
sure stayed away from was anything that had any stone in it because that was 
v i M y  impossible with that type of technology, and so I think that in my opinion 
at that time it would be just as noticeable as it is today if not more so. 

Q. More important? 
A. WeU 1 wouldn't want to go in there with a horse and plough, that's all I know. . . . 
Q. So then in your opinion would the fact that most of the surrendered land is good 

farming land, the fact that very little of the existing reserve is of good quality land, 
good quality !inning land and the fact that most of the existing reserve is of poor 
quality land have been apparent to the Indian agents and the department repre- 
sentatives in 1907? 

A. WeU certainly the stones and the hillwash. I can't see how it couldn't be apparent. 
It covers such a large amount of the reserve 1 would have to say yes. You'd think 
they would notice it at that time as well. 

Q. So then in your opinion was the surrender of this 33,000 acres in 1907 from the 
reserve a detriment to the agricultural development of the members of the First 
Nation? 

k 1 would say yes. 
Q. Then in your opinion was the surrender of the 33,000 acres from the reserve in 

the best interest of the members of the First Nation? 
A. I don't believe so.'@ 

This last question is properly a matter for decision by the Commission. Hnw- 
ever, before considering this and the other aspects of legal and factual analy- 
sis required in this inquiry, we will briefly address the issues before us. 

164 ICC Tmscript, May 3, 1995, pp 137-39 (David Hohan) 



PART I11 

ISSUES 

The broad question before the Commission is whether Canada owes an out- 
standing lawful obligation to the Kahkewistahaw First Nation as a result of 
evenb arising out of the surrender of IR 72 in 1907. To assist in determining 
whether Kahkewistahaw has a valid claim against Canada, counsel for the 
parties agreed to the following issues: 

I Was there a valid surrender on January 28, 1907, of some 33,281 acres 
of the Kahkewistahaw Reserve No. 72? 

1. Did the Crown obtain the surrender: 
a) as a result of duress; 
b) as a result of undue iduence; 
C) as a result of an unconscionable agreement; or 
d) as a result of negligent misrepresentation? 

2. Did the Crown when obtaining the surrender comply with the surren- 
der procedures under the Indian Act? 

3. Did the Crown have any trust or fiduciary obligations in relation to the 
surrender of 1907 to the First Nation, and, if so, did the Crown fulfil 
those trust or fiduciary obligations when it obtained the surrender? 

4. Did the provisions of Treaty 4 require the Crown to obtain the consent 
of the Indians entitled to the Kahkewistahaw reserve prior to disposing 
of some 33,281 acres of the reserve, and, if so, was that consent 
obtained? 

I1 Assuming that the 1907 surrender was valid and that the road allowances 
were included, was the First Nation adequately compensated for those 
road allowances, and, if not, did the Crown breach any trust or fiduciary 
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obligations owed to the First Nation by failing to adequately compensate 
the First Nation for those road allowances? 

111 If the evidence is inconclusive on any of the previous issues, which party 
has the onus of proof! 

In the course of this inquiry, an extensive body of hutorical documenta- 
tion has been placed in evidence, the testimony of elders from the Kahkewis- 
tahaw First Nation has been beard and recorded, and lengthy submissions of 
fact and law have been presented by legal counsel. There is, in short, a 
wealth of information to assist us in our deliberations, and in Part N of this 
report we propose to address the issues in two main components. 

In the first part of our analysis, we will identify the technical requirements 
of the 1906 Indian Act for surrendering reserve land, and we will determine 
whether those requirements were met to implement the surrender validly. 

Second, having regard for our mandate to determine whether an outstand- 
ing lawful obligation is owing to the First Nation, we will consider whether 
the Government of Canada breached any fiduciary obligations that have been 
superimposed by the Supreme Court of Canada on the statutory surrender 
regime. 
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PART IV 

ANALYSIS 

ISSUE 1 VALIDITY OF THE 1907 SURReNDER 

Surrender Provisions of the 1906 Indian Act 
In any case in which the validity of a surrender of reserve land by an Indian 
band is in issue, the h s t  line of inquiry is to consider the technical provi- 
sions of the Indian Act relating to surrenders. In this case, the relevant pro- 
visions are set out in the 1906 version of the Indian Act.'" Sections 48, 49, 
and 50 of the 1906 Indian Act prohibit the direct sale of reserve lands to 
third parties and set out the procedural requirements for a valid surrender. 
Those provisions read as follows: 

48. Except as in this Part otherwise provided, no reserve or portion of a reserve shall 
be sold, alienated or leased until it has been released or surrendered to the Crown 
for the purposes of this Part, Provided that the Superintendent General may lease, for 
the bend1 of any Indian, upon his application for that purpose, the land to which he 
is entitled without such land being released or surrendered, and may, without surren- 
der, dispose to the best advantage, in the interests of the Indians, of wild grass and 
dead or fallen timber. 

49. Except as in this Part otherwise provided, no release or surrender of a reserve, or 
a portion of a reserve, held for the use of the Indians of any band, or any individual 
Indian, shall be valid or binding, unless the release or surrender shall be assented to 
by a majority of the male memben of the band of the full age of twenty-one years, at a 
meeting or council thereof summoned for that purpose, according to the rules of the 
band, and held in the presence of the Superintendent General, or of an o5cer duly 
authorized to attend such council, by the Governor in Council or by the Superinten- 
dent General. 

2. No Indian shall be entitled to vote or be present at such council, unless he habitu- 
ally resides on or near, and is interested in the reserve in question. 

165 RSC 1906, c. 81, as amended [hereinalter 1906 Idh Act1 
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3. The fact that such release or surrender has been assented to by the band at such 
council or meeting shall be certified on oath by the Superintendent General, or by the 
officer authorized by him to attend such council or meeting, and by some of the 
chiefs or principal men present thereat and entitled to vote, before some judge of a 
superior, county or district courl, stipendiary magistrate or justice of the peace, or, in 
the case of reserves in the province of Manitoba, Saskatchewan or Alberta, or the 
Territories, before the Indian commissioner, and in the case of reserves in British 
Columbia, or, in either case, before some other person or officer specially thereunto 
authorized by the Governor in Council. 

4. When such assent has been so c e d e d ,  as aforesaid, such release or surrender 
shall be submitted to the Governor in Council for acceptance or refusal. 

50. Nothing in this Part shall confirm any release or surrender which, but for this 
Part, would have been invalid; and no release or surrender of any reserve, or portion 
of a reserve, to any peson other than His Majesty, shall be valid. 

These statuto~y provisions found their philosophical origin in the Royal Pmc- 
lamation of 1763, which stated: 

And whereas great Frauds and Abuses have been committed in purchasing Lands of 
the Indians, to the great Prejudice of our Interests, and to the great Dissatisfaction of 
the said Indians; In order, therefore, to prevent such irregularities for the future, and 
to the end that the Indians may he convinced of our Justice and determined Resolu- 
tion to remove all reasonable Cause of Discontent, We do, with the Advice of our Privy 
Council strictly enjoin and require, that no private Person do presume to make any 
purchase from the said Indians of any Iands reserved to the said Indians, within those 
parts of our Colonies where, We have thought proper to allow Senlement; but that, if 
at any Time any of the Said Indians should be inclined to dispose of the said Lands, 
the same shall be Purchased only for Us, in our Name, at some public Meeting or 
Assembly of the said Indians, to be held for that Purpose by the Governor or Com- 
mander in Chief of our Colony respecti~ly within which they shall lie. . . . 

The parallel surrender provisions of the 1906 and 1927 versions of the 
Indian Act have been interpreted by the Supreme Court of Canada in Cardi- 
nal v. R.Ia and in Bluebeny River Band v. Canada'67 (the latter referred to 
hereafter as the Apsussin case), and by the Ontario Court (General Division) 
and the Ontario Court of Appeal in Chippewus of Kettle and Stony Point v. 

166 Cardinal v R., (19821 1 SCR 108, 13 DLR (4th) 321, [I9821 3 Ch'LR 3. 
167 BIuebeny Riwr Indian B a d  v Canada (Depatltnnzl of Indian Affairs and Norlbem Development), 

119961 2 CNLR 25 (SCC). 
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Canada (Attorney General).168 In Cardinal, Estey J provided the following 
summary of the 1906 Indian Act surrender provisions: 

It has also been argued that the interpretation which is now being considered is one 
which exposes the membership of the band lo a risk of loss of property and other 
righk, cootraty to the general pattern and spirit of the Indian Act. It is perhaps weU 
to observe in this connection that there are precautions built into the procedures of 
Pt. I of the Act, dmting with surrender. Firstly, the meeting must be called to consider 
the question of surrender explicitly. It may not be attended to at a regular meeting or 
one in respect of which express notice has not been given to the band. Secondly, the 
meeting must be called in accordance with the rules of the band. Thirdly, the chief or 
principal men must certlfy on oath the vote, and that the meeting was properly consti- 
tuted. Fourthly, only residents of the reserve can vote, by reason of the exclusionaty 
provisions of subs. (2) of s. 49. Fifthly, the meeting must be held in the presence of 
an officer of the Crown. And sixthly, even if the vote is in the aErmative, the surrender 
may be accepted or refused by the Governor in Council. It is against this back- 
ground ofprecautiomry measures that one must examine the manner in which 
the assent of eligible members of the band is to he ascertained under s. 49.'" 

Accordingly, the procedural requirements for a surrender meeting under 
section 49 of the Indian Act can be summarized as follows: 

1 a meeting must be summoned for the express purpose of considering 
whether to surrender the land - that is, a proposal for surrender cannot 
be raised at a regular meeting of the band or at a meeting where no 
express notice of the proposed surrender has been provided; 

2 the meeting must be called in accordance with the rules of the band; 

3 the meeting must be held in the presence of the Superintendent General or 
an authorized offjcer; 

4 a majority of the male members of the band of the full age of twenty-one 
years must attend the meeting, and a majority of those attending must in 
turn assent to the surrender; 

5 under subsection (2), only those men ordinarily resident on the reserve 
are eligible to vote; 

168 Cbippewos of KeItk and Stony Point v .  C a d  (Attomsy Geneml), unreported I19961 OJ No. 4188 
(December 2, 1996) (On!. U). Laslao Jk condrming Cbip- of Kettle and Stony Point v Altomey 
Cmem[of C a d  (19951, 24 OR (3d) 654 (Onr. Ct (Gen. Div.)), KiUeen J. 

169 Cardinal 0. R.. [I9821 1 SCR 508, I19821 3 CNLR 3. 13 DLR (4th) 321 at 10. 



6 under subsection (31, the band's assent to the surrender must be certified 
on oath by the Crown and the band; and 

7 under subsection (4), the surrender must be submitted to the Governor in 
Council for acceptance or refusal. 

The first six of these criteria deal with a band's consent to the surrender of 
all or a portion of its reserve. Once the band has consented to the surrender, 
the consent of the Governor in Council must then be obtained before it can 
be said that the surrender is valid. We will now consider each of these crite- 
ria in the context of the present case. 

Compliance with Technical Surrender Requirements 
First, was the assent given at a meeting or council called for that purpose? 
There is evidence to suggest that a meeting was called on January 28, 1907, 
but the adequacy of the notice for this meeting is the subject of some dispute. 
The evidence before the Commission suggests that adequate notice of the 
meetings was provided. The First Nation asserted that it may have had as 
many as 25 to 28 members over the age of 21 years based on the treaty 
annuity paylists for 1906 and 1907, but the departmental statistics compiled 
for the purposes of the surrender vote suggest that there were only 19 eligi- 
ble voters. In our view, the departmental records compiled at the time of the 
surrender provide reliable evidence of the number of members of the Band 
who were eligible to vote at the time of the meeting. Even if there were 25 to 
28 adult male members of the Band, this discrepancy could be attributed to 
some men being absent or otherwise ineligible to vote because they were not 
ordinarily living on the reserve at the time of the surrender. 

Assuming that there were 19 eligible voters at the time of the surrender, it 
would appear that there was adequate notice for the first meeting on January 
23, 1907, because all 19 attended. With respect to the second meeting on 
January 28, 17 out of 19 eligible voters attended, which again suggests that 
adequate notice was provided. Furthermore, the records prepared by Inspec- 
tor Graham and Indian Agent Millar assert that the members themselves 
asked for the second meeting, and there is no evidence to the contrary. The 
most reasonable inference to draw from these facts is that adequate notice 
had been given to the Band as to the time, place, and purpose of the January 
28 surrender meeting. 

Second, was the meeting called in accordance with the rules of the Band? 
Canada dismissed the argument that the Crown did not comply with the 



Band's rules, since "there is no evidence to establish what the band rules 
were." Although we have serious reservations about many of the circum- 
stances surrounding the surrender, we note that there was a substantial turn- 
out at the surrender meeting on January 28, 1907, as will be addressed h r -  
her  below. Moreover, the preprinted standard form certification &davit 
sworn by Kahkanowenapew conErmed that the meeting was called "accord- 
ing to the rules of the Band," and we can h d  no specific evidence to contra- 
dict this statement. 

Third, was the surrender meeting held in the presence of the Superinten- 
dent General or an officer authorized to attend on his behalf! The First Nation 
argued that Inspector Graham was not authorized by the Governor in Council 
or the Superintendent General to attend the meeting. Rather, he was given 
instructions to attend the surrender meeting by Secretary McLean, who was 
the Acting Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs during the sum- 
mer and fall of 1906.'70 Canada submitted that Graham was authorized to 
attend the meeting by the Superintendent General, the equivalent of a Minis- 
ter in the Indian Affairs Branch, because a memorandum outlining Graham's 
proposal for a surrender contains a handwritten marginal note dated Septem- 
ber 29, 1906, which states, "approved, Go right ahead," accompanied by the 
letters "BOM" (an acronym for "By Order of Minister"). Canada relied on 
the following statement from the trial level in Apsassin in submitting that 
Mckm had the authority to delegate this task to Graham: 

There is nothing in s. 51 of the Indian Act [s. 49 of the 1906 Act] to indicate that the 
Superintendent General rather than his Deputy was to personally authorize any indi- 
vidual to attend the surrender meeting. Section 31 (1) of the Intapretation Act would 
therefore apply."' 

Sections 31(f) and (m) of the-interpretation ~ c t ,  RSC 1906, chapter 1, lend 
support to this interpretation: 

31. In evely Act, unless the contrary intention appears, . . . 
(0 if a power is coderred or a duty imposed on the holder of any office, as such, 

the power may be exercised and the duty shall be performed by the holder for 
the time being of the office; . . . 

170 Frank Pedley was the Depuly Superintendent General of Indian Main al the h e .  Submissions on Behalf of lhe 
lOhkewisLzhaw Fiat Nation, Jvluary 26, 19%, p. 116. 

171 h abridged version of the decision u lrial h reponed as Apmsin v C a d  (Dspnrtmenl a / l d ! m  Affairs 
and NwIbsm Wlopnenl) ,  [I9881 3 FC 20 (TD). The complete ten is reponed as  blue^ R i w  I n d h  
B o d  and lbig River I d h n  B o d  u C a d  (Minisler oflndiun Affairs and N o r l h  W l ~ l ) ,  
I19881 14 FI'R 161. 1 CNLR 73 (KID). Emphasis in original. 



(m) words directing or empowering any other public officer or functionary to do any 
act or thing, or othenvise applying to him by his name of office, include his 
successon in office, and his or lheir lawful deputy. 

On this point, we concur with Canada that McLean, as the Acting Deputy 
Superintendent General, was "a holder for the time being of the office" of the 
Deputy Superintendent General and was empowered to exercise the powers 
that came with that office. Therefore, McLean was empowered to and did 
authorize Inspector Graham to attend the surrender meeting with the 
Kahkewistahaw Band. 

Fourth, was the surrender assented to by a majority of the eligible voters? 
In our view, it was. During the surrender meeting on January 28, 1907, 11 of 
the 17 eligible voters present at the meeting voted in favour of the surrender. 
Since there were only 19 eligible voters in the Band, this constituted an abso- 
lute majority of all eligible voters, whether or not they attended the surrender 
meeting. Alternatively, even if we were to accept that there were as many as 
28 eligible voters at the time of the surrender vote, the requisite majorities 
were obtained, since 17 of 28 eligible voters attended the meeting and 11 of 
those 17 voted in favour of the surrender. In Cardinal, Estey J rejected the 
argument that an absolute majority is required under the 1906 Indian Act. 
Since quorum was achieved with a majority of all eligible voters attending the 
surrender meeting, the Indian Act required only that a majority of those 
present at the meeting vote in favour of the surrender. 

Fifth, were all the voters habitually resident on, and interested in, the 
reserve? There is no evidence to suggest that any of the 17 voters on January 
28, 1907, were ineligible by reason of non-residency. 

Sixth, was the surrender duly certified? Section 49(3) of the 1906 Indian 
Act required that the surrender vote be certified on oath by the Superinten- 
dent General, or his duly authorized officer, and by "some of the chiefs or 
principal men present" at the surrender meeting. Was this requirement met? 
As described earlier, on the certificate of surrender, the preprinted word 
"ChieP' was crossed out and the word "Indian" substituted so that Kahka- 
nowenapew, an ordinary member of the Band, could certlfy the surrender on 
oath. 

At first glance, these circumstances appear to be similar to those in Apsas- 
sin, where the Chiefs did not personally certify the surrender. Instead, they 
simply told the Commissioner for Oaths that they wished to surrender and he 
then swore the certificate. However, the diierence in the case of the 
Kahkewistahaw surrender was that no Chief or principal man was present at 



either the surrender or the swearing of the certificate. As we wdl discuss 
below in the context of Canada's fiduciary obligations to First Nations, the 
deaths of Kahkewistahaw, Wasacase, and Louison left the Band with a leader- 
ship void that had not been resolved by the time of the surrender. Instead, an 
ordinary member of the Band who had been present at the surrender swore 
the certhcate. In our view, there was clearly a failure to comply with suhsec- 
tion 49(3) because there was no Chief or headman to attest to the propriety 
of the surrender process. 

Finally, was the surrender accepted by the Governor in Council as stipu- 
lated by subsection 49(4)? We have already noted that the surrender was 
submitted to the Governor in Council on February 26, 1907, and approved 
on March 4 of that year. In a purely technical sense, the requirements of 
subsection 49(4) were met because the Band's assent was submitted to the 
Governor in Council and accepted. However, in light of the reasons of 
McLachlin J in Apsassin, fiduciary obligations may also be superimposed on 
the Crown, in addition to the technical requirements of subsection 49(4). We 
wiU return to the question of the Crown's fiduciary duties later in our report. 

Mandatory versus Directory Surrender Requirements 
Given our findings that the 1907 surrender failed to comply with the certifica- 
tion provisions in subsection 49(3) of the 1906 Indian Act, it is necessary to 
consider whether such non-compliance renders the 1907 surrender invalid. 
Obviously, if the provisions of section 49 of the Indian Act are mandatory 
rather than merely directory, any surrender that does not comply with one or 
more of them may he invalid for that reason alone. For guidance on how 
these provisions are to be interpreted, it is necessary to consider the relevant 
case authorities on point. 

In the Chippewas of Kettle and Stony Point case, Ween J concluded that 
failure to comply with section 49 would be fatal to the surrender in some 
cases hut not in others. He stated: 

What, then, is the effect of s. 49(1)-(3)? 
Section 49(1) layx down, in my view, in explicit terms, a true condition precedent 

to the validity of any surrender and sale of Indian reserve lands. It makes this abun- 
dantly clear by saying that no such surrender "shall be valid or binding" unless its 
directions are followed. 

Bearing in mind the prophylactic principle at stake in the Royal Proclamation, as 
reinforced by ss. 48-50, it is simply impossible to argue that s. 49(1) does not lay 
down a mandatory precondition for the validity of any surrender. If the surrender in 
question has not followed the s. 49(1) procedure, it must be void ab initio. To 



I N D I A N  CLAIMS C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

suggest otherwise is to re-write historj and the commands of the RoydProclamation 
and the Indian Act."Z 

The four essential criteria in subsection 49(1) are assent by the majority of 
male members over the age of 21 years; the assent given at a meeting or 
council called for the purpose of considering the surrender; the meeting 
called "according to the rules of the Band; and the meeting conducted in 
the presence of the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs or his agent. We 
have already concluded that all of these criteria were satisfied. 

With regard to the residency requirement in subsection 49(2), Ween J 
stated: 

I may also say, here, that 1 am not persuaded that s. 49(2) contains a mandatoly 
procedural requirement of the kind specifled in s. 49(1). There is nothing in s. 49(2) 
itself to suggest that failure to comply with its directive would render the surrender 
invalid. In any event, I am entirely satisfied that s. 49(2) was complied with and that 
no ane wbo voted at the meeting violated its prescription."' 

As noted previously, the Commission reached the same conclusion on the 
facts of this case. 

In relation to the cectdlcation provision, which we have found was not met 
in this case, Ween J stated: 

I cannot agree with Mr. Vogel's contention that s. 49(3) contains a mandatoly pre- 
condition to the todity of the surrender. 

It is tme that s. 49(3) uses the phrase "shall be c e d e d  but, considered in 
context, I believe this language to be directory and not mandatoly. 

In order to get at the meaning and scope of this phrase, one must consider the 
object and purpose of s. 49(3). As it seems to me, its purpose is dearly Werentiated 
from the purpose of s. 49(1) or (2). These latter provisions establish the exact pm- 
cedures to be followed in dectnating a valid surrender on the part of a given Indian 
band. On the other hand, s. 49(3) achieves what 1 would call an after-the-fact eviden- 
tiaiy purpose, namely, to provide sworn documentary proof that the requirements of 
s. 49(1) and (2) have been complied with in all respects. 

1 cannot believe that an evidentiaiy or proof proviso aimed at providing future 
proof in sworn form that appropriate procedures for an assent to surrender have 
been fouowed can somehow have a nuMyhg effect on an assent to surrender lhat 
would othenvise be valid. Section 49(3) itself does not use the same language as 

172 Cb@puus ofXsftk ondStony Poinl v Anomey G m d  of CaMdn (1995), 24 OR (3d) 654 a1 685 (Ont. Cr 
(Cen. Div.)). 

173 C b i p m  ojKetth a d  Stony Point v A#- General of C d  (1995),24 OR (3d) 654 at 690 (Ont Ct 
(Gen. Dl".)). 



s. 49(1) does - "no release or surrender of a reseme . . . shall be valid or binding, 
unless" - and, absent such language, the context and purpose of s. 49(3) dicfales 
that it be given a directory raher than mandatory effect."' 

Subsequently, McLachlin J in Apsassin considered whether subsections 
51(3) and (4) of the 1927 Indian Act, which are equivalent to subsections 
49(3) and (4) of the 1906 Indian Act, are mandatory or merely directory: 

This raises the question of whether the ss. 5I(3) and 51(4) ate mandatory or merely 
directory. Addy J. and Stone J.A. below held that despite the use of the word "shall", 
the provisions were directory rather than mandatory, relying on Montreal Street Rail- 
way Co. v. Normandin, [I9171 A.C. 170 (P.C.), which summarized the lactors rele- 
vant to determining whether a statutoly direction is mandatory or directory as follows 
(at p. 175): 

When the provisions of a s m t e  relate to the performance of a public duty and the 
case is such that to hold null and void acts done in neglect of this duty would 
work serious general inconvenience, or injustice to persons who have no control 
over those entrusted with the duty, and at the same time would not promote the 
main object of the Legislature, it has k e n  the practice lo hold such provisions to 
k directory only. . . . 

Addy J. concluded that to read the provisions in a mandatory way would not promote 
the main object of the legislation, which is to ensure that the sale of the reseme is 
made pursuant to the wishes of the Band. Stone J.A. agreed. This Court has since held 
that the object of the statute, and the effect of ruling one way or the other, are the 
most impor!ant considerations in determining whether a directive is mandatory or 
direcioty British Columbia (Aftormy Genera) v. Canada, 119941 2 S.C.R 41. 

The true object of ss. 51(3) and 51(4) of the Indian Act was to ensure that the 
surrender was validly assented to by the Band. The evidence, including the voter's list, 
in the possession of the DL4 amply eskblished valid assent. Moreover, to read the 
provisions as mandatory would work serious inconvenience, not only where the sur- 
render is later challenged, but in any case where the provision was not ful6lled, as the 
Band would have to go through the process a& of holding a meeting, assenting to 
the surrender, and c e w g  the assent. I therefore agree with the couW below that 
the "shall" in the provisions should not be considered mandatory. Failure to comply 
with s. 51 of the Indian Act therefore does not defeat the ~urrender."~ 

174 Cbip- of Kenla and Stony Point u. Attorney General of C a d  (1995). 24 OR (3d) 654 at 691-92 
(Onl, CI (Cen. Div.)). 

175 Plmberry R i m  Indian Band 0. C a d  (Deparrmenl of Indian Affairs and Norrhem LWaIopmnt), 
[I%I 2 CNl.R 25 ar 42-43 (XC), McLachh I. 
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We conclude, on applying the foregoing reasoning to the facts of this case, 
that the failure to comply with section 49 of the 1906 Indian Act similarly 
does not "defeat the surrender" in this case. Although the certification &da- 
vit was sworn by Kahkanowenapew and not by "some of the chiefs or princi- 
pal men," it is apparent that the assent of the majority had already been 
given. The purpose of subsection 49(3) is merely to confirm satisfaction of 
the requirements of subsection 49(1) and (Z), and in particular that major- 
ity assent of the Band members was given at an open meeting called for the 
purpose of discussing the surrender. We agree that invalidating the surrender 
on the basis of the failure to certrfy properly the majority assent already given 
would work a serious inconvenience and would not promote the object of 
ensuring that the surrender was validly assented to by the Band. We also 
conclude that this failure in fulfilling the technical surrender requirements of 
the Indian Act does not, in and of itself, give rise to an outstanding lawful 
obligation owed by Canada to the First Nati~n."~ 

Effect of Valid Surrender 
What, then, is the effect of the surrender, in the words of McLachlin J, not 
being "defeated? The answer to this question has been considered more 
fully in the reasons of the Ontario Court of Appeal in Cbippezuuas of Kettle 
and Stony Point. In that case, the Band surrendered land for sale to a pur- 
chaser named MacKenzie Crawford at a price of $85 per acre, plus a $15 
"bonus" to be paid in two instalments to each eligible voter: $5 upon voting 
at the surrender meeting, and a further $10 in the event that the surrender 

176 The parties have also raised the issue of whether there are an7 technical requirements within Treaty 4 iwlf 
u h r h  uoull  hdvc rcq~llred I ~ P  Crow 10 uoritn me c<,nwnt r f  the hahkru~,Uhav Hand nrlorc r<;unm tnr 
I N '  r i rrenbr To th. r.xtmt that in? \ ~ r r c n d r r  requ:rclr.elnu .,I the t r r q  eg br i ~ ~ c r ~ t \ ~ s t ~ n t  uxh III, 

.n I., i U  of the 1 . m  Indwn l i t .  .I IS cr~lr urn [hit thc turn, dl he statcLt? aqll orwill u Con. I i ~ e J  in X r 

In addition, although il mighl weU be politically and morally unaccepwbie in todafs dimate to take such a step 
as  that sel out in the 1930 Agreement without consulationwith and oncurrence of the Native peoples aecred ,  
wnetbebss the pmmr of tbs  Pedeml Govemmsnt t o  unilafwnUly make sucb a mod~$alion is unques- 
tioned and h l s  not been challenged in thk case. 

Ur igr:t urlh vanad1 itla1 unen h? I9Ub Indun i n  *as pmclumel l ~ b r a  .~q.,lauon :,uld suonaumll\ 
dkrl r rpgulile IceiI) nqltu lo the cx t ra  !hit hr lk~1~#61t in cmnlrll 1 (liar ~ n t e n t _ ~ n  0 ~ r . 0 ~ ~ 1 ~  a lle_ll) n:nl 

.\I ~ h r  l ~ n r  ,I !he ,urrm.lrr, there WIF no : ( ~ \ I ~ I u I . ~ A ~  rc,lra.l#t in orri-llld~ l m ~ h  from ?narunc bu:h 
lezislation since s. 35 of the'Cons(ifutiom Acf, 1962, which recomiz& 2nd &rms existm~ aboriejnkl and 
lreaty "ghts, did not yet &st. However, we also concur with canadzs position thal it is not necess& to h d  
that there is any inconsistenq between the 1906 Indian Act and Treaty 4 on the question of surrender require- 
ments The weary does not establish a required level of consent or a means of enpressing such consent. Accord- 
in&. the statutorv surrender reouiiemenrr reoresented a reasonable aoressian of the consent reauired under 
thz'treaty and, 16 the extent L; those s t a ~ t o r y  requiremen6 were iatisfied, it can be sdd [hit the treaty 
requirements were likewise met 
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received the Band's consent. Laskin JA described the rationale for the 
"bonus" in these terms: 

Crawford first submitted an offer to the Department of Indian AIfairs to purchase the 
land for $85.00 per acre, cash. He then offered to pay an additional $15 cash 
"bonus" to each member ofthe Band eligible to vote on the surrender because, in his 
words, the Indians "a l l  said they had la have some money right away" and "I am quite 
satisfied they needed a little monq." At the meeting, Crawford and the Band discussed 
the sale price and the amount of money to be paid up front. The Indian agent was 
concerned about the propriey of paying a bonus. Crawford apparenlly offered la pay 
$100 per acre instead of $85 per acre plus the $15 bonus, but after discussion at the 
meeting, Crawford and the Band decided on the bonus arrangement It is easy lo see 
why. Under the statutory scheme, the maximum sum that could be distributed to the 
Band would be 50% of the sale proceeds after closing and even that 50% distribution 
would be reduced by the Band's debts. The voting members would, on the other 
hand, receive the entire direct payment. At the meeting, Crawford paid $5 to each 
voting member. About hvo and one-half months later he went la the reserve and paid 
the rest of the bonus."' 

After closing the sale some 28 months following the surrender, Crawford 
"tlipped the land for nearly three times the purchase price. 

Contending that the "bonus" was no more than a bribe, the Band argued 
that payment of the "bonus" and indeed Crawford's attendance at the surren- 
der meeting were both prohibited by the Royal Proclamtion of 1763 and 
the Indian Act. The Band's third ground for challenging the validity of the 
surrender was the 28-month delay in closing the transaction. On Canada's 
preliminary application for summary judgment dismissing the Band's claim 
for declaratory relief, all three grounds were rejected by Ween J of the 
Ontario Court's General Division on the basis that they did not represent 
genuine issues for trial. 

The Court of Appeal upheld the decision of Killeen J and dismissed the 
appeal. Laskin JA acknowledged that the underlying philosophy of both the 
Royal Prochmation and the surrender provisions of the Indian Act was to 
prevent aboriginal peoples from being exploited by third-party purchasers by 
inserting the Crown in a "protective and fiduciary role" as a buffer or inter- 
mediary between the parties. The statute also provided for public surrender 
meetings since, according to Laskin JA, "with dealings conducted in the 

177 Chippewas of h'ettle and Stony I'oint v C o ~ d a  (Attorney Genoml), unreponed, 119961 0J No. 4188 
(December 2, 196) ar 12-13 (Ont. CA) 



open, frauds, abuses and misunderstandings were less likely to occur."178 
Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal unanimously held that neither Crawford's 
attendance at the surrender meeting, nor his offer to pay "bonus" money on 
the spot, violated the language or the rationale of the RoyalProckamtion or 
the Indian Act. Laskin JA Found that the Band not only intended to surrender 
its land but had pressed on several occasions for Crawford to move more 
quickly to close the sale. The Court concluded that the surrender, being 
unqualified and absolute, "extinguished the a b o r i p d  interest in the surren- 
dered land"179 and was not subject to the oral understanding or condition 
that the sale would he completed reasonably quickly after the surrender vote, 
as the Band had claimed. 

Extinguishing the aboriginal interest in the surrendered land means that it 
is not open to the Kahkewistahaw Band to challenge the tides of the current 
registered owners of the surrendered lands, most, if not all, of whom by h s  
late date must he bomjde third-party purchasers for value. It must he kept 
in mind, however, that the appeal in Ch@pewas of Kettle and Stony Point 
arose from a motion by the Crown seeking summary judgment dismissing the 
Band's claim for a declaration that the 1927 surrender and the 1929 Crown 
patent in that case were void. Although the decision confirmed the surrender 
as well as the tides of those defendants who now own land surrendered by 
the Band in 1927, Killeen J also recognized that certain issues could not be 
disposed of summarily and remained to be decided at trial: 

Any hding of unconscionable conduct under the facts of this case cannot affect the 
validity of the Order in Council [approving the surrender]; ratha; suchfinding or 
findings must surely go to the Band's other claimfor h h  offiduciary duty.'" 

Similarly, the Court of Appeal concluded: 

what then of the cash payments, which, in the words of the motions judge, had "an 
odour of moral failure about them"? In my view, there is no evidence to suggest that 
these cash payments, in the words of McIachlin J., vitiated the "true intent" or the 
"free and informed consent" of the Band or, in the words of Gonthier J., "made it 
unsafe to rely on the Band's understanding and intention." In keeping with Apsassin, 

178 Cbippeum of Kelt& and Slony Poinl v. Canada (Allomey General). unreported, 119961 0J No. 4188 
(December 2, 196) ar 9-10 (0°C. C4). 

179 Cbipptm ofKeItle and Slony Point u C a d  (Allomsy General), unreported, 119961 OJ No. 4188 
(December 2, 1996) at 29 (001. a). 

la Cbip~soJKeIIlemulSIong Point u. Affomey GBnemlofCad  (1995), 24 OR (36) 654 at 698 (Ont. Ct 
(Gen. Div)). 
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the decision of the Band to seU should be honoured. Therefore, like Ween J., 1 am 
satisfied that there is no genuine issue for trial on whether the cash payments invali- 
dated the surrender. I would dismiss the Band's second ground of appeal. 

I add, howeva, that the casb payments or alleged "bribe" and consequent 
exphitation or "tainted dealings" may afford grounds for the Band to make out 
a case of breach o f J d n c i q  duty against the Crown. As the parties haw recog- 
nized, this is an issue for trial. The same may be said of the Band's contention 
that the sale to Crawford was impmident, he having immediately "jlipped the 
landfor nearly three times the purchase price. In discussing whether the Crown 
had a fiduciary duty to prevent the surrender in Apsassin, McIachlin J. wrote at 
p. 371: 

It follows that under the Indian Act, the Band had the right to decide whether to 
surrender the resetve, and its decision was to be respected. At the same time, if 
the Band's decision was foolish or improvident - a decision that constituted 
exploitaiion - the Crown could refuse to consent. In shoa, the Crown's obligation 
was limited to preventing exploitative bargains. 

This, too, is an issue for trial.I8' 

Our mandate under the Specific Claims Policy is to determine whether an 
outstanding lawful obligation is owed by Canada to the Kahkewistahaw First 
Nation. Although we have concluded that the surrender was technically valid, 
an outstanding lawful obligation may nevertheless be grounded in Canada's 
breach of its fiduciary duties to the First Nation. We now turn to our analysis 
of the fiduciary duties, if any, owed by Canada to Kahkewistahaw on the facts 
of this case. 

ISSUE 2 CANADA'S PRE-SURRENDER FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS 

The Supreme Court of Canada has, in recent years, addressed in a number of 
cases the categories of relationships that may be considered "fiduciary" in 
nature, and the content of the duties that arise given a particular fiduciary 
relationship and the facts of the case in question. In this portion of our 
report, we will review the leading cases - most notably Apsmsin and the 
consideration of that case by the Ontario courts in Chippeurm of Kettle and 
Stony Point - dealing with the fiduciary obligations of the Crown in the 
context of the surrender of all or a portion of a band's reserve. We will also 

181 C b @ p w  of &Ilk and SIony Point 0. C a d  (Allomey Cemml). unreponed. [I9961 OJ No. 4188 
(December 2, 1996) at 24-25 (Oat a). Emphasis added. The references to "improvidence" in this p 
relate to the issue of the Crown's Bducivy obligations arising out of be Governor in Cauncil's acceptanc3: 
surrender under subsection 49(4). This issue will be dealt with later in this repan. 



review the approaches which have been used by the courts for ident@ng 
whether a fiduciary obligation exists in given circumstances - in particular, 
where the band's understanding of the terms of the surrender are inade- 
quate, where the conduct of the Crown has tainted the dealings in a manner 
that makes it unsafe to rely on the band's understanding and intention, where 
the band has abnegated its decision-making authority in favour of the Crown 
in relation to the surrender, or where the surrender is so foolish or improvi- 
dent as to be considered exploitative. In applying the jurisprudence to the 
facts of this case, we will also consider whether the Crown owed and failed to 
satisfy any fiduciary duties to the Kahkewistahaw Band and, if so, whether 
Canada may be said to owe the First Nation an outstanding lawful obligation. 

The Guerln Case 
We have already alluded to certain fiduciary obligations that the Supreme 
Court of Canada has determined are owing by Canada to First Nations and are 
superimposed on the statutory surrender regime. In considering these obli- 
gations, we will focus primarily on the recent decision of the Supreme Court 
of Canada in Apsassin as the leading authority on the Crown's fiduciary 
duties to a band prlor to a surrender of Indian reserve lands. Before 
embarking on our analysis of Apsassin, however, it is appropriate to review 
briefly the landmark 1984 decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in 
Guera'tt v. The Queen.'s2 Although the Guerin case dealt with the fiduciaq 
obligations of the Crown with respect to the sale or lease of Indian reserve 
Lands ajm a band has surrendered its land, the case nevertheless provides a 
useful starting point because it is the first decision in which the Supreme 
Court of Canada acknowledged that the Crown stands in a fiduciary relation- 
ship with aboriginal peoples. 

In Guerin, the Musqueam Band surrendered 162 acres of reserve land to 
the Crown in 1957 for lease to a golf club on the understanding that the lease 
would contain the terms and conditions that were presented to and agreed 
upon by the Band Council. The surrender document that was subsequently 
executed gave the land to the Crown "in trust to lease the same" on such 
terms as it deemed most conducive to the welfare of the Band. The Band 
later discovered that the terms of the lease obtained by the Crown were sig- 
nificantly different from what the Band had agreed to and were less 
favourable. 

182 Curin  v TbeQueen, 119841 2 SCR 331. I19851 1 CNLR 120. 119841 6 WWl 481. 13 DLR (41h) 321 
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All eight members of the Court found that Canada had breached its duty to 
the Band. On the nature of the Crown's fiduciary relationship, Dickson J (as 
he then was) for the majority of the Court stated: 

Through the con6rmation in the Indian Act of the historic responsibility which the 
Crown has undertaken, to act on behalf of the Indians so as to protect their interesu 
in transactions with third parties, Parliament has conferred upon the Crown a discre- 
tion to decide for itself where the Indians' best interests really lie. This is the effect of 
s. 18(1) of the Act. 

This discretion on the part of the Crown, far from ousting, as the Crown contends, 
the jurisdiction of the courts to regulate the relationship behveen the Crown and the 
Indians, has the effect of transforming the Crown's obligation into a fiduciary one. 
Professor Ernest J. Weinrib maintains in his article "The Fiducialy Obligation" 
(1975), 25 U.T.L.J. 1, at p. 7, that "the hallmark of a fiduciary relation is that the 
relative legal positions are such that one party is at the mercy of the other's discre- 
tion". Earlier, at p. 4, he puts the point in the following way. 

[Where there is a fiduciary obligation] there is a relation in which the principal's 
interests can be affected by, and are therefore dependent on, the manner in which 
the fiduciary uses the discretion which has been delegated to him. The fiduciary 
obligation is the law's blunt tool for the control of this discretion. 

1 make no comment upon whether this descripton is broad enough to embrace all 
fiduciary obligations. I do agree, however, that where by statute, agreement, or per- 
haps by unilateral undertaking, one party has an obligation to act for the benetit of 
another, and that obligation carries with it a discretionary power, the party thus 
empowered becomes a fiduciary. Equity will then supervise the relationship by hold- 
ing him to the fiduciary's strict standard of conduct. . . . 

. . . When the promised lease proved impossible to obtain, the Crown, instead of 
proceeding to lease the land on different, unfavourable terms, should have returned 
to the band to explain what had occurred and seek the band's counsel on how to 
proceed. The existence of such unconsciouability is the key to a conclusion that the 
Crown breached its fiduciary duty. Equity wiU not cwntenance unconscionab[e 
behauiour in afiduciay, whose duty is that of utmost @dty to h i ~ p r i n c i p d ~ ' ~ ~  

Justice Dickson held that the Indian Act surrender provisions interposed the 
Crown between Indians and settlers with respect to the ahenation of reserve 
lands. He described the source of the fiduciary relationship in these terms: 

183 Guerln v. TbeQwen, [I9841 2 XR 335, 55 NR 161, 13 DLR (4th) 321, I19851 1 CNLR 120 at 136-37 and 
140. Diclcron J. Emphuh added. 
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In my view, the nature of Indian title and the framework of the statutory scheme 
established for disposing of Indian land places upon the Crown an equitable obliga- 
tion, enforceable by the courls, to deal with the land for the benefit of the Indians. 
This obligation does not amount to a trust in the private law sense. It is rather a 
fiduciary duty. If, howwer, the Crown breaches this fiduciary duty it will be liable to 
the Indians in the same way and to the same extent as if such a trust were in effect. 

The Educiary relationship behveen the Crown and the Indians has its roots in the 
concept of aboriginal, Native or Indian title. The fact that Indian Bands have a certain 
interest in lands does not, however, in itself give rise to a Educiaq relationship 
between the Indians and the Crown. The conclusion that the Cmwn is a fiduciary 
depends upon the further proposition that the lndian interest in the land is inaliena- 
ble except upon surrender to the Crown. 

An Indian band is prohibited from directly transferring its interest to a third party. 
Any sale or lease of land can only be carried out after a surrender has taken place, 
with the Crown then acting on the band's behalt The Cmwn fint took this responsi- 
'lity upon itself in the Royal Proclamation of 1763 [see RSC 1970, App. 11. It is still 
recognized in the surrender provisions of the Indtan Act. The surender wquire- 
ment, and the responsibility it entails, are the source of a distinctfiduciary obli- 
gation owed by the Crown to the Indians.'" 

The G&n case is instructive for two reasons: first, it determined that the 
relationship between the Crown and First Nations is fiduciary in nature; sec- 
ond, it clearly established the principle that an enforceable fiduciary obliga- 
tion will arise in relation to the sale or lease of reserve land by the Crown on 
behalf of, and for the benefit of, a band to a third party following the surren- 
der of reserve land to the Crown in trust. However, the Supreme Court of 
Canada was not called upon in G-n to address the question whether the 
Crown owed any fiduciary duties to the band prior to the surrender. That 
issue was not specifically addressed until Apsmsin appeared on the Court's 
docket. 

The Apsassln Case 
In Apsmsin, the Beaver Indian Bandla5 entered into a treaty with the Crown 
in 1916. Under the terms of Treaty 8, Canada set aside 28 square miles of 
land as Indian Reserve 172 for the Band in the Peace River District of British 
Columbia. The reserve contained good agricultural land, hut the Band did 
not use it for farming. It was used only as a summer campground, since the 

I84 Guerin v. T& &m, [I9841 2 SCR 335, 55 NR 161, 13 DLR (4th) 321, 119851 1 CNLR 120 at 131-32, 
Oickran J. Emphvda added. 

I85 The Braver Indian Bvld was eventually split iolo lwo bands, which became known as the Blueberry River Band 
, and the Doig River Bvld. 
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Band made a living from trapping and hunting further north during the win- 
ter. In 1940, the Band surrendered the mineral rights in its reserve to the 
Crown, in trust, to lease for the Band's benefit. The Band was approached 
again in 1945, following the Second World War, to explore surrender of the 
reserve so that the land could he made available for returning veterans inter- 
ested in tahng up agriculture. After a period of negotiation between the 
Department of Indian Affairs and the Director, Veteran's LandAct (DVLA), 
the entire reserve was surrendered in 1945 for $70,000. In 1950, some of 
the money from the sale was used by the Department to purchase other 
reserve lands closer to the Band's traplines further north. Between 1948 and 
1956, all the surrendered lands, including the mineral rights, were sold to 
veterans. Following disposition, the lands were discovered to contain oil and 
gas deposits that have generated an estimated $300 million in revenues. The 
mineral rights were considered to have been "inadvertently" conveyed to the 
veterans instead of being retained for the benefit of the Band, and, although 
the Department had powers under section 64 of the Indian Act to cancel the 
transfer and reacquire the mineral rights, it did not do so. On discovering 
these facts, the Band sued for breach of fiduciary duty, claiming damages 
from the Crown for allowing the Band to make an improvident surrender of 
the reserve and for disposing of the land below value. 

At trial,la6 Addy J dismissed all but one of the Band's claims. He found that 
no fiduciary duty existed prior to or concerning the surrender, and that the 
Crown had not breached its post-surrender fiduciary obligation with respect 
to the mineral rights, since those rights were not known to be valuable at the 
time of disposition. He also found, however, that the Department had 
breached a post-surrender fiduciary duty by not seeking a higher price for 
the surface rights. 

The Federal Court of App6aP7 dismissed the Band's appeal and the 
Crown's cross-appeal. However, the majoritj rejected the trial judge's con- 
clusion that no fiduciary duty arose prior to the surrender. Rather, the Fed- 
e n l  Court of Appeal held that the combination of the particular facts of the 
case and the Indian Act imposed a fiduciary obligation on the Crown. The 
specific nature of the obligation was not to prevent the surrender or to sub- 
stitute the Crown's own decision for that of the Band, but rather to ensure 
that the Band was properly advised of the circumstances concerning the sur- 

186 &berry K i m  Indian Band and Dolg River Indian Bond v C a d  (Minister of Indian Affoirs and 
N o r t h  Wopment) .  119881 14 mR 161, 1 CNLR 73 (TD). 

187ApSaSSin u. Cam&, 11931 3 FC 28, L O O  DLR (4th) 504. 151 NR 241, (19931 2 CNLR 20 (FIX). 



render and of the options open to it, since the Crown itself had sought the 
surrender of the lands to make them available to returning soldiers. 

Although the majority concluded that the Crown owed a pre-surrender 
fiduciary duty to the Band, Stone JA (Marceau JA concurring) agreed with 
Justice Addy's disposition of the case. Stone JA held that the Crown had dis- 
charged its duty, since the Band had been fully informed of "the conse- 
quences of a surrender," was fully aware that it was forever giving up all 
rights to the reserve, and gave its "full and informed consent to the surren- 
der."188 Stone JA also found that the Crown did not breach a post-surrender 
fiduciary obligation with respect to the disposition of the mineral rights since 
they were considered to be of minimal value at the time of the surrender. 
Once the rights had been conveyed to the DVLA, any post-surrender fiduciary 
obligation of the Department of Indian Affairs was terminated and the Crown 
had no further obligation to deal with the land for the benefit of the Band. 

At the Supreme Court of Canada,189 the Court was divided 4-3 on the ques- 
tion whether the mineral interests were included in the 1945 surrender for 
sale or lease. Nevertheless, the Court unanimously held that the Crown owed 
a post-surrender fiduciary obligation to dispose of the surrendered land in 
the best interests of the Band. The Court further found that the Crown had 
breached this obligation by "inadvertently" selling the mineral rights in the 
reserve lands to the Dm and by failing to use the Crown's power to cancel 
the "inadvertent" sale once it had been discovered. Although McLachlin J 
wrote the minority judgment on the effect of the 1945 surrender on the ear- 
lier surrender of the mineral rights, the entire Court supported her analysis 
of the Crown's fiduciary obligations in the pre-surrender context.'w However, 
even Justice Gonthier's majority decision, in which he concluded that the 
Beaver Indian Band had clearly intended to surrender its reserve, spoke of 
the department's fiduciary duty "to put the Band's interests first."'9l In his 
reasons, Gonthier J duded to a "tainted dealings" approach under which the 
conduct of the Crown must be reviewed to determine whether there has been 
a breach of fiduciary obligation. 

188Apmsin v C o d ,  [I9931 3 TC 28, IW DLR (4th) 504, 151 NR 241, 119931 2 CNLR 20 at 46 (FCA). 
189 Blus6eny K i m  I d h n  Band a C d  (LkpwtmmI oflndbn Aff~airs a d  No&m Devslopmnt), 

[I9961 2 CNU( 25 (SCC). 
Iga Bluebeny K i w  Indion Band v C a d  (DBpoftmnt of Indion Affairs and N o t f h  Development), 

[I9961 2 C N U  25 v 28-29 (KC). 
191 BIw&w) K i m  Indian Band v Cmtoda (DepanmenI of Indian Affain md Nafbem DeveIopmI).  

119961 2 CNLR 25 at 34 (SCC). 



Pre-surrender Fiduciary Duties of the Crown 

Wbere a Band's Understanding Is Inadequate or the Dealings 
Are Tainted 
In addressing how the Beaver Indian Band's surrender for sale or lease of 
both mineral and surface rights in 1945 had expanded upon and subsumed 
the earlier 1940 surrender of mineral rights for lease only, Gonthier J stated: 

I should also add that I would he reluctant to give effect to this surrender varia- 
tion i f1  thought that the Band's understanding of its terms had been inadeqwte, 
or ifthe conduct of the Crown had sornehoru tainted the dealings in a manner 
which made it unsafe to rely on the Band's understanding and intention. How- 
ever, neither of these situations arises here. As the trial judge found, the conse- 
quences of the 1945 surrender were fully explained to the Indians by the local agent 
of the DIA [Department of Indian AlMrsl during the negotiations. There was also 
substantial compliance with the technical surrender requirements embodied in s. 51 
of the 1927 Indian Act, and as McIachlin J. concludes, the evidence amply demon- 
strates the vaJid assent of the Band members to the 1945 agreement. Moreover, by the 
terms of the surtende insmment, the DIA was required to act in the best interesui of 
the Band in dealing with the mineral rights. In fact, the DL4 was under apduciaty 
duty toput the Band's interestsfirst. I therefore see norhing during the negotiations 
prior to the 1945 surrender, or in the terms of the surrender instrument, which 
would make it inappropriate to give effect to the Band's intention to surrender dl 
their rights in I.R. 172 to the Crown in trust "to seU or lease." Ln fact, the guiding 
principle that the decisions of Aboriginal peoples should be honoured and respecfed 
leads me to the opposite c0nclusion.'9~ 

In short, Justice Gonthier would have been reluctant to permit the variation 
of the 1940 surrender in two situations: first, if the Band's understanding of 
the terms of the surrender had been inadequate, and, second, "if the conduct 
of the Crown had somehow tainted the dealings in a manner which made it 
unsafe to rely on the Band's understanding and intention." 

With regard to the first of these concerns, we note the conclusion of 
Addy J at trial inApsassin that, "although [the members of the Beaver Indian 
Band] would not have understood and probably would have been incapable 
of understanding the precise nature of the legal interest they were surrender- 
ing, they did in fact understand that by the surrender they were giving up 

192 BIuebmy R i m  Indian &md a Crmodil (Depadmsnt of lndirm Affiirs and Noebern Development). 
119961 2 CNIR 25 at 34 (SCC). Emphasis added. 
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forever all rights to LR. 172."193 We believe that the same inference can likely 
be made in the present case. However, the long-standing nature of this griev- 
ance points to the conclusion that, although the Band members may have 
known From the outset that their rights had been absolutely alienated, they 
were not happy with that result and sought to change it. 

Even if the Kahkewistahaw people understood that they were giving up all 
of their rights in the surrendered lands and intended to do so, a larger 
problem for Canada is whether the conduct of the Crown leading up to the 
surrender somehow tainted the dealings in a manner that made it unsafe to 
rely on the Band's understanding and intention. The view that "tainted deal- 
ings" might form a separate basis for a claim that the Crown has breached its 
fiduciary obligations to a band has recently been reiterated by the decision of 
the Ontario Court of Appeal in the Chipjmuas of Kettb and Stony Point 
case. There, after agreeing with Ween J that certain cash payments in that 
case would not operate to invalidate the surrender, Laskin JA continued: 

I add, however, that the cash payments or alleged "bribe" and consequent exploita- 
tion or "tainted dealings" may atford grounds for the Band to make out a case of 
breach of fiduciary duty against the Crown. As the panies have recognized, this is an 
issue for trial.'g4 

In Apsassn, while discussing the technical surrender provisions of the 
lndinn Act, Gonthier J highhghted the importance of identifying a band's true 
intention: 

An intention-based approach offers a sigmlicant advantage, in my view. As Mclach- 
linJ. observes, the law treats Aborigml peoples as autonomous actors with respect to 
the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for this reason, their decisions must 
be respected and honoured. . . . In  my^ view, when determining the legal effect of 
dealings between Aboriginal peoples and the Crown relating to reserve lands, the sui 
geneds nature of Aboriginal title requires coum to go beyond (he usual restrictions 
imposed by the common law, in order to give &ect to the true purpose of the 
dealings.l95 

193 BIuebeny R i m  hdinn Band and Doe Riwr Indian &md L. C a d  (Minisfer o/l&n Affuim and 
Northern Development), [I9881 14 FIR 161, 1 CNLR 73 at 129-30 (KI). 

I94 Cbippnws o/f&ffle and Stony Point u. Cam&  atl la^ Geneml), unreporied, 119961 01 No. 4188 
(December 2, 1996) at 24-25 (Ont. Ch). 
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In our view, the crux of Justice Gonthier's analysis is that the autonomy of 
Indian bands is to be respected and honoured. In this respect he is in full 
agreement with McLachlin J. If, however, a band's decision-making power 
has been undermined or "tainted in a manner that makes it "unsafe to rely 
on the Band's understanding and intention," then the band's autonomy has 
likewise been compromised. Although Gonthier J did not define what he 
meant by "tainted dealings," it is clear that, like McLachlin J, he placed con- 
siderable reliance on the following findings of Addy J at trial: 

1. That the plaintills had hown for some considerable time that an absolute surren- 
der of LR. 172 was being contemplated; 
2. That they had discussed the matter previously on at least three formal meetings 
[sic] where representatives of the Department were present; 
3. That, contrary to what has been claimed by the plaintiffs, it would be nothing shoa 
of ludicrous to conclude that the Indians would not also have discussed it between 
themselves on many occasions in an informal manner, in their various family and 
hunting groups; 
4. That, at the surrender meeting itself, the matter was fully discussed both between 
the Indians and with the departmental representatives previous to the signing of the 
actual surrender; 
5. That [Crown representatives had not] attempted to influence the plaintiffs either 
previously or during the surrender meeting but that, on the contrary, the matter 
seems to have been dealt with most conscientiously by the departmental represent% 
tives concerned; 
6. That Mr. Grew [the local Indian Agent] fully explained to the Indians the conse- 
quences of a surrender; 
7. That, although they would not have understood and probably would have been 
incapable of understanding the precise nature of the legal interest they were surren- 
dering, they did in fact understand that by the surrender they were giving up forever 
al l  rights to LR. 172, in return for the money which would be deposited to their 
credit once the resetve was sold and with their being hmished with alternate sites 
near their trapping lines to be purchased with the proceeds; 
8. That the said alternate sites had already been chosen by them, after mature 
consideration.'" 

In particular, Gonthier J found that Crown officials had fully explained the 
consequences of the surrender, had not attempted to influence the Band's 
decision, and had acted conscientiously and in the best interests of the Band 
throughout the entire process. 

1% Blueiheny Ricer Indian Bnnd and Do$ Rim? Indian Bmd v C a d  (Min&ler of Indian Affairs and 
Nortihem Wlopmnl), I19881 14 mR 161. 1 CNLR 73 at 129-30 (TD). 
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In Kahkewistahaw's case, it is our view that, unlike Indian Agent Grew in 
Apsassin, Graham did not act couscientiously and that he clearly intended to 
influence the outcome of the surrender vote. Rather than assisting the 
Crooked Lake Bands in choosing courses of action best suited to their needs, 
Graham expressed the goal of securing surrenders to "free up" land for set- 
tlement and appease the growing pressure From adjoining communities. He 
expressly stated that bringing cash inducements would assist him greatly in 
achieving his goal, and he arrived in the middle of the harsh prairie winter 
with cash in hand. At that time, the Kahkewistahaw Band was particularly 
vulnerable because its members were poor, staning, illiterate, and, as will be 
discussed at greater length below, without effective leadership. The surrender 
meeting in fact took place in the context of a promise that each member of 
the Band would immediately receive $94, or one-twentieth of the estimated 
sale price of the land. Graham made it clear that he intended to see that the 
Band members did not receive independent legal or other expert advice, and 
there is evidence that he threatened that they would not receive further gov- 
ernment assistance unless they agreed to the surrender. During the Commis- 
sion's community session at Kahkewistahaw, elder Mervin Bob stated that the 
Band was very much influenced by the offer of instant cash and the threat of 
future assistance being withheld: 

The Indian agent, fatm instructor would put money on the table and say it's -and say 
that if you guys don't sign this paper you're going to get no more help. Just like 
putting a bunch of candies in front of a child. Just like puning a bunch of candies in 
front of a kid saying if you don't do this, if you don't do that, you're not going to get 
this. That's the way we were treated and this is the what I was asldng to tell, to tell 
you's.'" 

Unlike the situation in Apsassin, there is no evidence in the present case 
that any alternative sites or arrangements in lieu of the surrendered lands 
were considered or even available. To the contrary, the evidence that we do 
have indicates that it was not the Crown's intention to act conscientiously on 
the Band's behalf, and that the Crown failed to satisfy its fiduciary obligation 
to the Band when faced with conflicting interests. We recognize that the 
Crown was and is constantly faced with contlicting interests since it has the 
dual and concurrent responsibilities of representing the interests of both the 
general public and Indians. However, the fact that the Crown has conflicting 

197 ICC TT?NC"P M q  3, 1995, p.  102 (Menin Bob) 



duties in a given case does not necessarily mean that the Crown has breached 
its fiduciary obligations to the First Nation involved. Rather it is the manner in 
which the Crown manages that conflict that determines whether the Crown 
has fulfilled its fiduciary obligations. As McLachlin J stated in Apsassin: 

The trial judge was correct in hding that a fiduciav involved in self-dealing, i.e. in a 
conflict of interest, bears the onus of demonstrating that its personal internst did not 
benefit from its fiduciary powers: J.C. Shepherd, The Law of Fiduciaries (1981), at 
pp. 157-59; and A.H. Oosterhoff T&, Cases and Comrnenta*y on the Law of 
Tmts (4h ed. 1992). The Crown, facing conflicting political pressures in favour of 
preserving the land for the Band on the one hand, and making it avdlable for distri- 
bution to veterans on the other, may be argued to have been in a position of conflict 
of interest.'" 

We find that the Crown faced identical conflicting political pressures in its 
dealings with Kahkewistahaw, but has failed in the present case to demon- 
strate that it did not benefit - at least politically, if not financially - from 
inducing the 1907 surrender. 

It is, in our view, nonsense to suggest that the Kahkewistahaw Band acted 
autonomously with respect to this surrender or that the decision represented 
its true intention. The vote that took place on January 28, 1907, was timed 
and staged to obtain a technical approval, and it represented the culmination 
of attempts by the surrounding non-aboriginal interests, aided and abetted by 
the Government of Canada, to procure a surrender. Those attempts began in 
1885 and were brought to fruition in 1907, some 22 years later, following a 
continual barrage of local and departmental pressure involving virtually every 
figure of authority in the local community and, ultimately, those in positions 
of departmental authority and responsibility. During that entire 22-year 
period, the lone voices speaking on behalf of protecting the Kahkewistahaw 
people were Indian Agent McDonald, Commissioner Laird, and Assistant 
Indian Commissioner McKenna. By 1907, it appears that, through retirement 
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or for other reasons, all three of those voices had become silent. It is 
remarkable that the Kahkewistahaw Band maintained its position in the face 
of such pressure over those 22 years. It is to be remembered that the Band 
rejected Graham's surrender proposal by a vote of 14 to 5 at the meeting of 
January 23, and that it was only as a result of the developments in the follow- 
ing days that the Band reversed its position. To suggest that the Band would, 
after 22 years of adamant opposition, reverse itself and adopt a position so 
clearly detrimental to its best interests over the course of five days, between 
January 23 and January 28, 1907, in the absence of "tainted dealings" by the 
Government of Canada, is absurd. 

This is not a case where a band had no interest in putting reserve land to 
the use for which it was best suited, as was the situation in Apsassin. Rather, 
this is a situation where the Band's efforts at developing agricultural self- 
sufficiency, although impeded by various policies and circumstances, had 
gained a foothold and the Band was becoming increasingly able to put the 
land to good use. The record discloses that, although only a few of the 
Crown's agents had considered whether this surrender would be in the best 
interests of the Band, they invariably concluded that it would not. In spite of 
this advice, the surrender was obtained. Arguably, the First Nation has 
demonstrated that the Crown was in a contlict of interest, hut, for its part, the 
Crown has failed to establish that the surrender was intended to benefit any- 
one other than settlers and the Crown itself. This conclusion is to he con- 
trasted with the circumstances in Apsassin, in which the Court found that, in 
spite of the Crown's potential codict, the sale of the land to the DVLA was 
also in the Beaver Indian Band's best interests. In this sense, the sale of the 
land to the Crown was of mutual benefit to the Band and to local interests, so 
the Crown was not in breach of its fiduciary duty. In the present case, the 
evidence indicates not only that Canada failed in its duty to protect the Band 
from sharp and predatory practices in dealing with its reserve lands but that 
Canada itself initiated the "tainted dealings." 

Where a Band Has Ceded or Abnegated Its Power to Decide 
We have already mentioned that McIachlin J wrote the minority judgment in 
Apsassin, but that the entire Court nevertheless supported her analysis 
regarding the Crown's fiduciary obligations in the pre-surrender context. In 
considering whether the Crown owes a fiduciary obligation to a band in the 
pre-surrender context, and, if so, the content of that obligation, McLachlin J 



drew on several Supreme Court decisions dealing with the law of fiduciaries 
in the private law context: 

Generally speaking, a fiduciary obligation arises where one person possesses unilat- 
eral power or discretion on a matter a.lIecling a second "peculiarly vulnerable" per- 
son: seeFrame v. Smith, 119871 2 SCR 99 [[I9881 1 CNLR 152 (abridged version)]; 
Norberg v. Wynn'b, [I9921 2 SCR 226; and Hodgkinson v. Simms, 119941 3 SCR 
377. The vulnerable party is in the power of the party possessing the power or discre- 
tion, who is in turn obligated to exercise that power or discretion solely for the 
bene6t of the vulnerable party. A person cedes (or more oftenfinds himefin the 
situation where someone else has ceded for him) his power over a matter to 
another person. The person who has ceded power trusts the person to whom power 
is ceded to exercise the power with loyalty and care. This is the notion at the heart of 
the fiduciary obligation.'* 

On the facts in Apsassin, Mclachlin J found that "the evidence supports 
the view that the Band trusted the Crown to provide it with information 
as to its options and their foreseeable consequences, in relation to the 
sutmnhr of the Fort St. John reserve and the acquisition of new reserves 
which would better suit its life of trapping and hunting. It does not support 
the contention that the band abnegated or entmted its power of deci- 
sion over the surrender of the reserve to the C m ~ n . " ~  Because the Band 
had not abnegated or entrusted its decision-making power over the surren- 
der to the Crown, Mclachlin J held that "the evidence [did] not support the 
existence of a fiduciary duty on the Crown prior to the surrender of the 
reserve by the Band."20' 

Justice Mclachlin's analysis on what constitutes a cession or abnegation of 
decision-making power is very brief, no doubt because the facts before her 
demonstrated that the Beaver Indian Band had made a fully informed deci- 
sion to surrender its reserve lands and that, at the time, the decision 
appeared eminently reasonable. In our view, it is not clear from her reasons 
whether she merely reached an evidentiary conclusion when she found that 
the Band had not ceded or abnegated its decision-making power to or in 
favour of the Crown, or whether she intended to state that, as a principle of 
law, a fiduciary obligation arises only when a band actually takes no part in 
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the decision-making process at all. She had more to say on the issue in the 
Norberg case, in which she concluded in a minority judgment that an abne- 
gation of decision-making power had occurred in the context of a doctor- 
patient relationship: 

As we have seen, an imbalance of power is not enough to establish a fiduciary rela- 
tionship. It is a necessary but not sufficient condition. There must also be the poten- 
tial for interference with a legal interest or a non-legal interest of "vilal and subsm- 
tid 'practical' interest." And I would add this. Inherent in the notion of fiducialy duty, 
inherent in the judgments of this court in Guerin and Ganson [Enterprises Ltd v. 
Boughton G Co., 119911 3 SCR 5341, supra, is the requirement that the fiduciary 
have assumed or undertaken to "look after" the interest of the beneficiary. As I put it 
in Canson at p. 543 [SCRI, quoting h m  this court's decision in Canadian Aem 
SeNice Ltd. v. O'Malley, [[I9741 SCR 592J supra, at p. 606 [SCRI, "the freedom of 
the fiduciary is diminished by the nature of the obligation he or she has undertaken - 
an obligation which 'betokens loyalty, good faith and avoidance of a conflict of duty 
and seE-interest'." It is not easy to bring relationships within this rubric. Generally 
people are deemed by the law to be motivated in their relationships by mutual sell- 
interest. The duties of trust are special, conhed to the exceptional case where one 
person assumes the power which would normally reside with the other and under- 
takes to exercise that power solely for the other's benefit. It is as though the fiduciary 
has taken the power which rightfully belongs to the bendciaty on the condition that 
the Educiaty exercise the power entrusted exclusively for the good of the beneficiuy. 
Thus the tmstee of an estate takes the 6nancial power that would normally reside with 
the hendciaries and must exercise those powers in their stead and for their exclusive 
benefit. Similarly, a physician takes the power which a patient normally has over her 
body, and which she cedes to him for purposes of treatment. The physician is pledged 
by the nature of his calling to use the power the patient cedes to him exclusively for 
her benefit. If he breaks that pledge, he is liable?0' 

The question of what is required to cede or abnegate decision-making 
power to or in favour of a fiduciary has also been considered by the Supreme 
Court of Canada in Hodgkinson. In that case, the Court dealt with an action 
by an unsophisticated investor against his accountant, who had recom- 
mended certain tax shelters in which, unknown to the investor, the account- 
ant had a personal interest. Ia Forest J stated: 

It is important. . . to add further precision about the nature of reliance, particularly 
as it applies in the advisoly context. Reliance in this context does not require a whole- 
sale substihltion of decision-making power from the investor to the advisor. This is 



simply too restrictive. It completely ignores h e  peculiar potential for overriding intlu- 
ence in the professional advisor and the strong policy reasons, to which 1 have previ- 
ously referred, tnouring the law's intewention by means of its jurisdiction over fidu- 
ciary duties to foster the fair and proper functioning of the inveshnent market, an 
important social and economic activity that cannot really be regulated in other ways. 
As I see it, the reality of the situation must be looked at to see if the decision is 
effectively that of the advisor, an exercise hat involves a close examination of the 
facts.lOl 

Both Norbetg and Hodgkinson suggest that decision-making authority may 
be ceded or abnegated even where, in a strictly technical sense, the benefici- 
ary makes the decision. Neither case deals with the fiduciary relationship 
between the federal government and an Indian band, however, and therefore 
Apsmsin must be considered the leading authority on the question of the 
Crown's pre-surrender fiduciary obligations. In reviewing that case, we can- 
not imagine that McLachlin J intended to say that the mere fact that a vote has 
been conducted in accordance with the surrender provisions of the Indian 
Act precludes a finding that a band has ceded or abnegated its decision- 
making power. If that is the test, it is d&cult to conceive of any circum- 
stances in which a cession or abnegation might be found to exist. 

We conclude that, when considering the Crown's fiduciary obligations to a 
band, it is necessary to go behind the surrender decision to determine 
whether decision-making power has been ceded to or abnegated in favour of 
the Crown. In our view, a surrender decision which, on its face, has been 
made by a band may nevertheless be said to have been ceded or abnegated. 
The mere fact that the band has technically "ratAed" what was, in effect, the 
Crown's decision by voting in favour of it at a properly constituted surrender 
meeting should not change the conclusion that the decision was, in reality, 
made by the Crown. Unless the upshot of Justice McLachlin's analysis is that 
the power to make a decision is ceded or abnegated only when a band has 
completely relinquished that power in form as well as in substance, we do 
not consider the fact of a band's majority vote in favour of a surrender as 
being determinative of whether a cession or abnegation has occurred. More- 
over, if the test is anything less than complete relinquishment in form and 
substance, it is our view that the test has been met on the facts of this case - 
the Band's decision-making power with regard to the surrender was, in 
effect, ceded to or abnegated in Favour of the Crown. 
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In light of the role undertaken by the Crown to "look after" the interests of 
bands like Kahkewistahaw, and based on the relationship that had developed 
between Canada and Kahkewistahaw in the 33 years between the signing of 
Treaty 4 and the 1907 surrender, we believe it would have been reasonable 
for the members of the Band to expect that the Crown would deal with them 
on the basis of the "loyalty, good faith and avoidance of a conflict of duty and 
self-interest" referred to by McLachlin J. In addressing the issue of "tainted 
dealings," we have alrady reviewed at considerable length the facts which 
have led us to conclude that, in Kahkewistahaw's case, the Crown's motives 
and methods in securing the surrender were deserving of reproach. We find 
those same facts equally applicable in our conclusion that the Crown did not 
meet the standard required of it in deciding the issue ceded to or abnegated 
in favour of it (or by it). 

In determining whether the Band's decision-making power was ceded to 
or abnegated in favour of the Crown, it is particularly important to consider 
the state of the Band's leadership at the time and to examine the First 
Nation's contention that a leadership vacuum contributed significantly to that 
cession or abnegation. In particular, the First Nation noted the absence of 
leadership following the death of Chief Kabkewistahaw and his two headmen, 
Wasacase and Louison, shortly before the surrender was obtained. The First 
Nation also relied on a report entitled "Report on Governance - Kahkewis- 
tahaw," in which Professor J.R. Miller emphasized the important role of the 
Chief in the traditional decision-making process of the Band: 

A chief relied upon a council of adult males for advice on matters on which he had to 
decide a position, and within that council the more aged a councillor was the greater 
weight his advice would cany. Decision-mag was conducted by a process (hat 

emphasized consullation and consensus, not mechanical head-counting or a require- 
ment that "%percent plus one" person suppon a particular option. When the chief 
had explained the issue on which he sought advice to his council, they would offer 
their views, beginning with the youngest and ending with the eldest. Councillors prob- 
ably would have discussed the matter with other members of the communiiy, includ- 
ing female relatives, who were not members of the chiefs council. Most adult people 
in the community would be consulted in one fashion or another, but evelyone's opin- 
ion did not have the same weight. The views of those with the experience that age 
brought were accorded more weight than others. tyta bis councillors had voiced 
their considered views, the chief would decide the course of action to be 
followd.lM 
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Professor Mier also notes that, at the time of the surrender and for some 
time afterwards, "the Kahkewistahaw people maintained their traditional, 
largely hereditary, political leader~hip."~O5 

We are obliged to acknowledge the enduring and powerful influence that 
Chief Kahkewistahaw exercised over the affairs of the Band that now bears his 
name. It was Chief Kahkewistahaw who led his people into a treaty relation- 
ship with Canada and kept them out of the Riel Rebellion in 1885. It was also 
Chief Kahkewistahaw who convinced his people to settle on the reserve that is 
now the subject of this inquiry and to take up agriculture to adapt to the new 
economic and social realities they faced. More to the point, we cannot forget 
the force of his convictions when he reminded the Crown of its treaty 
promises and spoke out against the proposed surrender of his reserve in 
1902. Clearly, Chief Kahkewistahaw was a prominent leader with the ability to 
galvanize his people against the relinquishment of the land they were prom- 
ised under the terms of Treaty 4. 

Since the surrender was taken at a time when the Band had no recognized 
Chief or headmen and its members were not allowed to elect new representa- 
tives or to seek independent advice, serious questions arise whether the 
Crown took unfair advantage of the Band at a time when a leadership void 
existed. Joe louison was not elected as the new Chief until 1911, but it is 
important to note that he voted against the surrender on January 28, 1907. 
Since a Chief played a persuasive role among his people when it was neces- 
sary to make decisions of such importance, the vote might have had a ditrer- 
ent outcome if Joe Louison had been elected Chief before the surrender. In 
our view, had the Crown been interested in a fair and unbiased decision- 
making process, it would have waited until the Band had a Chief and 
headmen before placing a decision of such importance before the voting 
members. 

In short, as long as Chief Kahkewistahaw was alive, the surrender had 
been repeatedly rejected. The evidence does not support a finding that the 
Band's circumstances had changed significantly since before Kahkewis- 
tahaw's death, nor is there evidence that a new leader had emerged whose 
different vision of the Band's future led to the surrender being considered in 
a new light. The fact that it was necessary to call upon Kahkanowenapew to 
swear the certgcation &davit refutes any such contention. We are driven to 

205 J.R. Miller, "Repon on Governance - Kahkewswhaw." May 12. 1995 (ICC Exhibit 7, p. 9 ) .  
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the conclusion that Graham knew the Band to be vulnerable and without 
leadership, and expressly chose to press his advantage. 

We find the similar circumstances at Ochapowace to be telling. While that 
Band had its own leaders, it was able to resist Graham's tactics and to refuse 
the surrender he so ardently pursued. Later, when Ochapowace too was with- 
out leadership, the long-sought surrender was obtained by Graham, as he 
knew it would be. To say that this was mere coincidence would, in light of 
what we now know of departmental policy and practice and of Graham's own 
views, strain credibility. In conclusion, we have no hesitation in finding, on 
the facts of this case, that the Band ceded its decision-making power to the 
Crown, and that the Crown faded to meet its fiduciary duty to exercise that 
power conscientiously and without intluencing the outcome of the surrender 
vote. 

In closing on this issue, we note that, from the reasons of the Federal 
Court of Appeal in Apsassin, it might appear that, if Kahkewistahaw did not 
abnegate its decision-making power in favour of the Crown, the Crown never- 
theless had a positive but lesser duty to provide the Band with "information 
as to its options and their foreseeable consequences." In the opinion of the 
Federal Court of Appeal in Apsassin, a duty to inform and advise exists and 
was fuWed in relation to the Beaver Indian Band. On the further appeal, 
McLachlin J held that "the evidence supports the view that the Band trusted 
the Crown to provide it with information as to its options and their foresee- 
able consequences, in relation to the surrender of the Fort St. John reserve 
and the acquisition of new reserves which would better suit its life of trap- 
ping and hunting.''zffi Nevertheless, she concluded on the facts of that case 
that no pre-surrender fiduciary obligation existed. It is not clear from Justice 
McIachlin's reasons whether she meant that the Crown was duty-hound to 
inform and advise the Beaver Indian Band prior to the surrender, or whether 
she merely intended to acknowledge that such information and advice had in 
fact been provided to that Band. In the end, she was not required to decide 
that issue. Similarly, in the present case, we believe that it is unnecessary for 
us to decide whether such a duty exists, for we are prepared to conclude that 
the Kahkewistahaw Band effectively ceded its decision-making power regard- 
ing the 1907 surrender to the Crown and that the Crown procured the sur- 
render through its own "tainted dealings." 

2ffi Bluebeny Him Indian Band 0, Canada (Dsp~fmenl of Indian Affairs and N o r t h  Developmenl), 
[I9961 2 CNLR 2 5  at 41 (XC), McLachlin J.  
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Duty of tbe Crozun to Prevent the Suwender 
The next question that the Commission must address is whether, on the facts 
of this case, the fiduciary obligation grafted by the Supreme Court of Canada 
onto subsection 49(4) of the 1906 Indian Act required the Crown to prevent 
the surrender of the reserve. 

In Apsassin, the Beaver Indian Band had argued that the paternalistic 
scheme of the Indian Act - which vests title in the Crown on behalf of a 
band - imposed a duty on the Crown to protect Indians from making foolish 
decisions with respect to the alienation of their land. In essence, the argu- 
ment was that the Crown should not have allowed the Beaver Indian Band to 
surrender its reserve, because this was not in the Band's long-term best 
interests. Conversely, the Crown asserted that bands should be treated as 
independent agents with respect to their lands. McLachlin J dealt with the 
issue in these terms: 

The first real issue is whether the Indian Act imposed a duty on the Crown to refuse 
the Band's surrender of its reseme. The answer to this is found in Guain v. The 
Quaen, . . . where the majority of this Coua, per Dickson J. (as he then was), held 
that the duty on the Crown with respect to surrender of Indian lands was founded on 
preventing exploitative bargains. . . . 

My vim is that the Indian Act's provisions for sumtuier of hand reserves 
strikes a balance between the two extremes of autonomy and protection. The 
band's consent was required to surrender its reserve. Without that consent the reserve 
could not be sold. But the Crown, through the Governor in Council, was also required 
to consent to the surrender. Thepurpose of the requirement of Crown consent was 
not lo substitute the Crown's decision for that of the hand, hut to plevent 
exploitation. As Dickson J. characterized it in Guerin [p. 136 CNLR]: 

The purpose of this surrender requirement is clearly to interpose the Crown 
behveen the Indians and prospective purchasers or lessees of their land, so as to 
prevent the Indians from being exploited. 

It folows that under the Indian Act, the Band had the right to decide whether to 
surrender the reserue, and its decision was lo be respected. At the same time, if 
the Bands decision was foolish or improvident - a decision that constituted 
exploitation - the Crown could refuse to consent. In short, the Crown's obliga- 
tion was limited to preventing exploitative bargains. . . . 

The measure of control which the Act permitted the Band to exercise over the 
surrender of the reserve negates the contention that absent exploitation, the Act 
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imposed a fiduciary obligation on the Crown with respect to the surrender of the 
re~erne.~O~ 

Gonthier J concurred that "the law treats Aboriginal peoples as autonomous 
actors with respect to the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for 
this reason, their decisions must be respected and h o n o ~ r e d . " ~ ~  

On the facts in .@sassin, Addy J had found that the decision to surrender 
the reserve made good sense when viewed from the perspective of the Beaver 
Indian Band at the time of the surrender. McLachhn J therefore concluded 
that the Governor in Council was not obliged to withhold consent, because 
the evidence did not establish that the surrender was "foolish, improvident or 
amounted to exploitation." 

The question now before the Commission is whether the 1907 surrender 
by the Kahkewistahaw Band was so foolish, improvident, and exploitative as 
to give rise to a duty on Canada's part under section 49(4) of the 1906 
Indian Act to withhold its own consent to the surrender. We conclude that 
the Governor in Council in fact ought to have withheld consent. 

The views expressed by various Indian Affairs officials on the wisdom of 
surrendering the Band's land represent a good starting point for determining 
whether the Governor in Council ought to have consented to the surrender. It 
will be recalled that, as early as 1886, in response to a proposal that would 
have seen the Crooked Lake Bands give up the southern portions of their 
reserves in exchange for greater river frontage, Indian Agent Alan McDonald 
commented: 

Loud Voice and Kah-ke-wis-la-haw bands would also be giing up the best of their 
hay, but not to the same extent as "Little Child.?. 

These bands should in a few years possess large number of cattle requiring several 
thousand tons of Hay each, and we should in every way possible protect it for 
them. . . . 

We should not overlook the fact that shothi tk proposition be carried out, tk 
Indians will be giving up far num? valuable lends than they will be receiving." 

In 1891, when local residents presented a petition to the Minister of Interior 
calling for the surrender of the southern hay lands in the three Crooked Lake 

207 N d n r y  R i w  Indian B3Rd u Crm& (B@rfmenf of Indian Affhrs ond Norfbem Oewlopment), 
11961 2 CNLR 25 at 3940 (KC). McLachlin J. Emphasis added. 

208 N u k n y  R i m  Indian Band 0. C d  (Deparhenl of Indim Affairs and Norlkm Development), 
119961 2 CNU( 25 at 31 (SCC), Ganthier J. 

2W A. McDonald. Indian Ageot. lo indim Commissioner. Much 22, 1886, NA RG 10. "01. 3732. Ue 26623 (ICC 
Documenis, pp. 84-85). Emphasis added. 



reserves, McDonald was both prophetic and alert to his fiduciary responsibil- 
ities in his response on the merits of the proposed surrender: 

although I am most anxious that the views of the people of Broadview should be met, 
still from my position as Indian Agent I am bound in the interests of the Indians to 
point out the difEculties in the way, which are tersely these. Ifthese lands are sur- 
rendered by tbe Indians, no reasonable money value can recompense tbem, as 
their Hay lands would be complekdy gone, and this would necessitate nofirrther 
increase of stock, which would of course bebtal to their further quick advance- 
ment, and would be deplorable, and tbe only alternative t h t  I can see is to give 
tbem Hay lands of equal quantity and value imwzediahly a&ccntt to the Reserves 
interested, which I do not think is possible nmu. . . . 

If it was contemplated by the Committee that waited upon you on the 26th ultimo 
to have the whole of Township 17 in Ranges 3 ,4 ,  5 &part of 6 surrendered, I would 
beg to point out t h t  ue*y little of the whole Reserve remains."1° 

In 1902, Commissioner Iaird cautioned that, given the rising importance 
of cattle operations among Kahkewistahaw's people and the need for the 
southern hay lands for this purpose, "it would never do to have the Indians 
short of hay."Z11 TWO years later, Assistant Indian Commissioner McKenna 
could not have made himself more clear when, referring to an earlier report 
by Iaird, he stated: 

I would point out that the Commissioner in his report of the 6th of May 1902 stated 
that there was a good deal of force in the remarks of some of the Indians; that the 
best of the land in Reserves 71 & 72 was contained in the part asked to be surren- 
dered; and rhat the best wood was also on the Souh of the Reserves. This being so it 
would not be advisable, Gom an Indian standpoint, to dispose of the land.21z 

These comments were echoed 90 years later in the report and testimony 
of David Hoffman, who stated that the Band not only surrendered the major- 
ity of its reserve land base but was asked to give up the very best land on the 
reserve -the southern lands which had been favourably mentioned in official 
reports and which had been coveted for so long by the neighbouring settle- 
ments. As we have already remarked, the superiority of the surrendered 
lands would have been just as obvious - if not more so - to an observer at 

210 A. McDonald, lodim & e l ,  lo Superinendent Cenenl of IndLdnUbia, March 10. 1891, W RC LO, vol. 3732, 
Gle 26623 (IM: Documents, pp. 11820). Emphasis added. 

211 David Mrd, Indian Cammissioner, lo M us Begg, India  Agent, Jmuary 22, 1902. Nh RC 10, val. 3561, 
Gle 82, pan  4 (ICC Doeumenu;, pp. 163%). 

212 J.A. McKenna, hrsislvlt Indim Commissioner, lo Secretary. Departmen1 of Indim AKauS, Mvch 19, IW, & 
RC 10, 701. 3732, Me 26623 (ICC Documents, p. 200). 



the time of the surrender as it is today. Moreover, unlike the situation in 
&sassin, where reserve lands were sold for the express purpose of re- 
placing them with other lands more suited to the Band's requirements, in 
Kahkewistahaw's case there were no alternative lands of similar quantity and 
quality available for the Band to purchase with the sale proceeds from the 
surrendered lands. 

By allowing the Kahkewistahaw Band to surrender i t .  best hay lands, 
Canada deprived the Band of an opportunity to become self-sufficient through 
agriculture and cattle ranching. Tne surrender occurred at a time when the 
Band had engaged in cattle ranching as a burgeoning commercial venture, 
when the introduction of new strains of faster-maturing wheat and new farm- 
ing technologies were beginning to transform the western Canadian economy, 
and when the Kahkewistahaw Band was reportedly becoming less dependent 
on rations and other forms of government assistance. In fact, it was the high 
quality of the surrendered lands and the prosperity that could be gained from 
them which ironically provided the driving force for the surrender. The prob- 
lem is that it was not the Kahkewistahaw Band that was allowed to reap these 
profits. 

Canada's reioinder is that the surrender was not foolish, improvident, or 
exploitative at' the time of the surrender in 1907 because ihe dramatic 
decline in the population of the Band from the time of treaty would have left 
the Band with approximately 160 acres of reserve land per person after the 
surrender (an area in excess of the treaty requirement of 128 acres per 
person). Furthermore, counsel for Canada submitted that the surrender and 
sale of 70 per cent of the reserve was reasonable since the Band could no 
longer sustain its farming operations in any event: 

The evidence indicates that at least several years prior to the surrender, the Band had 
incurred debts for wagons, harnesses and machinely. Without the necessary machin- 
ery and equipment, the Band could not obtain the necessary feed for the cattle which 
prevented them from increasing their herds and having surplus cattle to provide 
clothing, lumber and necessary provisions. Further, it appears that the reserve was in 
need of fencing to prevent stray animals from grazing on the ReSetve Iands. In short, 
the Band lacked the resources to improve or further its devel~pment.~'~ 

213 Submissions on Behalf of the Gowrnment of Canada. J a n u q  26, 1996, p 43 
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Canada asserted that the money received from the sale of the surrendered 
lands, and the periodic distributions of interest accruals, benefited the entire 
Band, particularly the elderly who had no other source of income.214 

At first blush, the factors identi6ed by Canada might appear to provide 
valid justification for the impugned surrender. However, we find Canada's 
first argument - that the transaction was not improvident in light of the 
Band's reduced population - to be completely without merit for two reasons. 

First, this argument imports principles of treaty land entitlement to jus@ 
the surrender and ignores the fact that a band's treaty land entitlement is 
normally established based on its population at date of first survey. In the 
Commission's recent report dealing with Kahkewistahaw's treaty land entitle- 
ment claim, we found that the First Nation's date-of-first-survey population 
was at least 256, including an 1881 base payht population of 186, together 
with 70 absentees and arrears. This figure does not include possible new 
adherents to treaty and transfers from landless bands, who, in accordance 
with the principles developed by the Commission in the Fort McKay, Kawa- 
catoose, Lac La Ronge, and Kahkewistahaw treaty land entitlement inquiries, 
would also be entitled to be counted for the purposes of establishing the First 
Nation's treaty land entitlement. After the 1907 surrender, Kahkewistahaw's 
reserves were reduced by 33,281 acres - from 46,816 to 13,535 acres - 
which left the First Nation with sufficient land for just 105 people. Although 
the evidence shows that, owing to starvation and disease, Kahkewistahaw's 
population had declined to fewer than 105 in 1907, the suggestion that the 
reduced reserve satisfied the reduced population in 1907 runs afoul of one 
of the Commission's conclusions in the Fort McKay report: 

5 After the &te ofjrst  survey, nuturd increases or decreases in the population 
of the band do not affect treatp land entitlement. Thereafter it is only late adher- 
ents or landless transfen in respect of whom treaty land has never been allocated 
that will sect treaty land entitlement.2" 

In our view, Canada's argument is a red herring and is entirely inconsistent 
with the proper interpretation of the reserve clause in Trealy 4. Moreover, we 
find it offensive that Canada in 1907 sought to take advantage of the fact that 
so many of the Band's members had perished. We refuse to make a finding 
that, because the Band's population had been decimated by starvation and 

!I ,  Submr,.mns on %half d i h ~  tk\tmmsnl of Cuola  klnuarv Lb. 1r)b pp .5-- 
!li lndaan Glum Lummtsnon. Yon .Wnn&q Far?[ V Z I I L ~  Repon r.n Two lard Fnl8llnnml I u q u ! ~  ,Osau.l, 

Oecemnrr I )Ji , ,  rcpnn1.4 ( 1 %  5 ICCI' S a 53 E m p h v ~ r  ~dded 
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disease, the government was legally or morally justified in participating in a 
process that stripped Band members of most of the lands selected by their 
forefathers in accordance with the treaty. 

Second, this argument by Canada is even more inconsistent with the treaty 
when considered on qualitative grounds. In the 1907 surrender, Kahkewis- 
tahaw not only gave up more than 70 per cent of its reserve lands but also 
surrendered almost 90 per cent of the arable land on the reserve. This fact is 
readily apparent from a review of the map of the surrendered lands which 
accompanies this report and from the report and evidence of David Hoff- 
man.216 Even if there was s&cient land for the 1907 population of 84, the 
acreage of quality land was surely far below the treaty formula of 128 acres 
per person. This surrender was unfair in every sense of the word and we do 
not require the benefit of hindsight in reaching this conclusion. Tne unfair- 
ness must have been just as evident in 1907 as it was when the Commission 
recently viewed the area. Moreover, the fact that the lands were to be sold at 
public auction is beside the point. There was no reason for the Band to give 
up these lands and no justifiable reason for inducing it to do so. 

With regard to Canada's second submission - that the surrender was rea- 
sonable rather than foolish or improvident, since the Kahkewistahaw Band 
was unable to sustain or improve upon its previous levels of economic activ- 
ity in any event - we are not satisfied that such a conclusion would have 
just%ed selling off the Band's primary capital asset and only source of 
income. Moreover, we do not believe that we have the necessaq economic 
evidence before us to be able to assess this point. Nevertheless, even if the 
Band received fair market value for the surrendered lands, which likewise 
has not been demonstrated conclusively one way or the other on the limited 
evidence before us, the adequacy of the consideration received by the Band is 
not the central issue. The essence of the matter is that it should have been 
obvious to the Crown that the surrender of the Band's best agricultural land 
made little or no sense when viewed from the perspective of the Band's best 
interests. 

In conclusion, we find that this surrender transaction was foolish, improv- 
ident, and exploitative, and that the consent of the Governor in Council under 
subsection 49(4) should properly have been withheld. 

216 H o h &  Associates Lld, "Camparisan of So$ between Surrendered and Non-Surrendered Areas of W h u i s -  
lahaw,'' undated, p, i (Summuy of Salient Face). 
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PART V 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 

We have been asked to inquire into and report on whether the Government 
of Canada properly rejected the specific claim submitted by the Kahkewis- 
tahaw First Nation, or, alternatively, whether it owes an outstanding lawful 
obligation to the First Nation. We have concluded that the surrender of a 
portion of IR 72 by the Kahkewistahaw Band in 1907 was valid and uncondi- 
tional, which means that the First Nation's aboriginal interest in the surren- 
dered land has been extinguished. 

We also find, however, that Canada owed pre-surrender fiduciary obliga- 
tions to the Kahkewistahaw First Nation and that it breached those obliga- 
tions. In procuring the surrender, Canada's agents engaged in "tainted deal- 
ings" by taking advantage of the Band's weakness and lack of leadership to 
induce its members to consent to a surrender that, for a period of 22 years, 
they had steadfastly refused. Moreover, the Band effectively ceded or abne- 
gated its decision-making power to or in favour of Canada with respect to the 
surrender, but Canada failed to exercise that power conscientiously and with- 
out influencing the outcome of the surrender vote. Finally, when offered the 
opportunity under subsection 49(4) of the 1906 Indian Act to reject a sur- 
render that was clearly foolish-and improvident and constituted exploitation, 
the Governor in Council failed to do so. In short, Canada breached its fiduci- 
ary obligations by subordinating the interests of the Band to the interests of 
the surrounding communities as well as Canada's own political interests. 



INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

RECOMMENDATION 

We find that this claim discloses a breach of Canada's fiduciary obligation to 
the Kahkewistahaw First Nation. We therefore recommend to the parties: 

That the claim of the Kahkewistahaw F i t  Nation be accepted for 
negotiation under the Specific Claims Policy. 

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

P.E. James Prentice, QC 
Commission Co-Chair 

February 1997 

Roger J. Augustine 
Commissioner 
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When we made the treaty at Qu'@peUe you told me to choose out land 
for myselfand now you come to speak to me here. We were told to take 
this laud and we are going to keep it. Did I not tell you a long time ago 
that you would come some time, that you would come and ask me to sell 
you this land back again, hut I told you at that tim, Na 

- Chief Kahkewistahaw, May 6,  1902 
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APPENDIX A 

KAHKEWISTAHAW FIRST NATION 1907 SURRENDER INQUIRY 

1 Decision to conduct inquiry August 31, 1994 

2 Notices sent to parties September 2, 1994 

3 Planning conference February 1, 1995 

4 Community and expert sessions May 3, 1995 
The Commission heard from the following witnesses: elders Menin Bob, 
Joseph Crowe, Steven Wasacase, George Wasacase, Charles Buffalocalf Sr, 
Margaret Bear, and Ernest Bob, and expert witness David Hoffman. The 
session was held at the EducationISports Complex, Kahkewistahaw 
Reserve, Broadview, Saskatchewan 

5 Legal argument February 1, 1996 

6 Content of formal record 

The formal record for the Kahkewistahaw First Nation Inquiry consists of 
the following materials: 

18 exhibits tendered during the Inquiry, including the documentary 
record (4 volumes of documents with annotated index) 

written submissions of counsel for Canada and the claimants 

transcripts of the community session and legal argument (2 volumes) 

correspondence among the parties and the Commission 

The report of the Commission and letters of transmittal to the parties will 
complete the formal record of this Inquiry. 


